

LIBRARY University of California IRVINE

7. Wilson 1894



Digitized by the Internet Archive in 2007 with funding from Microsoft Corporation

http://www.archive.org/details/astrophelotherpo00swiniala

.

MR. SWINBURNE'S WORKS.

SELECTIONS FROM THE POETICAL WORKS OF A. C. SWINBURNE. Fcp. 8vo. 6s. ATALANTA IN CALYDON. Crown 8vo. 6s. CHASTELARD : a Tragedy. Crown 8vo. 7s. POEMS AND BALLADS. FIRST SERIES. Crown 8vo. or fcp. 8vo. 9s. POEMS AND BALLADS. SECOND SERIES. Crown 8vo. or fcp. 8vo. 9s. POEMS AND BALLADS. THIRD SERIES. Crown 8vo. 7s. SONGS BEFORE SUNRISE. Crown 8vo. 10s. 6d. BOTHWELL: a Tragedy. Crown 8vo. 12s. 6d. SONGS OF TWO NATIONS. Crown 8vo. 6s. GEORGE CHAPMAN. (See Vol. II. of G. CHAPMAN'S Works.) Crown 8vo. 6s. · ESSAYS AND STUDIES. Crown 8vo. 12s. ERECHTHEUS: a Tragedy. Crown 8vo. 6s. A NOTE ON CHARLOTTE BRONTE. Crown 8vo. 6s. SONGS OF THE SPRINGTIDES. Crown 8vo. 6s. STUDIES IN SONG. Crown 8vo. 7s. MARY STUART: a Tragedy. Crown 8vo. 8s. TRISTRAM OF LYONESSE. Crown 8vo. 9s. A CENTURY OF ROUNDELS. Small 4to. 8s. A MIDSUMMER HOLIDAY. Crown 8vo. 7s. MARINO FALIERO: a Tragedy. Crown 8vo. 6s. A STUDY OF VICTOR HUGO. Crown 8vo. 6s. MISCELLANIES. Crown 8vo. 12s. LOCRINE : a Tragedy. Crown 8vo. 6s. A STUDY OF BEN JONSON. Crown 8vo. 7s. THE SISTERS : a Tragedy. Crown 8vo. 6s. ASTROPHEL &c. Crown 8vo. 7s.

London : CHATTO & WINDUS, 214 Piccadilly.



÷

AND OTHER POEMS

TO WILLIAM MORRIS

-11

AND OTHER POEMS

BY

ALGERNON CHARLES SWINBURNE

LONDON

CHATTO & WINDUS, PICCADILLY 1894



CONTENTS

									1	ACE
ASTROPHEL			•		•		•		•	I
A NYMPHOLEPT .								•	•	11
ON THE SOUTH COAST			•		•					32
AN AUTUMN VISION .			•							45
A SWIMMER'S DREAM	•		•		•					61
GRACE DARLING .										69
LOCH TORRIDON .	•		•							80
THE PALACE OF PAN .				•						90
A YEAR'S CAROLS .										95
ENGLAND: AN ODE .		•							•	102
ETON : AN ODE .	•									110
THE UNION		•								114
EAST TO WEST .										117
MUSIC : AN ODE .										119
INSCRIPTIONS FOR THE FOR	UR	SID	ES	OF /	A Pi	EDES	STA	L		121
ON THE DEATH OF RICHA	RD	Bui	RTO	N						123
Elegy	•									127
A SEQUENCE OF SONNETS	ON	тн	E	Dea	тн	OF	R	OBEI	RT	
BROWNING										136

CONTENTS.

PAGE											
SUNSET AND MOONRISE											
BIRTHDAY ODE											
THRENODY											
THE BALLAD OF MELICERTES 153											
AU TOMBEAU DE BANVILLE											
LIGHT: AN EPICEDE											
THRENODY											
A DIRGE											
A REMINISCENCE											
VIA DOLOROSA											
I. TRANSFIGURATION											
II. DELIVERANCE											
III. THANKSGIVING											
IV. LIBITINA VERTICORDIA											
V. THE ORDER OF RELEASE											
VI. PSYCHAGOGOS											
VII. THE LAST WORD											
IN MEMORY OF AURELIO SAFFI 174											
THE FESTIVAL OF BEATRICE 180											
THE MONUMENT OF GIORDANO BRUNO 181											
LIFE IN DEATH											
Epicede											
Memorial Verses on the Death of William Bell											
Scott											
AN OLD SAYING											
A Moss-Rose 195											

CONTENTS.

													PAGE
То	A (Cat	•	•						•			197
HAY	WTH	HORN	Dyke	:									202
Тн	εB	ROTH	ERS										2 04
JAC	OBI	te So	NG						•				210
Тн	εB	ALLAI	OF	Dea	D M	[en'	s BA	ΑY					214
Dei	DIC	ATION											222

vii



AFTER READING SIR PHILIP SIDNEY'S ARCADIA IN THE GARDEN OF AN OLD ENGLISH MANOR-HOUSE.

I.

A STAR in the silence that follows

The song of the death of the sun Speaks music in heaven, and the hollows

And heights of the world are as one ; One lyre that outsings and outlightens

The rapture of sunset, and thrills Mute night till the sense of it brightens The soul that it fills.

10

The flowers of the sun that is sunken Hang heavy of heart as of head ; The bees that have eaten and drunken The soul of their sweetness are fled ; But a sunflower of song, on whose honey My spirit has fed as a bee, Makes sunnier than morning was sunny The twilight for me.

The letters and lines on the pages

That sundered mine eyes and the flowers Wax faint as the shadows of ages

That sunder their season and ours ; As the ghosts of the centuries that sever

A season of colourless time From the days whose remembrance is ever, As they were, sublime.

The season that bred and that cherished The soul that I commune with yet,

Had it utterly withered and perished To rise not again as it set, Shame were it that Englishmen living Should read as their forefathers read The books of the praise and thanksgiving Of Englishmen dead.

O light of the land that adored thee And kindled thy soul with her breath, Whose life, such as fate would afford thee,

Was lovelier than aught but thy death, By what name, could thy lovers but know it,

Might love of thee hail thee afar, Philisides, Astrophel, poet

Whose love was thy star?

A star in the moondawn of Maytime,

A star in the cloudland of change ; Too splendid and sad for the daytime

To cheer or eclipse or estrange ;

Too sweet for tradition or vision To see but through shadows of tears Rise deathless across the division Of measureless years.

The twilight may deepen and harden

As nightward the stream of it runs Till starshine transfigure a garden

Whose radiance responds to the sun's : The light of the love of thee darkens

The lights that arise and that set : The love that forgets thee not hearkens If England forget.

II.

Bright and brief in the sight of grief and love the light of thy lifetime shone, Seen and felt by the gifts it dealt, the grace it gave, and again was gone :

- Ay, but now it is death, not thou, whom time has conquered as years pass on.
- Ay, not yet may the land forget that bore and loved thee and praised and wept,
- Sidney, lord of the stainless sword, the name of names that her heart's love kept
- Fast as thine did her own, a sign to light thy life till it sank and slept.
- Bright as then for the souls of men thy brave Arcadia resounds and shines,
- Lit with love that beholds above all joys and sorrows the steadfast signs,
- Faith, a splendour that hope makes tender, and truth, whose presage the soul divines.
- All the glory that girds the story of all thy life as with sunlight round,

- All the spell that on all souls fell who saw thy spirit, and held them bound,
- Lives for all that have heard the call and cadence yet of its music sound.
- Music bright as the soul of light, for wings an eagle, for notes a dove,
- Leaps and shines from the lustrous lines wherethrough thy soul from afar above
- Shone and sang till the darkness rang with light whose fire is the fount of love.
- Love that led thee alive, and fed thy soul with sorrows and joys and fears,
- Love that sped thee, alive and dead, to fame's fair goal with thy peerless peers,
- Feeds the flame of thy quenchless name with light that lightens the rayless years.

Dark as sorrow though night and morrow may lower with presage of clouded fame,
How may she that of old bare thee, may Sidney's England, be brought to shame ?
How should this be, while England is ? What need of

answer beyond thy name?

III.

From the love that transfigures thy glory,

From the light of the dawn of thy death, The life of thy song and thy story

Took subtler and fierier breath. And we, though the day and the morrow Set fear and thanksgiving at strife, Hail yet in the star of thy sorrow

The sun of thy life.

Shame and fear may beset men here, and bid thanksgiving and pride be dumb : Faith, discrowned of her praise, and wound about with toils till her life wax numb,Scarce may see if the sundawn be, if darkness die not and dayrise come.

But England, enmeshed and benetted With spiritless villainies round, With counsels of cowardice fretted, With trammels of treason enwound, Is yet, though the season be other Than wept and rejoiced over thee, Thine England, thy lover, thy mother, Sublime as the sea.

Hers wast thou : if her face be now less bright, or seem for an hour less brave,

- Let but thine on her darkness shine, thy saviour spirit revive and save,
- Time shall see, as the shadows flee, her shame entombed in a shameful grave.

If death and not life were the portal That opens on life at the last, If the spirit of Sidney were mortal And the past of it utterly past, Fear stronger than honour was ever, Forgetfulness mightier than fame, Faith knows not if England should never Subside into shame.

Yea, but yet is thy sun not set, thy sunbright spirit of trust withdrawn :

- England's love of thee burns above all hopes that darken or fears that fawn :
- Hers thou art : and the faithful heart that hopes begets upon darkness dawn.

The sunset that sunrise will follow

Is less than the dream of a dream : The starshine on height and on hollow Sheds promise that dawn shall redeem :

The night, if the daytime would hide it, Shows lovelier, aflame and afar, Thy soul and thy Stella's beside it, A star by a star.

SUMMER, and noon, and a splendour of silence, felt,

Seen, and heard of the spirit within the sense.

- Soft through the frondage the shades of the sunbeams melt,
 - Sharp through the foliage the shafts of them, keen and dense,
 - Cleave, as discharged from the string of the God's bow, tense

As a war-steed's girth, and bright as a warrior's belt.

- Ah, why should an hour that is heaven for an hour pass hence?
- I dare not sleep for delight of the perfect hour, Lest God be wroth that his gift should be scorned of man.

The face of the warm bright world is the face of a flower,

- The word of the wind and the leaves that the light winds fan
 - As the word that quickened at first into flame, and ran,

Creative and subtle and fierce with invasive power,

Through darkness and cloud, from the breath of the one God, Pan.

The perfume of earth possessed by the sun pervades

The chaster air that he soothes but with sense of sleep. Soft, imminent, strong as desire that prevails and fades,

The passing noon that beholds not a cloudlet weep

Imbues and impregnates life with delight more deep Than dawn or sunset or moonrise on lawns-or glades

Can shed from the skies that receive it and may not keep.

The skies may hold not the splendour of sundown fast ; It wanes into twilight as dawn dies down into day.

12

- And the moon, triumphant when twilight is overpast, Takes pride but awhile in the hours of her stately sway. But the might of the noon, though the light of it pass away,
- Leaves earth fulfilled of desires and of dreams that last ; But if any there be that hath sense of them none can say
- For if any there be that hath sight of them, sense, or trust
 - Made strong by the might of a vision, the strength of a dream,

His lips shall straiten and close as a dead man's must,

- His heart shall be sealed as the voice of a frost-bound stream.
- For the deep mid mystery of light and of heat that seem

To clasp and pierce dark earth, and enkindle dust,

Shall a man's faith say what it is? or a man's guess deem?

- Sleep lies not heavier on eyes that have watched all night
 - Than hangs the heat of the noon on the hills and trees.
- Why now should the haze not open, and yield to sight A fairer secret than hope or than slumber sees?

I seek not heaven with submission of lips and knees, With worship and prayer for a sign till it leap to light :

I gaze on the gods about me, and call on these.

I call on the gods hard by, the divine dim powersWhose likeness is here at hand, in the breathless air,In the pulseless peace of the fervid and silent flowers,In the faint sweet speech of the waters that whisper there.

Ah, what should darkness do in a world so fair? The bent-grass heaves not, the couch-grass quails not or cowers ;

The wind's kiss frets not the rowan's or aspen's hair.

- But the silence trembles with passion of sound suppressed,
 - And the twilight quivers and yearns to the sunward, wrung
- With love as with pain; and the wide wood's motionless breast
 - Is thrilled with a dumb desire that would fain find tongue
 - And palpitates, tongueless as she whom a man-snake stung,
- Whose heart now heaves in the nightingale, never at rest
- Nor satiated ever with song till her last be sung.

Is it rapture or terror that circles me round, and invades Each vein of my life with hope—if it be not fear? Each pulse that awakens my blood into rapture fades, Each pulse that subsides into dread of a strange thing near

Requickens with sense of a terror less dread than dear.

- Is peace not one with light in the deep green glades Where summer at noonday slumbers? Is peace not here?
- The tall thin stems of the firs, and the roof sublime That screens from the sun the floor of the steep still wood,
- Deep, silent, splendid, and perfect and calm as time, Stand fast as ever in sight of the night they stood, When night gave all that moonlight and dewfall could. The dense ferns deepen, the moss glows warm as the thyme :

The wild heath guivers about me : the world is good.

- Is it Pan's breath, fierce in the tremulous maidenhair, That bids fear creep as a snake through the woodlands, felt
- In the leaves that it stirs not yet, in the mute bright air, In the stress of the sun? For here has the great God dwelt :

16

For hence were the shafts of his love or his anger dealt. For here has his wrath been fierce as his love was fair,

- . When each was as fire to the darkness its breath bade melt.
- Is it love, is it dread, that enkindles the trembling noon, That yearns, reluctant in rapture that fear has fed,
- As man for woman, as woman for man? Full soon,
 - If I live, and the life that may look on him drop not dead,
 - Shall the ear that hears not a leaf quake hear his tread,
- The sense that knows not the sound of the deep day's tune

Receive the God, be it love that he brings or dread.

The naked noon is upon me : the fierce dumb spell, The fearful charm of the strong sun's imminent might, Unmerciful, steadfast, deeper than seas that swell,

Pervades, invades, appals me with loveless light,

17

С

With harsher awe than breathes in the breath of night. 'Have mercy, God who art all ! For I know thee well, How sharp is thine eye to lighten, thine hand to smite.

The whole wood feels thee, the whole air fears thee : but fear

So deep, so dim, so sacred, is wellnigh sweet.

For the light that hangs and broods on the woodlands here,

Intense, invasive, intolerant, imperious, and meet

- To lighten the works of thine hands and the ways of thy feet,
- Is hot with the fire of the breath of thy life, and dear As hope that shrivels or shrinks not for frost or heat.
- Thee, thee the supreme dim godhead, approved afar,
 - Perceived of the soul and conceived of the sense of man,
- We scarce dare love, and we dare not fear : the star We call the sun, that lit us when life began

- To brood on the world that is thine by his grace for a span,
- Conceals and reveals in the semblance of things that are Thine immanent presence, the pulse of thy heart's life, Pan.

The fierce mid noon that wakens and warms the snake Conceals thy mercy, reveals thy wrath : and again The dew-bright hour that assuages the twilight brake Conceals thy wrath and reveals thy mercy : then Thou art fearful only for evil souls of men That feel with nightfall the serpent within them wake, And hate the holy darkness on glade and glen.

- Yea, then we know not and dream not if ill things be, Or if aught of the work of the wrong of the world be thine.
- We hear not the footfall of terror that treads the sea, We hear not the moan of winds that assail the pine :

19

- We see not if shipwreck reign in the storm's dim shrine;
- If death do service and doom bear witness to thee We see not,—know not if blood for thy lips be wine.

But in all things evil and fearful that fear may scan,As in all things good, as in all things fair that fall,We know thee present and latent, the lord of man;In the murmuring of doves, in the clamouring of winds

that call

- And wolves that howl for their prey; in the midnight's pall,
- In the naked and nymph-like feet of the dawn, O Pan, And in each life living, O thou the God who art all.

Smiling and singing, wailing and wringing of hands,

Laughing and weeping, watching and sleeping, still Proclaim but and prove but thee, as the shifted sands Speak forth and show but the strength of the sea's wild will

- That sifts and grinds them as grain in the storm-wind's mill.
- In thee is the doom that falls and the doom that stands : The tempests utter thy word, and the stars fulfil.
- Where Etna shudders with passion and pain volcanic
 - That rend her heart as with anguish that rends a man's,
- Where Typho labours, and finds not his thews Titanic,In breathless torment that ever the flame's breath fans,Men felt and feared thee of old, whose pastoral clansWere given to the charge of thy keeping ; and soundless panic
 - Held fast the woodland whose depths and whose heights were Pan's.
- And here, though fear be less than delight, and awe Be one with desire and with worship of earth and thee,
- So mild seems now thy secret and speechless law, So fair and fearless and faithful and godlike she,

A NYMPHOLEPT.

So soft the spell of thy whisper on stream and sea, Yet man should fear lest he see what of old men saw And withered : yet shall I quail if thy breath smite me.

Lord God of life and of light and of all things fair, Lord God of ravin and ruin and all things dim,

Death seals up life, and darkness the sunbright air,

- And the stars that watch blind earth in the deep night swim
- Laugh, saying, 'What God is your God, that ye call on him?
- What is man, that the God who is guide of our way should care

If day for a man be golden, or night be grim ?'

But thou, dost thou hear? Stars too but abide for a span,

Gods too but endure for a season ; but thou, if thou be

- God, more than shadows conceived and adored of man,
- Kind Gods and fierce, that bound him or made him free,

The skies that scorn us are less in thy sight than we, Whose souls have strength to conceive and perceive thee.

Pan,

With sense more subtle than senses that hear and see.

Yet may not it say, though it seek thee and think to find

One soul of sense in the fire and the frost-bound clod, What heart is this, what spirit alive or blind,

That moves thee : only we know that the ways we trod

We tread, with hands unguided, with feet unshod, With eyes unlightened ; and yet, if with steadfast mind,

Perchance may we find thee and know thee at last for God.

Yet then should God be dark as the dawn is bright,

And bright as the night is dark on the world—no more. Light slays not darkness, and darkness absorbs not light;

And the labour of evil and good from the years of yore Is even as the labour of waves on a sunless shore.

And he who is first and last, who is depth and height, Keeps silence now, as the sun when the woods wax hoar.

The dark dumb godhead innate in the fair world's life Imbues the rapture of dawn and of noon with dread, Infects the peace of the star-shod night with strife, Informs with terror the sorrow that guards the dead. No service of bended knee or of humbled head May soothe or subdue the God who has change to wife: And life with death is as morning with evening wed.

And yet, if the light and the life in the light that here Seem soft and splendid and fervid as sleep may seem

Be more than the shine of a smile or the flash of a tear, Sleep, change, and death are less than a spell-struck dream,

And fear than the fall of a leaf on a starlit stream. And yet, if the hope that hath said it absorb not fear, What helps it man that the stars and the waters gleam ?

What helps it man, that the noon be indeed intense, The night be indeed worth worship? Fear and pain Were lords and masters yet of the secret sense,

Which now dares deem not that light is as darkness, fain

Though dark dreams be to declare it, crying in vain. For whence, thou God of the light and the darkness, whence

Dawns now this vision that bids not the sunbeams wane?

What light, what shadow, diviner than dawn or night, Draws near, makes pause, and again—or I dream draws near?

- More soft than shadow, more strong than the strong sun's light,
 - More pure than moonbeams—yea, but the rays run sheer
 - As fire from the sun through the dusk of the pinewood, clear
- And constant; yea, but the shadow itself is bright That the light clothes round with love that is one with fear.

Above and behind it the noon and the woodland lie, Terrible, radiant with mystery, superb and subdued, Triumphant in silence; and hardly the sacred sky Seems free from the tyrannous weight of the dumb fierce mood Which rules as with fire and invasion of beams that brood

The breathless rapture of earth till its hour pass by And leave her spirit released and her peace renewed.

- I sleep not : never in sleep has a man beholden
 - This. From the shadow that trembles and yearns with light
- Suppressed and elate and reluctant—obscure and golden As water kindled with presage of dawn or night—

A form, a face, a wonder to sense and sight,

Grows great as the moon through the month; and her eyes embolden

Fear, till it change to desire, and desire to delight.

I sleep not : sleep would die of a dream so strange;

- A dream so sweet would die as a rainbow dies, As a sunbow laughs and is lost on the waves that range And reck not of light that flickers or spray that flies. But the sun withdraws not, the woodland shrinks not or sighs,
- No sweet thing sickens with sense or with fear of change; Light wounds not, darkness blinds not, my steadfast eyes.

Only the soul in my sense that receives the soul

Whence now my spirit is kindled with breathless bliss Knows well if the light that wounds it with love makes whole,

If hopes that carol be louder than fears that hiss,

If truth be spoken of flowers and of waves that kiss,

Of clouds and stars that contend for a sunbright goal.

And yet may I dream that I dream not indeed of this?

- An earth-born dreamer, constrained by the bonds of birth,
 - Held fast by the flesh, compelled by his veins that beat

And kindle to rapture or wrath, to desire or to mirth, May hear not surely the fall of immortal feet,

May feel not surely if heaven upon earth be sweet; And here is my sense fulfilled of the joys of earth,

Light, silence, bloom, shade, murmur of leaves that meet.

Bloom, fervour, and perfume of grasses and flowers aglow,

Breathe and brighten about me: the darkness gleams, The sweet light shivers and laughs on the slopes below,

Made soft by leaves that lighten and change like dreams;

The silence thrills with the whisper of secret streams That well from the heart of the woodland : these I know : Earth bore them, heaven sustained them with showers and beams.

I lean my face to the heather, and drink the sun Whose flame-lit odour satiates the flowers : mine eyes Close, and the goal of delight and of life is one :

No more I crave of earth or her kindred skies.

- No more ? But the joy that springs from them smiles and flies :
- The sweet work wrought of them surely, the good work done,

If the mind and the face of the season be loveless, dies.

Thee, therefore, thee would I come to, cleave to, cling,
If haply thy heart be kind and thy gifts be good,
Unknown sweet spirit, whose vesture is soft in spring,
In summer splendid, in autumn pale as the wood
That shudders and wanes and shrinks as a shamed thing should,

In winter bright as the mail of a war-worn king

Who stands where foes fled far from the face of him stood.

My spirit or thine is it, breath of thy life or of mine,

Which fills my sense with a rapture that casts out fear ? Pan's dim frown wanes, and his wild eyes brighten as thine,

Transformed as night or as day by the kindling year.

Earth-born, or mine eye were withered that sees, mine

ear

That hears were stricken to death by the sense divine, Earth-born I know thee : but heaven is about me here.

The terror that whispers in darkness and flames in light,

The doubt that speaks in the silence of earth and sea,

The sense, more fearful at noon than in midmost night,

Of wrath scarce hushed and of imminent ill to be,

- Where are they? Heaven is as earth, and as heaven to me
- Earth : for the shadows that sundered them here take flight;

And nought is all, as am I, but a dream of thee.

ON THE SOUTH COAST.

TO THEODORE WATTS.

- HILLS and valleys where April rallies his radiant squadron of flowers and birds,
- Steep strange beaches and lustrous reaches of fluctuant sea that the land engirds,
- Fields and downs that the sunrise crowns with life diviner than lives in words,
- Day by day of resurgent May salute the sun with sublime acclaim,
- Change and brighten with hours that lighten and darken, girdled with cloud or flame;
- Earth's fair face in alternate grace beams, blooms, and lowers, and is yet the same.

- Twice each day the divine sea's play makes glad with glory that comes and goes
- Field and street that her waves keep sweet, when past the bounds of their old repose,
- Fast and fierce in renewed reverse, the foam-flecked estuary ebbs and flows.
- Broad and bold through the stays of old staked fast with trunks of the wildwood tree,
- Up from shoreward, impelled far forward, by marsh and meadow, by lawn and lea,
- Inland still at her own wild will swells, rolls, and revels the surging sea.
- Strong as time, and as faith sublime,—clothed round with shadows of hopes and fears,
- Nights and morrows, and joys and sorrows, alive with passion of prayers and tears,—
- Stands the shrine that has seen decline eight hundred waxing and waning years. .

ø

D

- Tower set square to the storms of air and change of season that glooms and glows,
- Wall and roof of it tempest-proof, and equal ever to suns and snows,
- Bright with riches of radiant niches and pillars smooth as a straight stem grows.
- Aisle and nave that the whelming wave of time has whelmed not or touched or neared,
- Arch and vault without stain or fault, by hands of craftsmen we know not reared,
- Time beheld them, and time was quelled; and change passed by them as one that feared.
- Time that flies as a dream, and dies as dreams that die with the sleep they feed,
- Here alone in a garb of stone incarnate stands as a god indeed,
- Stern and fair, and of strength to bear all burdens mortal to man's frail seed.

- Men and years are as leaves or tears that storm or sorrow is fain to shed:
- These go by as the winds that sigh, and none takes note of them quick or dead :
- Time, whose breath is their birth and death, folds here his pinions, and bows his head.
- Still the sun that beheld begun the work wrought here of unwearied hands
- Sees, as then, though the Red King's men held ruthless rule over lawless lands,
- Stand their massive design, impassive, pure and proud as a virgin stands.
- Statelier still as the years fulfil their count, subserving her sacred state,
- Grows the hoary grey church whose story silence utters and age makes great :
- Statelier seems it than shines in dreams the face unveiled of unvanquished fate.

D 2

- Fate, more high than the star-shown sky, more deep than waters unsounded, shines
- Keen and far as the final star on souls that seek not for charms or signs;
- Yet more bright is the love-shown light of men's hands lighted in songs or shrines.
- Love and trust that the grave's deep dust can soil not, neither may fear put out,
- Witness yet that their record set stands fast, though years be as hosts in rout,
- Spent and slain; but the signs remain that beat back darkness and cast forth doubt.
- Men that wrought by the grace of thought and toil things goodlier than praise dare trace,
- Fair as all that the world may call most fair, save only the sea's own face,
- Shrines or songs that the world's change wrongs not,

live by grace of their own gift's grace.

- Dead, their names that the night reclaims—alive, their works that the day relumes—
- Sink and stand, as in stone and sand engraven: none may behold their tombs:
- Nights and days shall record their praise while here this flower of their grafting blooms.
- Flower more fair than the sun-thrilled air bids laugh and lighten and wax and rise,
- Fruit more bright than the fervent light sustains with strength from the kindled skies,
- Flower and fruit that the deathless root of man's love rears though the man's name dies.
- Stately stands it, the work of hands unknown of: statelier, afar and near,
- Rise around it the heights that bound our landward gaze from the seaboard here;
- Downs that swerve and aspire, in curve and change of heights that the dawn holds dear.

- Dawn falls fair on the grey walls there confronting dawn, on the low green lea,
- Lone and sweet as for fairies' feet held sacred, silent and strange and free,
- Wild and wet with its rills ; but yet more fair falls dawn on the fairer sea.
- Eastward, round by the high green bound of hills that fold the remote fields in,
- Strive and shine on the low sea-line fleet waves and beams when the days begin;
- Westward glow, when the days burn low, the sun that yields and the stars that win.
- Rose-red eve on the seas that heave sinks fair as dawn when the first ray peers;
- Winds are glancing from sunbright Lancing to Shoreham, crowned with the grace of years;
- Shoreham, clad with the sunset, glad and grave with glory that death reveres.

- Death, more proud than the kings' heads bowed before him, stronger than all things, bows
- Here his head: as if death were dead, and kingship plucked from his crownless brows,
- Life hath here such a face of cheer as change appals not and time avows.
- Skies fulfilled with the sundown, stilled and splendid, spread as a flower that spreads,
- Pave with rarer device and fairer than heaven's the luminous oyster-beds,
- Grass-embanked, and in square plots ranked, inlaid with gems that the sundown sheds.

Squares more bright and with lovelier light than heaven that kindled it shines with shine Warm and soft as the dome aloft, but heavenlier yet than the sun's own shrine :

Heaven is high, but the water-sky lit here seems deeper and more divine.

- Flowers on flowers, that the whole world's bowers may show not, here may the sunset show,
- Lightly graven in the waters paven with ghostly gold by the clouds aglow :
- Bright as love is the vault above, but lovelier lightens the wave below.
- Rosy grey, or as fiery spray full-plumed, or greener than emerald, gleams
- Plot by plot as the skies allot for each its glory, divine as dreams
- Lit with fire of appeased desire which sounds the secret of all that seems;

Dreams that show what we fain would know, and know not save by the grace of sleep,

- Sleep whose hands have removed the bands that eyes long waking and fain to weep
- Feel fast bound on them—light around them strange, and darkness above them steep.

ON THE SOUTH COAST. 41

- Yet no vision that heals division of love from love, and renews awhile
- Life and breath in the lips where death has quenched the spirit of speech and smile,
- Shews on earth, or in heaven's mid mirth, where no fears enter or doubts defile,
- Aught more fair than the radiant air and water here by the twilight wed,
- Here made one by the waning sun whose last love quickens to rosebright red
- Half the crown of the soft high down that rears to northward its wood-girt head.
- There, when day is at height of sway, men's eyes who stand, as we oft have stood,
- High where towers with its world of flowers the golden spinny that flanks the wood,
- See before and around them shore and seaboard glad as their gifts are good.

- Higher and higher to the north aspire the green smoothswelling unending downs;
- East and west on the brave earth's breast glow girdlejewels of gleaming towns ;
- Southward shining, the lands declining subside in peace that the sea's light crowns.
- Westward wide in its fruitful pride the plain lies lordly with plenteous grace ;
- Fair as dawn's when the fields and lawns desire her, glitters the glad land's face :
- Eastward yet is the sole sign set of elder days and a lordlier race.
- Down beneath us afar, where see the in wilder weather the tides aflow,
- Hurled up hither and drawn down thither in quest of rest that they may not know,
- Still as dew on a flower the blue broad stream now sleeps in the fields below.

- Mild and bland in the fair green land it smiles, and takes to its heart the sky ;
- Scarce the meads and the fens, the reeds and grasses, still as they stand or lie,
- Wear the palm of a statelier calm than rests on waters that pass them by.
- Yet shall these, when the winds and seas of equal days and coequal nights
- Rage, rejoice, and uplift a voice whose sound is even as a sword that smites,
- Felt and heard as a doomsman's word from seaward reaches to landward heights,
- Lift their heart up, and take their part of triumph, swollen and strong with rage,
- Rage elate with desire and great with pride that tempest and storm assuage ;
- So their chime in the ear of time has rung from age to rekindled age.

- Fair and dear is the land's face here, and fair man's work as a man's may be :
- Dear and fair as the sunbright air is here the record that speaks him free ;
- Free by birth of a sacred earth, and regent ever of all the sea.

OCTOBER 31, 1889.

Ζεφύρου γίγαντος αὔρα.

I.

- Is it Midsummer here in the heavens that illumine October on earth ?
- Can the year, when his heart is fulfilled with desire of the days of his mirth,

Redeem them, recall, or remember?

- For a memory recalling the rapture of earth, and redeeming the sky,
- Shines down from the heights to the depths : will the watchword of dawn be July

When to-morrow acclaims November?

- The stern salutation of sorrow to death or repentance to shame
- Was all that the season was wont to accord her of grace or acclaim;

No lightnings of love and of laughter.

- But here, in the laugh of the loud west wind from around and above,
- In the flash of the waters beneath him, what sound or what light but of love

Rings round him or leaps forth after ?

II.

- Wind beloved of earth and sky and sea beyond all winds that blow,
 - Wind whose might in fight was England's on her mightiest warrior day,
- South-west wind, whose breath for her was life, and fire to scourge her foe,
 - Steel to smite and death to drive him down an unreturning way,

- Well-beloved and welcome, sounding all the clarions of the sky,
 - Rolling all the marshalled waters toward the charge that storms the shore,
- We receive, acclaim, salute thee, we who live and dream and die,
 - As the mightiest mouth of song that ever spake acclaimed of yore.
- We that live as they that perish praise thee, lord of cloud and wave,
 - Wind of winds, clothed on with darkness whence as lightning light comes forth,
- We that know thee strong to guard and smite, to scatter and to save,
 - We to whom the south-west wind is dear as Athens held the north.
- He for her waged war as thou for us against all powers defiant,
 - Fleets full-fraught with storm from Persia, laden deep with death from Spain :

- Thee the giant god of song and battle hailed as god and giant,
 - Yet not his but ours the land is whence thy praise should ring and rain ;
- Rain as rapture shed from song, and ring as trumpets blown for battle,
 - Sound and sing before thee, loud and glad as leaps and sinks the sea :
- Yea, the sea's white steeds are curbed and spurred of thee, and pent as cattle,
 - Yet they laugh with love and pride to live, subdued not save of thee.
- Ears that hear thee hear in heaven the sound of widening wings gigantic,
 - Eyes that see the cloud-lift westward see thy darkening brows divine ;
- Wings whose measure is the limit of the limitless Atlantic,
 - Brows that bend, and bid the sovereign sea submit her soul to thine.

ш

Twelve days since is it—twelve days gone, Lord of storm, that a storm-bow shone Higher than sweeps thy sublime dark wing, Fair as dawn is and sweet like spring?

Never dawn in the deep wide east Spread so splendid and strange a feast, Whence the soul as it drank and fed Felt such rapture of wonder shed.

Never spring in the wild wood's heart Felt such flowers at her footfall start, Born of earth, as arose on sight Born of heaven and of storm and light.

Stern and sullen, the grey grim sea Swelled and strove as in toils, though free, Free as heaven, and as heaven sublime, Clear as heaven of the toils of time.

IV.

Suddenly, sheer from the heights to the depths of the

sky and the sea,

Sprang from the darkness alive as a vision of life to be

Glory triune and transcendent of colour afar and afire,

- Arching and darkening the darkness with light as of dream or desire.
- Heaven, in the depth of its height, shone wistful and wan from above :
- Earth from beneath, and the sea, shone stricken and breathless with love.
- As a shadow may shine, so shone they ; as ghosts of the viewless blest,
- That sleep hath sight of alive in a rapture of sunbright rest,
- The green earth glowed and the grey sky gleamed for a wondrous while ;
- And the storm's full frown was crossed by the light of its own deep smile.

0

- As the darkness of thought and of passion is touched by the light that gives
- Life deathless as love from the depth of a spirit that sees and lives,
- From the soul of a seer and a singer, wherein as a scroll unfurled
- Lies open the scripture of light and of darkness, the word of the world,
- So, shapeless and measureless, lurid as anguish and haggard as crime,
- Pale as the front of oblivion and dark as the heart of time,
- The wild wan heaven at its height was assailed and subdued and made
- More fair than the skies that know not of storm and endure not shade.
- The grim sea-swell, grey, sleepless, and sad as a soul estranged,
- Shone, smiled, took heart, and was glad of its wrath : and the world's face changed,

v.

Up from moorlands northward gleaming

Even to heaven's transcendent height, Clothed with massive cloud, and seeming

All one fortress reared of night, Down to where the deep sea, dreaming

Angry dreams, lay dark and white, White as death and dark as fate, Heaving with the strong wind's weight, Sad with stormy pride of state, One full rainbow shone elate.

Up from inmost memory's dwelling Where the light of life abides, Where the past finds tongue, foretelling Time that comes and grace that guides, Power that saves and sways, compelling Souls that ebb and flow like tides,

Shone or seemed to shine and swim Through the cloud-surf great and grim, Thought's live surge, the soul of him By whose light the sun looks dim.

In what synod were they sitting,

All the gods and lords of time, Whence they watched as fen-fires flitting

Years and names of men sublime, When their counsels found it fitting

One should stand where none might climb— None of man begotten, none Born of men beneath the sun Till the race of time be run, Save this heaven-enfranchised one?

With what rapture of creation

Was the soul supernal thrilled, With what pride of adoration

Was the world's heart fired and filled,

Heaved in heavenward exaltation

Higher than hopes or dreams might build, Grave with awe not known while he Was not, mad with glorious glee As the sun-saluted sea, When his hour bade Shakespeare be?

VI.

There, clear as night beholds her crowning seven, The sea beheld his likeness set in heaven. The shadow of his spirit full in sight Shone : for the shadow of that soul is light. Nor heaven alone bore witness : earth avowed Him present, and acclaimed of storm aloud. From the arching sky to the ageless hills and sea The whole world, visible, audible, was he : Each part of all that wove that wondrous whole The raiment of the presence of his soul.

The sun that smote and kissed the dark to death Spake, smiled, and strove, like song's triumphant breath; The soundless cloud whose thunderous heart was dumb Swelled, lowered, and shrank to feel its conqueror come. Yet high from heaven its empire vast and vain Frowned, and renounced not night's reluctant reign. The serpentine swift sounds and shapes wherein The stainless sea mocks earth and death and sin, Crawls dark as craft, or flashes keen as hate. Subdued and insubmissive, strong like fate And weak like man, bore wrathful witness yet That storms and sins are more than suns that set ; That evil everlasting, girt for strife Eternal, wars with hope as death with life. The dark sharp shifting wind that bade the waves Falter, lose heart, bow down like foes made slaves, And waxed within more bitter as they bowed, Baffling the sea, swallowing the sun with cloud, Devouring fast as fire on earth devours And hungering hard as frost that feeds on flowers,

Clothed round with fog that reeked as fume from hell, And darkening with its miscreative spell Light, glad and keen and splendid as the sword Whose heft had known Othello's hand its lord. Spake all the soul that hell drew back to greet And felt its fire shrink shuddering from his feet. Far off the darkness darkened, and recoiled, And neared again, and triumphed : and the coiled Colourless cloud and sea discoloured grew Conscious of horror huge as heaven, and knew Where Goneril's soul made chill and foul the mist, And all the leprous life in Regan hissed. Fierce homeless ghosts, rejected of the pit, From hell to hell of storm fear watched them flit. About them and before, the dull grey gloom Shuddered, and heaven seemed hateful as the tomb That shrinks from resurrection ; and from out That sullen hell which girt their shades about The nether soul that lurks and lowers within Man, made of dust and fire and shame and sin

AN AUTUMN VISION.

Breathed ; all the cloud that felt it breathe and blight Was blue as plague or black as thunderous night. Elect of hell, the children of his hate Thronged, as to storm sweet heaven's triumphal gate. The terror of his giving rose and shone Imminent : life had put its likeness on. But higher than all its horrent height of shade Shone sovereign, seen by light itself had made, Above the woes of all the world, above Life, sin, and death, his myriad-minded love. From landward heights whereon the radiance leant Full-fraught from heaven, intense and imminent, To depths wherein the seething strengths of cloud Scarce matched the wrath of waves whereon they bowed, From homeborn pride and kindling love of home To the outer skies and seas of fire and foam, From splendour soft as dew that sundawn thrills To gloom that shudders round the world it fills, From midnights murmuring round Titania's ear To midnights maddening round the rage of Lear,

AN AUTUMN VISION.

The wonder woven of storm and sun became One with the light that lightens from his name. The music moving on the sea that felt The storm-wind even as snows of springtide melt Was blithe as Ariel's hand or voice might make And bid all grief die gladly for its sake. And there the soul alive in ear and eye That watched the wonders of an hour pass by Saw brighter than all stars that heaven inspheres The silent splendour of Cordelia's tears. Felt in the whispers of the quickening wind The radiance of the laugh of Rosalind, And heard, in sounds that melt the souls of men With love of love, the tune of Imogen.

VII.

- For the strong north-east is not strong to subdue and to slay the divine south-west,
- And the darkness is less than the light that it darkens, and dies in reluctant rest.

- It hovers and hangs on the labouring and trembling ascent of the dawn from the deep,
- Till the sun's eye quicken the world and the waters, and smite it again into sleep.
- Night, holy and starry, the fostress of souls, with the fragrance of heaven in her breath,
- Subdues with the sense of her godhead the forces and mysteries of sorrow and death.
- Eternal as dawn's is the comfort she gives : but the mist that beleaguers and slays
- Comes, passes, and is not: the strength of it withers, appalled or assuaged by the day's.
- Faith, haggard as Fear that had borne her, and dark as the sire that begat her, Despair,
- Held rule on the soul of the world and the song of it saddening through ages that were ;
- Dim centuries that darkened and brightened and darkened again, and the soul of their song
- Was great as their grief, and sublime as their suffering, and strong as their sorrows were strong.

- It knew not, it saw not, but shadows triune, and evoked by the strength of their spell
- Dark hell, and the mountain of anguish, and heaven that was hollower and harder than hell.
- These are not : the womb of the darkness that bare them rejects them, and knows them no more :
- Thought, fettered in misery and iron, revives in the light that it lived in of yore.
- For the soul that is wisdom and freedom, the spirit of England redeemed from her past,
- Speaks life through the lips of the master and lord of her children, the first and the last.
- Thought, touched by his hand and redeemed by his breath, sees, hears, and accepts from above
- The limitless lightnings of vision and passion, the measureless music of love.

NOVEMBER 4, 1889. Somno mollior unda.

I.

DAWN is dim on the dark soft water,

Soft and passionate, dark and sweet. Love's own self was the deep sea's daughter,

Fair and flawless from face to feet, Hailed of all when the world was golden, Loved of lovers whose names beholden Thrill men's eyes as with light of olden

Days more glad than their flight was fleet.

So they sang : but for men that love her, Souls that hear not her word in vain,

Earth beside her and heaven above her

Seem but shadows that wax and wane. Softer than sleep's are the sea's caresses, Kinder than love's that betrays and blesses, Blither than spring's when her flowerful tresses

Shake forth sunlight and shine with rain.

All the strength of the waves that perish

Swells beneath me and laughs and sighs, Sighs for love of the life they cherish,

Laughs to know that it lives and dies, Dies for joy of its life, and lives Thrilled with joy that its brief death gives— Death whose laugh or whose breath forgives Change that bids it subside and rise.

II.

Hard and heavy, remote but nearing,Sunless hangs the severe sky's weight,Cloud on cloud, though the wind be veeringHeaped on high to the sundawn's gate.

Dawn and even and noon are one, Veiled with vapour and void of sun ; Nought in sight or in fancied hearing Now less mighty than time or fate.

The grey sky gleams and the grey seas glimmer, Pale and sweet as a dream's delight, As a dream's where darkness and light seem dimmer, Touched by dawn or subdued by night. The dark wind, stern and sublime and sad, Swings the rollers to westward, clad With lustrous shadow that lures the swimmer, Lures and lulls him with dreams of light.

Light, and sleep, and delight, and wonder,

Change, and rest, and a charm of cloud, Fill the world of the skies whereunder

Heaves and quivers and pants aloud

All the world of the waters, hoary Now, but clothed with its own live glory, That mates the lightning and mocks the thunder With light more living and word more proud.

III.

Far off westward, whither sets the sounding strife, Strife more sweet than peace, of shoreless waves whose glee

Scorns the shore and loves the wind that leaves them free,

Strange as sleep and pale as death and fair as life, Shifts the moonlight-coloured sunshine on the sea.

Toward the sunset's goal the sunless waters crowd, Fast as autumn days toward winter : yet it seems Here that autumn wanes not, here that woods and streams

Lose not heart and change not likeness, chilled and bowed,
 Warped and wrinkled : here the days are fair as dreams.

IV.

O russet-robed November, What ails thee so to smile? Chill August, pale September, Endured a woful while, And fell as falls an ember From forth a flameless pile : But golden-girt November Bids all she looks on smile.

The lustrous foliage, waning As wanes the morning moon, Here falling, here refraining, Outbraves the pride of June With statelier semblance, feigning No fear lest death be soon : As though the woods thus waning Should wax to meet the moon.

As though, when fields lie stricken By grey December's breath, These lordlier growths that sicken And die for fear of death Should feel the sense requicken That hears what springtide saith And thrills for love, spring-stricken And pierced with April's breath.

The keen white-winged north-easter That stings and spurs thy sea Doth yet but feed and feast her With glowing sense of glee : Calm chained her, storm released her, And storm's glad voice was he : South-wester or north-easter, Thy winds rejoice the sea.

ν.

A dream, a dream is it all-the season,

The sky, the water, the wind, the shore ? A day-born dream of divine unreason,

A marvel moulded of sleep—no more? For the cloudlike wave that my limbs while cleaving Feel as in slumber beneath them heaving Soothes the sense as to slumber, leaving

Sense of nought that was known of yore.

A purer passion, a lordlier leisure,

A peace more happy than lives on land, Fulfils with pulse of diviner pleasure

The dreaming head and the steering hand. I lean my cheek to the cold grey pillow, The deep soft swell of the full broad billow, And close mine eyes for delight past measure,

And wish the wheel of the world would stand.

The wild-winged hour that we fain would capture

Falls as from heaven that its light feet clomb, So brief, so soft, and so full the rapture

Was felt that soothed me with sense of home. To sleep, to swim, and to dream, for ever— Such joy the vision of man saw never; For here too soon will a dark day sever

The sea-bird's wing from the sea-wave's foam.

A dream, and more than a dream, and dimmer

At once and brighter than dreams that flee, The moment's joy of the seaward swimmer

Abides, remembered as truth may be. Not all the joy and not all the glory Must fade as leaves when the woods wax hoary; For there the downs and the sea-banks glimmer,

And here to south of them swells the sea.

GRACE DARLING.

- TAKE, O star of all our seas, from not an alien hand, Homage paid of song bowed down before thy glory's face,
- Thou the living light of all our lovely stormy strand,
 - Thou the brave north-country's very glory of glories, Grace.
- Loud and dark about the lighthouse rings and glares the night;
 - Glares with foam-lit gloom and darkling fire of storm and spray,
- Rings with roar of winds in chase and rage of waves in flight,
 - Howls and hisses as with mouths of snakes and wolves at bay.

- Scarce the cliffs of the islets, scarce the walls of Joyous Gard,
 - Flash to sight between the deadlier lightnings of the sea:

Storm is lord and master of a midnight evil-starred,

Nor may sight or fear discern what evil stars may be.

- Dark as death and white as snow the sea-swell scowls and shines,
 - Heaves and yearns and pants for prey, from ravening lip to lip,
- Strong in rage of rapturous anguish, lines on hurtling lines,
 - Ranks on charging ranks, that break and rend the battling ship.
- All the night is mad and murderous: who shall front the night?
 - Not the prow that labours, helpless as a storm-blown leaf,
- Where the rocks and waters, darkling depth and beetling height,

- Rage with wave on shattering wave and thundering reef on reef.
- Death is fallen upon the prisoners there of darkness, bound
 - Like as thralls with links of iron fast in bonds of doom;
- How shall any way to break the bands of death be found,
 - Any hand avail to pluck them from that raging tomb?
- All the night is great with child of death: no stars above
 - Show them hope in heaven, no lights from shoreward help on earth.
- Is there help or hope to seaward, is there help in love,
 - Hope in pity, where the ravening hounds of storm make mirth?
- Where the light but shows the naked eyeless face of Death

Nearer, laughing dumb and grim across the loud live storm?

- Not in human heart or hand or speech of human breath, Surely, nor in saviours found of mortal face or form.
- Yet below the light, between the reefs, a skiff shot out
 - Seems a sea-bird fain to breast and brave the strait fierce pass
- Whence the channelled roar of waters driven in raging rout,
 - Pent and pressed and maddened, speaks their monstrous might and mass.
- Thunder heaves and howls about them, lightning leaps and flashes,
 - Hard at hand, not high in heaven, but close between the walls
- Heaped and hollowed of the storms of old, whence reels and crashes
 - All the rage of all the unbaffled wave that breaks and falls

- Who shall thwart the madness and the gladness of it, laden
 - Full with heavy fate, and joyous as the birds that whirl?
- Nought in heaven or earth, if not one mortal-moulded maiden,
 - Nought if not the soul that glorifies a northland girl.
- Not the rocks that break may baffle, not the reefs that thwart
 - Stay the ravenous rapture of the waves that crowd and leap
- Scarce their flashing laughter shows the hunger of their heart,
 - Scarce their lion-throated roar the wrath at heart they keep.
- Child and man and woman in the grasp of death clenched fast
 - Tremble, clothed with darkness round about, and scarce draw breath,

Scarce lift eyes up toward the light that saves not, scarce may cast

- Thought or prayer up, caught and trammelled in the snare of death.
- Not as sea-mews cling and laugh or sun their plumes and sleep
 - Cling and cower the wild night's waifs of shipwreck, blind with fear,
- Where the fierce reef scarce yields foothold that a bird might keep,
 - And the clamorous darkness deadens eye and deafens ear.
- Yet beyond their helpless hearing, out of hopeless sight,

Saviours, armed and girt upon with strength of heart, fare forth,

- Sire and daughter, hand on oar and face against the night,
 - Maid and man whose names are beacons ever to the North.

- Nearer now; but all the madness of the storming surf
 - Hounds and roars them back ; but roars and hounds them back in vain :
- As a pleasure-skiff may graze the lake-embanking turf,
 - So the boat that bears them grates the rock wheretoward they strain.
- Dawn as fierce and haggard as the face of night scarce guides
 - Toward the cries that rent and clove the darkness, crying for aid,
- Hours on hours, across the engorged reluctance of the tides,
 - Sire and daughter, high-souled man and mightierhearted maid.
- Not the bravest land that ever breasted war's grim sea,
 - Hurled her foes back harried on the lowlands whence they came,

- Held her own and smote her smiters down, while such durst be,
 - Shining northward, shining southward, as the aurorean flame,
- Not our mother, not Northumberland, brought ever forth,
 - Though no southern shore may match the sons that kiss her mouth,
- Children worthier all the birthright given of the ardent north
 - Where the fire of hearts outburns the suns that fire the south.
- Even such fire was this that lit them, not from lowering skies
 - Where the darkling dawn flagged, stricken in the sun's own shrine,
- Down the gulf of storm subsiding, till their earnest eyes
 - Find the relics of the ravening night that spared but nine.

- Life by life the man redeems them, head by storm-worn head,
 - While the girl's hand stays the boat whereof the waves are fain :
- Ah, but woe for one, the mother clasping fast her dead !
 - Happier, had the surges slain her with her children slain.
- Back they bear, and bring between them safe the woful nine,
 - Where above the ravenous Hawkers fixed at watch for prey
 - Storm and calm behold the Longstone's towering signal shine
 - Now as when that labouring night brought forth a shuddering day.
 - Now as then, though like the hounds of storm against her snarling
 - All the clamorous years between us storm down many a fame

- As our sires beheld before us we behold Grace Darling
 - Crowned and throned our queen, and as they hailed we hail her name.
- Nay, not ours alone, her kinsfolk born, though chiefliest ours,
 - East and west and south acclaim her queen of England's maids,
- Star more sweet than all their stars and flower than all their flowers,
 - Higher in heaven and earth than star that sets or flower that fades.
- How should land or sea that nurtured her forget, or love
- Hold not fast her fame for us while aught is borne in mind?
- Land and sea beneath us, sun and moon and stars above,
 - Bear the bright soul witness, seen of all but souls born blind.

- Stars and moon and sun may wax and wane, subside and rise,
 - Age on age as flake on flake of showering snows be shed :
- Not till earth be sunless, not till death strike blind the skies,
 - May the deathless love that waits on deathless deeds be dead.

Years on years have withered since beside the hearth once thine

- I, too young to have seen thee, touched thy father's hallowed hand :
- Thee and him shall all men see for ever, stars that shine While the sea that spared thee girds and glorifies the land.

To E. H.

THE dawn of night more fair than morning rose, Stars hurrying forth on stars, as snows on snows Haste when the wind and winter bid them speed. Vague miles of moorland road behind us lay Scarce traversed ere the day Sank, and the sun forsook us at our need, Belated. Where we thought to have rested, rest Was none ; for soft Maree's dim quivering breast, Bound round with gracious inland girth of green And fearless of the wild wave-wandering West, Shone shelterless for strangers ; and unseen The goal before us lay

Of all our blithe and strange and strenuous day.

For when the northering road faced westward-when The dark sharp sudden gorge dropped seaward-then, Beneath the stars, between the steeps, the track We followed, lighted not of moon or sun, And plunging whither none Might guess, while heaven and earth were hoar and black, Seemed even the dim still pass whence none turns back : And through the twilight leftward of the way, And down the dark, with many a laugh and leap, The light blithe hill-streams shone from scaur to steep In glittering pride of play; And ever while the night grew great and deep We felt but saw not what the hills would keep Sacred awhile from sense of moon or star; And full and far Beneath us, sweet and strange as heaven may be, The sea.

The very sea : no mountain-moulded lake Whose fluctuant shapeliness is fain to take

Shape from the steadfast shore that rules it round, And only from the storms a casual sound : The sea, that harbours in her heart sublime The supreme heart of music deep as time, And in her spirit strong The spirit of all imaginable song.

- Not a whisper or lisp from the waters : the skies were not silenter. Peace
- Was between them ; a passionless rapture of respite as soft as release.
- Not a sound, but a sense that possessed and pervaded with patient delight
- The soul and the body, clothed round with the comfort of limitless night.
- Night infinite, living, adorable, loved of the land and the sea :
- Night, mother of mercies, who saith to the spirits in prison, Be free.

- And softer than dewfall, and kindlier than starlight, and keener than wine,
- Came round us the fragrance of waters, the life of the breath of the brine.
- We saw not, we heard not, the face or the voice of the waters : we knew
- By the darkling delight of the wind as the sense of the sea in it grew,
- By the pulse of the darkness about us enkindled and quickened, that here,
- Unseen and unheard of us, surely the goal we had faith in was near.

A silence diviner than music, a darkness diviner than light, Fulfilled as from heaven with a measureless comfort the measure of night.

> But never a roof for shelter And never a sign for guide Rose doubtful or visible : only And hardly and gladly we heard

The soft waves whisper and welter. Subdued, and allured to subside, By the mild night's magic : the lonely Sweet silence was soothed, not stirred, By the noiseless noise of the gleaming Glad ripples, that played and sighed, Kissed, laughed, recoiled, and relented. Whispered, flickered, and fled. No season was this for dreaming How oft, with a stormier tide, Had the wrath of the winds been vented On sons of the tribes long dead : The tribes whom time, and the changes Of things, and the stress of doom, Have erased and effaced ; forgotten As wrecks or weeds of the shore In sight of the stern hill-ranges That hardly may change their gloom When the fruits of the years wax rotten And the seed of them springs no more.

For the dim strait footway dividing The waters that breathed below Led safe to the kindliest of shelters That ever awoke into light : And still in remembrance abiding Broods over the stars that glow And the water that eddies and welters The passionate peace of the night.

All night long, in the world of sleep, Skies and waters were soft and deep : Shadow clothed them, and silence made Soundless music of dream and shade : All above us, the livelong night, Shadow, kindled with sense of light ; All around us, the brief night long, Silence, laden with sense of song. Stars and mountains without, we knew, Watched and waited, the soft night through :

All unseen, but divined and dear, Thrilled the touch of the sea's breath near : All unheard, but alive like sound, Throbbed the sense of the sea's life round : Round us, near us, in depth and height, Soft as darkness and keen as light.

- And the dawn leapt in at my casement : and there, as I rose, at my feet
- No waves of the landlocked waters, no lake submissive and sweet,
- Soft slave of the lordly seasons, whose breath may loose it or freeze ;
- But to left and to right and ahead was the ripple whose pulse is the sea's.
- From the gorge we had travelled by starlight the sunrise, winged and aflame,
- Shone large on the live wide wavelets that shuddered with joy as it came ;

- As it came and caressed and possessed them, till panting and laughing with light
- From mountain to mountain the water was kindled and stung to delight.
- And the grey gaunt heights that embraced and constrained and compelled it were glad,
- And the rampart of rock, stark naked, that thwarted and barred it, was clad
- With a stern grey splendour of sunrise : and scarce had I sprung to the sea
- When the dawn and the water were wedded, the hills and the sky set free.
- The chain of the night was broken : the waves that embraced me and smiled
- And flickered and fawned in the sunlight, alive, unafraid, undefiled,
- Were sweeter to swim in than air, though fulfilled with the mounting morn,
- Could be for the birds whose triumph rejoiced that a day was born.

- And a day was arisen indeed for us. Years and the changes of years
- Clothed round with their joys and their sorrows, and dead as their hopes and their fears,
- Lie noteless and nameless, unlit by remembrance or record of days
- Worth wonder or memory, or cursing or blessing, or passion or praise,
- Between us who live and forget not, but yearn with delight in it yet,
- And the day we forget not, and never may live and may think to forget.
- And the years that were kindlier and fairer, and kindled with pleasures as keen,
- Have eclipsed not with lights or with shadows the light on the face of it seen.
- For softly and surely, as nearer the boat that we gazed from drew,
- The face of the precipice opened and bade us as birds pass through,

- And the bark shot sheer to the sea through the strait of the sharp steep cleft,
- The portal that opens with imminent rampires to right and to left,
- Sublime as the sky they darken and strange as a spellstruck dream,
- On the world unconfined of the mountains, the reign of the sea supreme,
- The kingdom of westward waters, wherein when we swam we knew
- The waves that we clove were boundless, the wind on our brows that blew
- Had swept no land and no lake, and had warred not on tower or on tree,
- But came on us hard out of heaven, and alive with the soul of the sea.

THE PALACE OF PAN.

INSCRIBED TO MY MOTHER.

SEPTEMBER, all glorious with gold, as a king

In the radiance of triumph attired, Outlightening the summer, outsweetening the spring, Broods wide on the woodlands with limitless wing,

A presence of all men desired.

Far eastward and westward the sun-coloured lands
Smile warm as the light on them smiles ;
And statelier than temples upbuilded with hands,
Tall column by column, the sanctuary stands
Of the pine-forest's infinite aisles.

THE PALACE OF PAN.

Mute worship, too fervent for praise or for prayer,Possesses the spirit with peace,Fulfilled with the breath of the luminous air,The fragrance, the silence, the shadows as fairAs the rays that recede or increase.

Ridged pillars that redden aloft and aloof,With never a branch for a nest,Sustain the sublime indivisible roof,To the storm and the sun in his majesty proof,And awful as waters at rest.

Man's hand hath not measured the height of them; thought

May measure not, awe may not know ; In its shadow the woofs of the woodland are wrought; As a bird is the sun in the toils of them caught,

And the flakes of it scattered as snow.

THE PALACE OF PAN.

As the shreds of a plumage of gold on the ground The sun-flakes by multitudes lie, Shed loose as the petals of roses discrowned On the floors of the forest engilt and embrowned And reddened afar and anigh.

Dim centuries with darkling inscrutable hands Have reared and secluded the shrine For gods that we know not, and kindled as brands On the altar the years that are dust, and their sands Time's glass has forgotten for sign.

A temple whose transepts are measured by miles,
Whose chancel has morning for priest,
Whose floor-work the foot of no spoiler defiles,
Whose musical silence no music beguiles,
No festivals limit its feast.

The noon's ministration, the night's and the dawn's,

Conceals not, reveals not for man, On the slopes of the herbless and blossomless lawns, Some track of a nymph's or some trail of a faun's

To the place of the slumber of Pan.

Thought, kindled and quickened by worship and wonder To rapture too sacred for fear On the ways that unite or divide them in sunder, Alone may discern if about them or under

Be token or trace of him here.

With passionate awe that is deeper than panic

The spirit subdued and unshaken Takes heed of the godhead terrene and Titanic Whose footfall is felt on the breach of volcanic Sharp steeps that their fire has forsaken.

THE PALACE OF PAN.

By a spell more serene than the dim necromantic.Dead charms of the past and the night,Or the terror that lurked in the noon to make franticWhere Etna takes shape from the limbs of giganticDead gods disanointed of might,

The spirit made one with the spirit whose breath Makes noon in the woodland sublime Abides as entranced in a presence that saith Things loftier than life and serener than death, Triumphant and silent as time.

PINE RIDGE: September 1893.

JANUARY.

HAIL, January, that bearest here On snowbright breasts the babe-faced year

That weeps and trembles to be born. Hail, maid and mother, strong and bright, Hooded and cloaked and shod with white,

Whose eyes are stars that match the morn. Thy forehead braves the storm's bent bow, Thy feet enkindle stars of snow.

FEBRUARY.

Wan February with weeping cheer, Whose cold hand guides the youngling year

Down misty roads of mire and rime, Before thy pale and fitful face The shrill wind shifts the clouds apace

Through skies the morning scarce may climb. Thine eyes are thick with heavy tears, But lit with hopes that light the year's.

MARCH.

Hail, happy March, whose foot on earth Rings as the blast of martial mirth

When trumpets fire men's hearts for fray. No race of wild things winged or finned May match the might that wings thy wind

Through air and sea, through scud and spray. Strong joy and thou were powers twin-born Of tempest and the towering morn.

APRIL.

Crowned April, king whose kiss bade earth Bring forth to time her lordliest birth

When Shakespeare from thy lips drew breath And laughed to hold in one soft hand A spell that bade the world's wheel stand,

And power on life, and power on death, With quiring suns and sunbright showers Praise him, the flower of all thy flowers.

MAY.

Hail, May, whose bark puts forth full-sailed For summer ; May, whom Chaucer hailed

With all his happy might of heart, And gave thy rosebright daisy-tips Strange fragrance from his amorous lips

That still thine own breath seems to part And sweeten till each word they say Is even a flower of flowering May.

JUNE.

Strong June, superb, serene, elate With conscience of thy sovereign state

Untouched of thunder, though the storm Scathe here and there thy shuddering skies And bid its lightning cross thine eyes

With fire, thy golden hours inform Earth and the souls of men with life That brings forth peace from shining strife.

JULY.

Hail, proud July, whose fervent mouth Bids even be morn and north be south

By grace and gospel of thy word, Whence all the splendour of the sea Lies breathless with delight in thee

And marvel at the music heard From the ardent silent lips of noon And midnight's rapturous plenilune.

AUGUST.

Great August, lord of golden lands, Whose lordly joy through seas and strands

And all the red-ripe heart of earth Strikes passion deep as life, and stills The folded vales and folding hills

With gladness too divine for mirth, The gracious glories of thine eyes Make night a noon where darkness dies.

SEPTEMBER.

Hail, kind September, friend whose grace Renews the bland year's bounteous face

With largess given of corn and wine Through many a land that laughs with love Of thee and all the heaven above,

More fruitful found than all save thine Whose skies fulfil with strenuous cheer The fervent fields that knew thee near.

OCTOBER.

October of the tawny crown, Whose heavy-laden hands drop down Blessing, the bounties of thy breath And mildness of thy mellowing might Fill earth and heaven with love and light

Too sweet for fear to dream of death Or memory, while thy joy lives yet, To know what joy would fain forget.

NOVEMBER.

Hail, soft November, though thy pale Sad smile rebuke the words that hail

Thy sorrow with no sorrowing words Or gratulate thy grief with song Less bitter than the winds that wrong

Thy withering woodlands, where the birds Keep hardly heart to sing or see How fair thy faint wan face may be.

DECEMBER.

December, thou whose hallowing hands On shuddering seas and hardening lands Set as a sacramental sign The seal of Christmas felt on earth As witness toward a new year's birth

Whose promise makes thy death divine, The crowning joy that comes of thee Makes glad all grief on land or sea.

ENGLAND: AN ODE.

- I.
- SEA and strand, and a lordlier land than sea-tides rolling and rising sun
- Clasp and lighten in climes that brighten with day when day that was here is done,
- Call aloud on their children, proud with trust that future and past are one.
- Far and near from the swan's nest here the storm-birds bred of her fair white breast,
- Sons whose home was the sea-wave's foam, have borne the fame of her east and west;
- North and south has the storm-wind's mouth rung praise of England and England's quest.

- Fame, wherever her flag flew, never forbore to fly with an equal wing:
- France and Spain with their warrior train bowed down before her as thrall to king;
- India knelt at her feet, and felt her sway more fruitful of life than spring.
- Darkness round them as iron bound fell off from races of elder name,
- Slain at sight of her eyes, whose light bids freedom lighten and burn as flame;
 - Night endures not the touch that cures of kingship tyrants, and slaves of shame.
 - All the terror of time, where error and fear were lords of a world of slaves,
 - Age on age in resurgent rage and anguish darkening as waves on waves,
 - Fell or fled from a face that shed such grace as quickens the dust of graves.

- Things of night at her glance took flight: the strengths of darkness recoiled and sank:
- Sank the fires of the murderous pyres whereon wild agony writhed and shrank :
- Rose the light of the reign of right from gulfs of years that the darkness drank.
- Yet the might of her wings in flight, whence glory lightens and music rings,
- Loud and bright as the dawn's, shall smite and still the discord of evil things,
- Yet not slain by her radiant reign, but darkened now by her sail-stretched wings.

II.

- Music made of change and conquest, glory born of evil slain,
- Stilled the discord, slew the darkness, bade the lights of tempest wane,
- Where the deathless dawn of England rose in sign that right should reign.

- Mercy, where the tiger wallowed mad and blind with blood and lust,
- Justice, where the jackal yelped and fed, and slaves allowed it just,
- Rose as England's light on Asia rose, and smote them down to dust.
- Justice bright as mercy, mercy girt by justice with her sword,
- Smote and saved and raised and ruined, till the tyrantridden horde
- Saw the lightning fade from heaven and knew the sun for God and lord.
- Where the footfall sounds of England, where the smile of England shines,
- Rings the tread and laughs the face of freedom, fair as hope divines
- Days to be, more brave than ours and lit by lordlier stars for signs.

- All our past acclaims our future: Shakespeare's voice and Nelson's hand,
- Milton's faith and Wordsworth's trust in this our chosen and chainless land,
- Bear us witness: come the world against her, England yet shall stand.
- Earth and sea bear England witness if he lied who said it; he
- Whom the winds that ward her, waves that clasp, and herb and flower and tree
- Fed with English dews and sunbeams, hail as more than man may be.
- No man ever spake as he that bade our England be but true,
- Keep but faith with England fast and firm, and none should bid her rue;
- None may speak as he: but all may know the sign that Shakespeare knew.

ENGLAND: AN ODE.

III.

- From the springs of the dawn, from the depths of the noon, from the heights of the night that shine,
- Hope, faith, and remembrance of glory that found but in England her throne and her shrine,
- Speak louder than song may proclaim them, that here is the seal of them set for a sign.
- And loud as the sea's voice thunders applause of the land that is one with the sea
- Speaks Time in the ear of the people that never at heart was not inly free
- The word of command that assures us of life, if we will but that life shall be;
- If the race that is first of the races of men who behold unashamed the sun
- Stand fast and forget not the sign that is given of the years and the wars that are done,
- The token that all who are born of its blood should in heart as in blood be one.

- The word of remembrance that lightens as fire from the steeps of the storm-lit past
- Bids only the faith of our fathers endure in us, firm as they held it fast :
- That the glory which was from the first upon England alone may endure to the last.
- That the love and the hate may change not, the faith may not fade, nor the wrath nor scorn,
- That shines for her sons and that burns for her foemen as fire of the night or the morn :
- That the births of her womb may forget not the sign of the glory wherein they were born.
- A light that is more than the sunlight, an air that is brighter than morning's breath,
- Clothes England about as the strong sea clasps her, and answers the word that it saith;
- The word that assures her of life if she change not, and choose not the ways of death.

- Change darkens and lightens around her, alternate in hope and in fear to be:
- Hope knows not if fear speak truth, nor fear whether hope be not blind as she :
- But the sun is in heaven that beholds her immortal, and girdled with life by the sea.

ETON: AN ODE.

FOR THE FOUR HUNDRED AND FIFTIETH ANNIVERSARY OF THE FOUNDATION OF THE COLLEGE.

I.

- FOUR hundred summers and fifty have shone on the meadows of Thames and died
- Since Eton arose in an age that was darkness, and shone by his radiant side
- As a star that the spell of a wise man's word bade live and ascend and abide.
- And ever as time's flow brightened, a river more dark than the storm-clothed sea,
- And age upon age rose fairer and larger in promise of hope set free,
- With England Eton her child kept pace as a fostress of men to be.

- And ever as earth waxed wiser, and softer the beating of time's wide wings,
- Since fate fell dark on her father, most hapless and gentlest of star-crossed kings,
- Her praise has increased as the chant of the dawn that the choir of the noon outsings.

II.

- Storm and cloud in the skies were loud, and lightning mocked at the blind sun's light;
- War and woe on the land below shed heavier shadow than falls from night;
- Dark was earth at her dawn of birth as here her record of praise is bright.
- Clear and fair through her morning air the light first laugh of the sunlit stage
- Rose and rang as a fount that sprang from depths yet dark with a spent storm's rage,
- Loud and glad as a boy's, and bade the sunrise open on Shakespeare's age.

- Lords of state and of war, whom fate found strong in battle, in counsel strong,
- Here, ere fate had approved them great, abode their season, and thought not long :
- Here too first was the lark's note nursed that filled and flooded the skies with song.

III.

- Shelley, lyric lord of England's lordliest singers, here first heard
- Ring from lips of poets crowned and dead the Promethean word
- Whence his soul took fire, and power to outsoar the sunward-soaring bird.
- Still the reaches of the river, still the light on field and hill,
- Still the memories held aloft as lamps for hope's young fire to fill,
- Shine, and while the light of England lives shall shine for England still.

I

- When four hundred more and fifty years have risen and shone and set,
- Bright with names that men remember, loud with names that men forget,
- Haply here shall Eton's record be what England finds it yet.

THE UNION.

I.

THREE in one, but one in three, God, who girt her with the sea, Bade our Commonweal to be : Nought, if now not one.

Though fraud and fear would sever The bond assured for ever, Their shameful strength shall never

Undo what heaven has done.

п.

South and North and West and East Watch the ravens flock to feast, Dense as round some death-struck beast, Black as night is black.

THE UNION.

Stand fast as faith together In stress of treacherous weather When hounds and wolves break tether And Treason guides the pack.

ш.

Lovelier than thy seas are strong, Glorious Ireland, sword and song Gird and crown thee : none may wrong, Save thy sons alone. The sea that laughs around us Hath sundered not but bound us : The sun's first rising found us Throned on its equal throne.

1V.

North and South and East and West, All true hearts that wish thee best Beat one tune and own one quest, Staunch and sure as steel.

THE UNION.

God guard from dark disunion Our threefold State's communion, God save the loyal Union, The royal Commonweal !

EAST TO WEST.

SUNSET smiles on sunrise : east and west are one,

Face to face in heaven before the sovereign sun.

From the springs of the dawn everlasting a glory renews

and transfigures the west,

- From the depths of the sunset a light as of morning enkindles the broad sea's breast,
- And the lands and the skies and the waters are glad of the day's and the night's work done.

Child of dawn, and regent on the world-wide sea, England smiles on Europe, fair as dawn and free.

- Not the waters that gird her are purer, nor mightier the winds that her waters know.
- But America, daughter and sister of England, is praised . of them, far as they flow :
- Atlantic responds to Pacific the praise of her days that have been and shall be.

So from England westward let the watchword fly,

So from England eastward let the seas reply;

- Praise, honour, and love everlasting be sent on the wind's wings, westward and east,
- That the pride of the past and the pride of the future may mingle as friends at feast,
- And the sons of the lords of the world-wide seas be one till the world's life die.

MUSIC: AN ODE.

1.

- WAS it light that spake from the darkness, or music that shone from the word,
- When the night was enkindled with sound of the sun or the first-born bird?
- Souls enthralled and entrammelled in bondage of seasons that fall and rise,
- Bound fast round with the fetters of flesh, and blinded with light that dies,
- Lived not surely till music spake, and the spirit of life was heard.

п.

Music, sister of sunrise, and herald of life to be,

Smiled as dawn on the spirit of man, and the thrall was free.

- Slave of nature and serf of time, the bondman of life and death,
- Dumb with passionless patience that breathed but forlorn and reluctant breath,
- Heard, beheld, and his soul made answer, and communed aloud with the sea.

ш.

- Morning spake, and he heard : and the passionate silent noon
- Kept for him not silence : and soft from the mounting moon
- Fell the sound of her splendour, heard as dawn's in the breathless night,
- Not of men but of birds whose note bade man's soul quicken and leap to light :
- And the song of it spake, and the light and the darkness of earth were as chords in tune.

INSCRIPTIONS

FOR THE FOUR SIDES OF A PEDESTAL.

I.

MARLOWE, the father of the sons of song

Whose praise is England's crowning praise, above All glories else that crown her, sweet and strong

As England, clothed with light and fire of love, And girt with might of passion, thought, and trust, Stands here in spirit, sleeps not here in dust.

II.

Marlowe, a star too sovereign, too superb,

To fade when heaven took fire from Shakespeare's

light,

A soul that knew but song's triumphal curb

And love's triumphant bondage, holds of right His pride of place, who first in place and time Made England's voice as England's heart sublime.

IZI

INSCRIPTIONS.

III.

Marlowe bade England live in living song :

The light he lifted up lit Shakespeare's way : He spake, and life sprang forth in music, strong

As fire or lightning, sweet as dawn of day. Song was a dream where day took night to wife : 'Let there be life,' he said : and there was life.

IV.

Marlowe of all our fathers first beheld Beyond the tidal ebb and flow of things The tideless depth and height of souls, impelled

By thought or passion, borne on waves or wings, Beyond all flight or sight but song's : and he First gave our song a sound that matched our sea.

ON THE DEATH OF RICHARD BURTON.

NIGHT or light is it now, wherein Sleeps, shut out from the wild world's din, Wakes, alive with a life more clear, One who found not on earth his kin?

Sleep were sweet for awhile, were dear Surely to souls that were heartless here,

Souls that faltered and flagged and fell, Soft of spirit and faint of cheer.

A living soul that had strength to quell Hope the spectre and fear the spell,

Clear-eyed, content with a scorn sublime And a faith superb, can it fare not well?

124 ON THE DEATH OF RICHARD BURTON.

Life, the shadow of wide-winged time, Cast from the wings that change as they climb,

Life may vanish in death, and seem Less than the promise of last year's prime.

But not for us is the past a dream Wherefrom, as light from a clouded stream,

Faith fades and shivers and ebbs away, Faint as the moon if the sundawn gleam.

Faith, whose eyes in the low last ray Watch the fire that renews the day,

Faith which lives in the living past, Rock-rooted, swerves not as weeds that sway.

As trees that stand in the storm-wind fast She stands, unsmitten of death's keen blast,

With strong remembrance of sunbright spring Alive at heart to the lifeless last. Night, she knows, may in no wise cling To a soul that sinks not and droops not wing,

A sun that sets not in death's false night Whose kingdom finds him not thrall but king.

Souls there are that for soul's affright Bow down and cower in the sun's glad sight,

Clothed round with faith that is one with fear, And dark with doubt of the live world's light.

But him we hailed from afar or near As boldest born of the bravest here

And loved as brightest of souls that eyed Life, time, and death with unchangeful cheer,

A wider soul than the world was wide, Whose praise made love of him one with pride,

What part has death or has time in him, Who rode life's lists as a god might ride? 126 ON THE DEATH OF RICHARD BURTON.

While England sees not her old praise dim, While still her stars through the world's night swim,

A fame outshining her Raleigh's fame, A light that lightens her loud sea's rim,

Shall shine and sound as her sons proclaim The pride that kindles at Burton's name.

And joy shall exalt their pride to be The same in birth if in soul the same.

But we that yearn for a friend's face—we Who lack the light that on earth was he—

Mourn, though the light be a quenchless flame That shines as dawn on a tideless sea.

ELEGY.

AUVERGNE, Auvergne, O wild and woful land, O glorious land and gracious, white as gleam The stairs of heaven, black as a flameless brand, Strange even as life, and stranger than a dream,

Could earth remember man, whose eyes made bright The splendour of her beauty, lit by day Or soothed and softened and redeemed by night, Wouldst thou not know what light has passed away?

Wouldst thou not know whom England, whom the world,Mourns? For the world whose wildest ways he trod,And smiled their dangers down that coiled and curledAgainst him, knows him now less man than god.

ELEGY.

Our demigod of daring, keenest-eyed

To read and deepest read in earth's dim things, A spirit now whose body of death has died And left it mightier yet in eyes and wings,

The sovereign seeker of the world, who now Hath sought what world the light of death may show, Hailed once with me the crowns that load thy brow, Crags dark as midnight, columns bright as snow.

Thy steep small Siena, splendid and content As shines the mightier city's Tuscan pride Which here its face reflects in radiance, pent By narrower bounds from towering side to side,

Set fast between the ridged and foamless waves

Of earth more fierce and fluctuant than the sea, The fearless town of towers that hails and braves

The heights that gird, the sun that brands Le Puy;

The huddled churches clinging on the cliffs As birds alighting might for storm's sake cling, Moored to the rocks as tempest-harried skiffs To perilous refuge from the loud wind's wing :

The stairs on stairs that wind and change and climb Even up to the utmost crag's edge curved and curled, More bright than vision, more than faith sublime, Strange as the light and darkness of the world;

Strange as are night and morning, stars and sun,

And washed from west and east by day's deep tide, Shine yet less fair, when all their heights are won,

Than sundawn shows thy pillared mountain-side.

Even so the dawn of death, whose light makes dim The starry fires that life sees rise and set, . Shows higher than here he shone before us him

Whom faith forgets not, nor shall fame forget.

Even so those else unfooted heights we clomb

Through scudding mist and eddying whirls of cloud, Blind as a pilot beaten blind with foam,

And shrouded as a corpse with storm's grey shroud,

Foot following foot along the sheer straight ledge

Where space was none to bear the wild goat's feet Till blind we sat on the outer footless edge

Where darkling death seemed fain to share the seat,

The abyss before us, viewless even as time's,

The abyss to left of us, the abyss to right, Bid thought now dream how high the freed soul climbs That death sets free from change of day and night.

The might of raging mist and wind whose wrath Shut from our eyes the narrowing rock we trod, The wondrous world it darkened, made our path Like theirs who take the shadow of death for God.

Yet eastward, veiled in vapour white as snow,

The grim black herbless heights that scorn the sun And mock the face of morning rose to show

The work of earth-born fire and earthquake done.

And half the world was haggard night, wherein

We strove our blind way through : but far above Was light that watched the wild mists whirl and spin, And far beneath a land worth light and love.

Deep down the Valley of the Curse, undaunted By shadow and whisper of winds with sins for wings And ghosts of crime wherethrough the heights live haunted

By present sense of past and monstrous things,

The glimmering water holds its gracious way Full forth, and keeps one happier hand's-breadth green Of all that storm-scathed world whereon the sway Sits dark as death of deadlier things unseen.

But on the soundless and the viewless river

That bears through night perchance again to day The dead whom death and twin-born fame deliver From life that dies, and time's inveterate sway,

No shadow save of falsehood and of fear

That brands the future with the past, and bids The spirit wither and the soul grow sere,

Hovers or hangs to cloud life's opening lids,

If life have eyes to lift again and see,

Beyond the bounds of sensual sight or breath, What life incognisable of ours may be That turns our light to darkness deep as death.

Priests and the soulless serfs of priests may swarm With vulturous acclamation, loud in lies, About his dust while yet his dust is warm

Who mocked as sunlight mocks their base blind eyes,

Their godless ghost of godhead, false and foul

As fear his dam or hell his throne : but we, Scarce hearing, heed no carrion church-wolf's howl :

The corpse be theirs to mock ; the soul is free.

Free as ere yet its earthly day was done

It lived above the coil about us curled : A soul whose eyes were keener than the sun,

A soul whose wings were wider than the world.

We, sons of east and west, ringed round with dreams,Bound fast with visions, girt about with fears,Live, trust, and think by chance, while shadow seemsLight, and the wind that wrecks a hand that steers.

He, whose full soul held east and west in poise,

Weighed man with man, and creed of man's with creed, And age with age, their triumphs and their toys,

And found what faith may read not and may read.

Scorn deep and strong as death and life, that lit

With fire the smile at lies and dreams outworn Wherewith he smote them, showed sublime in it The splendour and the steadfastness of scorn.

What loftier heaven, what lordlier air, what space Illimitable, insuperable, infinite,

Now to that strong-winged soul yields ampler place Than passing darkness yields to passing light,

No dream, no faith can tell us: hope and fear,

Whose tongues were loud of old as children's, now From babbling fall to silence : change is here,

And death; dark furrows drawn by time's dark plough.

Still sunward here on earth its flight was bent,

Even since the man within the child began To yearn and kindle with superb intent And trust in time to magnify the man.

Still toward the old garden of the Sun, whose fruit The honey-heavy lips of Sophocles Desired and sang, wherein the unwithering root Sprang of all growths that thought brings forth and sees

Incarnate, bright with bloom or dense with leaf Far-shadowing, deep as depth of dawn or night : And all were parcel of the garnered sheaf

His strenuous spirit bound and stored aright.

And eastward now, and ever toward the dawn,

If death's deep veil by life's bright hand be rent, We see, as through the shadow of death withdrawn, The imperious soul's indomitable ascent.

But not the soul whose labour knew not end-

But not the swordsman's hand, the crested head— The royal heart we mourn, the faultless friend,

Burton-a name that lives till fame be dead.

A SEQUENCE OF SONNETS ON THE DEATH OF ROBERT BROWNING.

I.

THE clearest eyes in all the world they read With sense more keen and spirit of sight more true Than burns and thrills in sunrise, when the dew Flames, and absorbs the glory round it shed, As they the light of ages quick and dead,

Closed now, forsake us : yet the shaft that slew

Can slay not one of all the works we knew,

Nor death discrown that many-laurelled head.

The works of words whose life seems lightning wrought, And moulded of unconquerable thought,

And quickened with imperishable flame, Stand fast and shine and smile, assured that nought

May fade of all their myriad-moulded fame, Nor England's memory clasp not Browning's name. December 13, 1889.

136

п.

Death, what hast thou to do with one for whom Time is not lord, but servant? What least part Of all the fire that fed his living heart, Of all the light more keen than sundawn's bloom That lit and led his spirit, strong as doom And bright as hope, can aught thy breath may dart

And origin as nope, can aught thy oreath may dart

Quench? Nay, thou knowest he knew thee what thou art,

A shadow born of terror's barren womb,

That brings not forth save shadows. What art thou, To dream, albeit thou breathe upon his brow,

That power on him is given thee,—that thy breath Can make him less than love acclaims him now,

And hears all time sound back the word it saith? What part hast thou then in his glory, Death?

138 A SEQUENCE OF SONNETS

III.

A graceless doom it seems that bids us grieve : Venice and winter, hand in deadly hand, Have slain the lover of her sunbright strand
Ånd singer of a stormbright Christmas Eve.
A graceless guerdon we that loved receive For all our love, from that the dearest land Love worshipped ever. Blithe and soft and bland,

Too fair for storm to scathe or fire to cleave, Shone on our dreams and memories evermore The domes, the towers, the mountains and the shore

That gird or guard thee, Venice : cold and black Seems now the face we loved as he of yore.

We have given thee love—no stint, no stay, no lack : What gift, what gift is this thou hast given us back? IV.

But he—to him, who knows what gift is thine,
Death ? Hardly may we think or hope, when we
Pass likewise thither where to-night is he,
Beyond the irremeable outer seas that shine
And darken round such dreams as half divine
Some sunlit harbour in that starless sea
Where gleams no ship to windward or to lee,

To read with him the secret of thy shrine.

There too, as here, may song, delight, and love, The nightingale, the sea-bird, and the dove,

Fulfil with joy the splendour of the sky Till all beneath wax bright as all above :

But none of all that search the heavens, and try The sun, may match the sovereign eagle's eye.

December 14.

A SEQUENCE OF SONNETS

v.

Among the wondrous ways of men and time

He went as one that ever found and sought

And bore in hand the lamplike spirit of thought To illume with instance of its fire sublime The dusk of many a cloudlike age and clime.

No spirit in shape of light and darkness wrought,

No faith, no fear, no dream, no rapture, nought That blooms in wisdom, nought that burns in crime, No virtue girt and armed and helmed with light, No love more lovely than the snows are white,

No serpent sleeping in some dead soul's tomb, No song-bird singing from some live soul's height,

But he might hear, interpret, or illume With sense invasive as the dawn of doom. vī.

What secret thing of splendour or of shade

Surmised in all those wandering ways wherein

Man, led of love and life and death and sin, Strays, climbs, or cowers, allured, absorbed, afraid, Might not the strong and sunlike sense invade

Of that full soul that had for aim to win

Light, silent over time's dark toil and din, Life, at whose touch death fades as dead things fade ? O spirit of man, what mystery moves in thee That he might know not of in spirit, and see

The heart within the heart that seems to strive, The life within the life that seems to be.

And hear, through all thy storms that whirl and drive, The living sound of all men's souls alive?

VII.

He held no dream worth waking : so he said,

He who stands now on death's triumphal steep,

Awakened out of life wherein we sleep And dream of what he knows and sees, being dead. But never death for him was dark or dread :

'Look forth' he bade the soul, and fear not. Weep,

All ye that trust not in his truth, and keep Vain memory's vision of a vanished head As all that lives of all that once was he Save that which lightens from his word : but we,

Who, seeing the sunset-coloured waters roll, Yet know the sun subdued not of the sea,

Nor weep nor doubt that still the spirit is whole, And life and death but shadows of the soul.

December 15.

SUNSET AND MOONRISE

NEW YEAR'S EVE, 1889.

- ALL the west, whereon the sunset sealed the dead year's glorious grave
 - Fast with seals of light and fire and cloud that light and fire illume,
 - Glows at heart and kindles earth and heaven with joyous blush and bloom,
- Warm and wide as life, and glad of death that only slays to save.
- As a tide-reconquered sea-rock lies aflush with the influent wave
 - Lies the light aflush with darkness, lapped about by lustrous gloom,

144 SUNSET AND MOONRISE.

Even as life with death, and fame with time, and memory with the tomb

- Where a dead man hath for vassals Fame the serf and Time the slave.
- Far from earth as heaven, the steadfast light withdrawn, superb, suspense,

Burns in dumb divine expansion of illimitable flower: Moonrise whets the shadow's edges keen as noontide: hence and thence

- Glows the presence from us passing, shines and passes not the power.
- Souls arise whose word remembered is as spirit within the sense :
 - All the hours are theirs of all the seasons : death has but his hour.

BIRTHDAY ODE

145

AUGUST 6, 1891.

I.

LOVE and praise, and a length of days whose shadow cast upon time is light,

- Days whose sound was a spell shed round from wheeling wings as of doves in flight,
- Meet in one, that the mounting sun to-day may triumph, and cast out night.

Two years more than the full fourscore lay hallowing hands on a sacred head—

- Scarce one score of the perfect four uncrowned of fame as they smiled and fled :
- Still and soft and alive aloft their sunlight stays though the suns be dead.

L

- Ere we were or were thought on, ere the love that gave us to life began,
- Fame grew strong with his crescent song, to greet the goal of the race they ran,
- Song with fame, and the lustrous name with years whose changes acclaimed the man.

п.

- Soon, ere time in the rounding rhyme of choral seasons had hailed us men,
- We too heard and acclaimed the word whose breath was life upon England then—
- Life more bright than the breathless light of soundless noon in a songless glen.
- Ah, the joy of the heartstruck boy whose ear was opened of love to hear !
- Ah, the bliss of the burning kiss of song and spirit, the mounting cheer
- Lit with fire of divine desire and love that knew not if love were fear !

- Fear and love as of heaven above and earth enkindled of heaven were one;
- One white flame, that around his name grew keen and strong as the worldwide sun ;
- Awe made bright with implied delight, as weft with weft of the rainbow spun.

III.

- He that fears not the voice he hears and loves shall never have heart to sing :
- All the grace of the sun-god's face that bids the soul as a fountain spring
- Bids the brow that receives it bow, and hail his likeness on earth as king.

We that knew when the sun's shaft flew beheld and . worshipped, adored and heard :

- Light rang round it of shining sound, whence all men's hearts were subdued and stirred :
- Joy, love, sorrow, the day, the morrow, took life upon them in one man's word.

- Not for him can the years wax dim, nor downward swerve on a darkening way :
- Upward wind they, and leave behind such light as lightens the front of May :
- Fair as youth and sublime as truth we find the fame that we hail to-day.

OCTOBER 6, 1892.

I.

LIFE, sublime and serene when time had power upon it and ruled its breath,

- Changed it, bade it be glad or sad, and hear what change in the world's ear saith,
- Shines more fair in the starrier air whose glory lightens the dusk of death.
- Suns that sink on the wan sea's brink, and moons that kindle and flame and fade,
- Leave more clear for the darkness here the stars that set not and see not shade
- Rise and rise on the lowlier skies by rule of sunlight and moonlight swayed.

- So, when night for his eyes grew bright, his proud head pillowed on Shakespeare's breast,
- Hand in hand with him, soon to stand where shine the glories that death loves best,
- Passed the light of his face from sight, and sank sublimely to radiant rest.

п.

- Far above us and all our love, beyond all reach of its voiceless praise,
- Shines for ever the name that never shall feel the shade of the changeful days
- Fall and chill the delight that still sees winter's light on it shine like May's.
- Strong as death is the dark day's breath whose blast has withered the life we see
- Here where light is the child of night, and less than visions or dreams are we :
- Strong as death; but a word, a breath, a dream is stronger than death can be.

- Strong as truth and superb in youth eternal, fair as the sundawn's flame
- Seen when May on her first-born day bids earth exult in her radiant name,
- Lives, clothed round with its praise and crowned with love that dies not, his love-lit fame.

ш.

- Fairer far than the morning star, and sweet for us as the songs that rang
- Loud through heaven from the choral Seven when all the stars of the morning sang,
- Shines the song that we loved so long—since first such love in us flamed and sprang.
- England glows as a sunlit rose from mead to mountain, from sea to sea,
- Bright with love and with pride above all taint of sorrow that needs must be,
- Needs must live for an hour, and give its rainbow's glory to lawn and lea.

- Not through tears shall the new-born years behold him, crowned with applause of men,
- Pass at last from a lustrous past to life that lightens beyond their ken,
- Glad and dead, and from earthward led to sunward, guided of Imogen.

THE BALLAD OF MELICERTES.

IN MEMORY OF THÉODORE DE BANVILLE.

DEATH, a light outshining life, bids heaven resume

Star by star the souls whose light made earth divine.

Death, a night outshining day, sees burn and bloom

Flower by flower, and sun by sun, the fames that shine

Deathless, higher than life beheld their sovereign sign. Dead Simonides of Ceos, late restored,

Given again of God, again by man deplored,

Shone but yestereve, a glory frail as breath.

Frail? But Fame's breath quickens, kindles, keeps in ward,

Life so sweet as this that dies and casts off death.

154 THE BALLAD OF MELICERTES.

Mother's love, and rapture of the sea, whose womb Breeds eternal life of joy that stings like brine,
Pride of song, and joy to dare the singer's doom,
Sorrow soft as sleep and laughter bright as wine,
Flushed and filled with fragrant fire his lyric line.
As the sea-shell utters, like a stricken chord,
Music uttering all the sea's within it stored,

Poet well-beloved, whose praise our sorrow saith, So thy songs retain thy soul, and so record

Life so sweet as this that dies and casts off death.

Side by side we mourned at Gautier's golden tomb :

Here in spirit now I stand and mourn at thine.

- Yet no breath of death strikes thence, no shadow of gloom,
 - Only light more bright than gold of the inmost mine,
 - Only steam of incense warm from love's own shrine.

THE BALLAD OF MELICERTES. 155

Not the darkling stream, the sundering Stygian ford, Not the hour that smites and severs as a sword,

Not the night subduing light that perisheth, Smite, subdue, divide from us by doom abhorred,

Life so sweet as this that dies and casts off death.

Prince of song more sweet than honey, lyric lord, Not thy France here only mourns a light adored,

One whose love-lit fame the world inheriteth. Strangers too, now brethren, hail with heart's accord

Life so sweet as this that dies and casts off death.

AU TOMBEAU DE BANVILLE.

La plus douce des voix qui vibraient sous le ciel Se tait : les rossignols ailés pleurent le frère Qui s'envole au-dessus de l'âpre et sombre terre, Ne lui laissant plus voir que l'être essentiel,

Esprit qui chante et rit, fleur d'une âme sans fiel. L'ombre élyséenne, où la nuit n'est que lumière, Revoit, tout revêtu de splendeur douce et fière, Mélicerte, poète à la bouche de miel.

Dieux exilés, passants célestes de ce monde, Dont on entend parfois dans notre nuit profonde Vibrer la voix, frémir les ailes, vous savez S'il vous aima, s'il vous pleura, lui dont la vie Et le chant rappelaient les vôtres. Recevez L'âme de Mélicerte affranchie et ravie.

LIGHT: AN EPICEDE.

TO PHILIP BOURKE MARSTON.

Love will not weep because the seal is broken That sealed upon a life beloved and brief Darkness, and let but song break through for token How deep, too far for even thy song's relief, Slept in thy soul the secret springs of grief.

Thy song may soothe full many a soul hereafter,

As tears, if tears will come, dissolve despair ; As here but late, with smile more bright than laughter, Thy sweet strange yearning eyes would seem to bear Witness that joy might cleave the clouds of care. 158

Two days agone, and love was one with pity When love gave thought wings toward the glimmering goal

Where, as a shrine lit in some darkling city,Shone soft the shrouded image of thy soul :And now thou art healed of life ; thou art healed, and whole.

Yea, two days since, all we that loved thee pitied :And now with wondering love, with shame of face,We think how foolish now, how far unfitted,Should be from us, toward thee who hast run thy race,

Pity-toward thee, who hast won the painless place ;

The painless world of death, yet unbeholden

Of eyes that dream what light now lightens thine And will not weep. Thought, yearning toward those olden

Dear hours that sorrow sees and sees not shine, Bows tearless down before a flameless shrine :

LIGHT: AN EPICEDE. 159

A flameless altar here of life and sorrow Quenched and consumed together. These were one, One thing for thee, as night was one with morrow And utter darkness with the sovereign sun : And now thou seest life, sorrow, and darkness done.

And yet love yearns again to win thee hither ; Blind love, and loveless, and unworthy thee : Here where I watch the hours of darkness wither Here where mine eyes were glad and sad to see Thine that could see not mine, though turned on me.

But now, if aught beyond sweet sleep lie hidden,

And sleep be sealed not fast on dead men's sight For ever, thine hath grace for ours forbidden,

And sees us compassed round with change and night : Yet light like thine is ours, if love be light.

WATCHING here alone by the fire whereat last year Sat with me the friend that a week since yet was near,

That a week has borne so far and hid so deep,

Woe am I that I may not weep,

May not yearn to behold him here.

- Shame were mine, and little the love I bore him were,
- Now to mourn that better he fares than love may fare

Which desires, and would not have indeed, its will,

Would not love him so worse than ill,

Would not clothe him again with care.

160

Yet can love not choose but remember, hearts but ache, Eyes but darken, only for one vain thought's poor sake, For the thought that by this hearth's now lonely side Two fast friends, on the day he died, Looked once more for his hand to take.

Let thy soul forgive them, and pardon heal the sin, Though their hearts be heavy to think what then had been,

The delight that never while they live may be— Love's communion of speech with thee, Soul and speech with the soul therein.

O my friend, O brother, a glory veiled and marred ! Never love made moan for a life more evil-starred. Was it envy, chance, or chance-compelling fate, Whence thy spirit was bruised so late, Bowed so heavily, bound so hard? 161

Now released, it may be,—if only love might know— Filled and fired with sight, it beholds us blind and low With a pity keener yet, if that may be, Even than ever was this that we Felt, when love of thee wrought us woe.

- None may tell the depths and the heights of life and death.
- What we may we give thee : a word that sorrow saith, And that none will heed save sorrow : scarce a song. All we may, who have loved thee long, Take : the best we can give is breath.

A DIRGE.

A BELL tolls on in my heart As though in my ears a knell Had ceased for awhile to swell, But the sense of it would not part From the spirit that bears its part In the chime of the soundless bell.

Ah dear dead singer of sorrow,

The burden is now not thine That grief bade sound for a sign Through the songs of the night whose morrow Has risen, and I may not borrow

A beam from its radiant shrine.

A DIRGE.

The burden has dropped from thee That grief on thy life bound fast ; The winter is over and past Whose end thou wast fain to see. Shall sorrow not comfort me That is thine no longer—at last?

Good day, good night, and good morrow, Men living and mourning say. For thee we could only pray That night of the day might borrow Such comfort as dreams lend sorrow : Death gives thee at last good day.

.

A REMINISCENCE.

THE rose to the wind has yielded : all its leaves Lie strewn on the graveyard grass, and all their light And colour and fragrance leave our sense and sight Bereft as a man whom bitter time bereaves Of blossom at once and hope of garnered sheaves, Of April at once and August. Day to night Calls wailing, and life to death, and depth to height, And soul upon soul of man that hears and grieves.

Who knows, though he see the snow-cold blossom shed,

If haply the heart that burned within the rose, The spirit in sense, the life of life be dead?

If haply the wind that slays with storming snows Be one with the wind that quickens? Bow thine head,

O Sorrow, and commune with thine heart : who knows ?

VIA DOLOROSA.

THE days of a man are threescore years and ten. The days of his life were half a man's, whom we Lament, and would yet not bid him back, to be Partaker of all the woes and ways of men. Life sent him enough of sorrow : not again Would anguish of love, beholding him set free, Bring back the beloved to suffer life and see No light but the fire of grief that scathed him then. We know not at all : we hope, and do not fear. We shall not again behold him, late so near, Who now from afar above, with eyes alight And spirit enkindled, haply toward us here Looks down unforgetful yet of days like night And love that has yet his sightless face in sight.

February 15, 1887.

I.

TRANSFIGURATION.

But half a man's days—and his days were nights.

What hearts were ours who loved him, should we pray That night would yield him back to darkling day, Sweet death that soothes, to life that spoils and smites? For now, perchance, life loyelier than the light's

That shed no comfort on his weary way

Shows him what none may dream to see or say Ere yet the soul may scale those topless heights Where death lies dead, and triumph. Haply there

Already may his kindling eyesight find Faces of friends—no face than his more fair—

And first among them found of all his kind Milton, with crowns from Eden on his hair,

And eyes that meet a brother's now not blind.

II.

DELIVERANCE.

O DEATH, fair Death, sole comforter and sweet, Nor Love nor Hope can give such gifts as thine. Sleep hardly shows us round thy shadowy shrine What roses hang, what music floats, what feet Pass and what wings of angels. We repeat

Wild words or mild, disastrous or divine,

Blind prayer, blind imprecation, seeing no sign Nor hearing aught of thee not faint and fleet As words of men or snowflakes on the wind. But if we chide thee, saying 'Thou hast sinned, thou hast sinned,

Dark Death, to take so sweet a light away

As shone but late, though shadowed, in our skies,' We hear thine answer—'Night has given what day

Denied him : darkness hath unsealed his eyes.'

III.

THANKSGIVING.

COULD love give strength to thank thee ! Love can give Strong sorrow heart to suffer : what we bear We would not put away, albeit this were A burden love might cast aside and live. Love chooses rather pain than palliative, Sharp thought than soft oblivion. May we dare

So trample down our passion and our prayer That fain would cling round feet now fugitive And stay them—so remember, so forget, What joy we had who had his presence yet, What griefs were his while joy in him was ours

And grief made weary music of his breath, As even to hail his best and last of hours

With love grown strong enough to thank thee, Death?

IV.

LIBITINA VERTICORDIA.

SISTER of sleep, healer of life, divine

As rest and strong as very love may be,

To set the soul that love could set not free, To bid the skies that day could bid not shine, To give the gift that life withheld was thine.

With all my heart I loved one borne from me :

And all my heart bows down and praises thee, Death, that hast now made grief not his but mine.

O Changer of men's hearts, we would not bid thee Turn back our hearts from sorrow : this alone We bid, we pray thee, from thy sovereign throne And sanctuary sublime where heaven has hid thee, Give : grace to know of those for whom we weep That if they wake their life is sweet as sleep.

THE ORDER OF RELEASE.

V.

THOU canst not give it. Grace enough is ours To know that pain for him has fallen on rest.

The worst we know was his on earth : the best, We fain would think,—a thought no fear deflowers— Is his, released from bonds of rayless hours.

Ah, turn our hearts from longing ; bid our quest

Cease, as content with failure. This thy guest Sleeps, vexed no more of time's imperious powers, The spirit of hope, the spirit of change and loss, The spirit of love bowed down beneath his cross,

Nor now needs comfort from the strength of song. Love, should he wake, bears now no cross for him : Dead hope, whose living eyes like his were dim,

Has brought forth better comfort, strength more strong.

VI.

PSYCHAGOGOS.

As Greece of old acclaimed thee God and man, So, Death, our tongue acclaims thee : yet wast thou Hailed of old Rome as Romans hail thee now, Goddess and woman. Since the sands first ran That told when first man's life and death began, The shadows round thy blind ambiguous brow Have mocked the votive plea, the pleading vow, That sought thee sorrowing, fain to bless or ban.

But stronger than a father's love is thine,
And gentler than a mother's. Lord and God,
Thy staff is surer than the wizard rod
That Hermes bare as priest before thy shrine
And herald of thy mercies. We could give
Nought, when we would have given : thou bidst him live.

VII.

THE LAST WORD.

So many a dream and hope that went and came, So many and sweet, that love thought like to be, Of hours as bright and soft as those for me That made our hearts for song's sweet love the same, Lie now struck dead, that hope seems one with shame.

O Death, thy name is Love : we know it, and see The witness : yet for very love's sake we Can hardly bear to mix with thine his name.

Philip, how hard it is to bid thee part Thou knowest, if aught thou knowest where now thou art

Of us that loved and love thee. None may tell What none but knows—how hard it is to say The word that seals up sorrow, darkens day,

And bids fare forth the soul it bids farewell.

THE wider world of men that is not ours

Receives a soul whose life on earth was light. Though darkness close the date of human hours,

Love holds the spirit and sense of life in sight,

That may not, even though death bid fly, take flight. Faith, love, and hope fulfilled with memory, see As clear and dear as life could bid it be The present soul that is and is not he.

He, who held up the shield and sword of Rome

Against the ravening brood of recreant France, Beside the man of men whom heaven took home When earth beheld the spring's first eyebeams glance And life and winter seemed alike a trance

Eighteen years since, in sight of heaven and spring That saw the soul above all souls take wing, He too now hears the heaven we hear not sing.

He too now dwells where death is dead, and stands

Where souls like stars exult in life to be : Whence all who linked heroic hearts and hands Shine on our sight, and give it strength to see

What hope makes fair for all whom faith makes free : Free with such freedom as we find in sleep, The light sweet shadow of death, when dreams are deep And high as heaven whence light and lightning leap.

And scarce a month yet gone, his living hand

Writ loving words that sealed me friend of his. Are heaven and earth as near as sea to strand?

May life and death as bride and bridegroom kiss?

His last month's written word abides, and is ; Clear as the sun that lit through storm and strife And darkling days when hope took fear to wife The faith whose fire was light of all his life.

A life so fair, so pure of earthlier leaven,

That none hath won through higher and harder ways

The deathless life of death which earth calls heaven ; Heaven, and the light of love on earth, and praise Of silent memory through subsiding days Wherein the light subsides not whence the past Feeds full with life the future. Time holds fast Their names whom faith forgets not, first and last.

Forget? The dark forgets not dawn, nor we

The suns that sink to rise again, and shine Lords of live years and ages. Earth and sea .

Forget not heaven that makes them seem divine, Though night put out their fires and bid their shrine

Be dark and pale as storm and twilight. Day, Not night, is everlasting : life's full sway Bids death bow down as dead, and pass away.

What part has death in souls that past all fear Win heavenward their supernal way, and smite With scorn sublime as heaven such dreams as here Plague and perplex with cloud and fire the light That leads men's waking souls from glimmering night

To the awless heights of day, whereon man's awe, Transfigured, dies in rapture, seeing the law Sealed of the sun that earth arising saw?

Faith, justice, mercy, love, and heaven-born hate

That sets them all on fire and bids them be More than soft words and dreams that wake too

late,

Shone living through the lordly life that we

Beheld, revered, and loved on earth, while he Dwelt here, and bade our eyes take light thereof; Light as from heaven that flamed or smiled above In light or fire whose very hate was love.

No hate of man, but hate of hate whose foam

- Sheds poison forth from tongues of snakes and priests,
- And stains the sickening air with steams whence Rome Now feeds not full the God that slays and feasts ;

For now the fangs of all the ravenous beasts That ramped about him, fain of prayer and prey, Fulfil their lust no more : the tide of day Swells, and compels him down the deathward way.

Night sucks the Church its creature down, and hell Yawns, heaves, and yearns to clasp its loathliest child

Close to the breasts that bore it. All the spell Whence darkness saw the dawn in heaven defiled Is dumb as death : the lips that lied and smiled Wax white for fear as ashes. She that bore The banner up of darkness now no more Sheds night and fear and shame from shore to shore.

When they that cast her kingdom down were born,

North cried on south and east made moan to west For hopes that love had hardly heart to mourn,

For Italy that was not. Kings on quest,

By priests whose blessings burn as curses blest, Made spoil of souls and bodies bowed and bound, Hunted and harried, leashed as horse or hound, And hopeless of the hope that died unfound.

And now that faith has brought forth fruit to time,

How should not memory praise their names, and hold Their record even as Dante's life sublime,

Who bade his dream, found fair and false of old,

Live? Not till earth and heaven be dead and cold May man forget whose work and will made one Italy, fair as heaven or freedom won, And left their fame to shine beside her sun. *April* 1890.

THE FESTIVAL OF BEATRICE.

DANTE, sole standing on the heavenward height,
Beheld and heard one saying, 'Behold me well:
I am, I am Beatrice.' Heaven and hell
Kept silence, and the illimitable light
Of all the stars was darkness in his sight
Whose eyes beheld her eyes again, and fell
Shame-stricken. Since her soul took flight to dwell
In heaven, six hundred years have taken flight.

And now that heavenliest part of earth whereon Shines yet their shadow as once their presence shone

To her bears witness for his sake, as he For hers bare witness when her face was gone : No slave, no hospice now for grief—but free From shore to mountain and from Alp to sea.

THE MONUMENT OF GIORDANO BRUNO.

I.

Nor from without us, only from within,

Comes or can ever come upon us light

Whereby the soul keeps ever truth in sight. No truth, no strength, no comfort man may win, No grace for guidance, no release from sin,

Save of his own soul's giving. Deep and bright

As fire enkindled in the core of night Burns in the soul where once its fire has been The light that leads and quickens thought, inspired

To doubt and trust and conquer. So he said

Whom Sidney, flower of England, lordliest head Of all we love, loved : but the fates required A sacrifice to hate and hell, ere fame Should set with his in heaven Giordano's name.

п.

Cover thine eyes and weep, O child of hell,

Grey spouse of Satan, Church of name abhorred.

Weep, withered harlot, with thy weeping lord, Now none will buy the heaven thou hast to sell At price of prostituted souls, and swell

Thy loveless list of lovers. Fire and sword

No more are thine : the steel, the wheel, the cord, The flames that rose round living limbs, and fell In lifeless ash and ember, now no more

Approve thee godlike. Rome, redeemed at last

From all the red pollution of thy past,

Acclaims the grave bright face that smiled of yore

Even on the fire that caught it round and clomb To cast its ashes on the face of Rome.

June 9, 1889.

LIFE IN DEATH.

HE should have followed who goes forth before us,

Last born of us in life, in death first-born :

The last to lift up eyes against the morn, The first to see the sunset. Life, that bore us Perchance for death to comfort and restore us,

Of him hath left us here awhile forlorn,

For him is as a garment overworn, And time and change, with suns and stars in chorus, Silent. But if, beyond all change or time, A law more just, more equal, more sublime

Than sways the surge of life's loud sterile sea Sways that still world whose peace environs him, Where death lies dead as night when stars wax dim,

Above all thought or hope of ours is he.

August 2, 1891.

EPICEDE.

As a vesture shalt thou change them, said the prophet,

And the raiment that was flesh is turned to dust; Dust and flesh and dust again the likeness of it,

And the fine gold woven and worn of youth is rust. Hours that wax and wane salute the shade and scoff it,

That it knows not aught it doth nor aught it must: Day by day the speeding soul makes haste to doff it, Night by night the pride of life resigns its trust.

Sleep, whose silent notes of song loud life's derange not,

Takes the trust in hand awhile as angels may :

Joy with wings that rest not, grief with wings that range not,

Guard the gates of sleep and waking, gold or grey.

EPICEDE.

- Joys that joys estrange, and griefs that griefs estrange not,
 - Day that yearns for night, and night that yearns for day,
- As a vesture shalt thou change them, and they change not,

Seeing that change may never change or pass away.

- Life of death makes question, 'What art thou that changest?
 - What am I, that fear should trust or faith should doubt?

I that lighten, thou that darkenest and estrangest,

Is it night or day that girds us round about? Light and darkness on the ways wherein thou rangest

Seen as one, and beams as clouds they put to rout. Strange is hope, but fear of all things born were strangest, Seeing that none may strive with change to cast it out.

- 'Change alone stands fast, thou sayest, O death: I know not:
 - What art thou, my brother death, that thou shouldst know?
- Men may reap no fruits of fields wherein they sow not; Hope or fear is all the seed we have to sow.

Winter seals the sacred springs up that they flow not :

Wind and sun and change unbind them, and they flow. Am I thou or art thou I? The years that show not Pass, and leave no sign when time shall be to show.'

Hope makes suit to faith lest fear give ear to sorrow:

Doubt strews dust upon his head, and goes his way. All the golden hope that life of death would borrow,

How, if death require again, may life repay? Earth endures no darkness whence no light yearns thorough;

God in man as light in darkness lives, they say :

Yet, would midnight take assurance of the morrow, Who shall pledge the faith or seal the bond of day?

EPICEDE.

- Darkness, mute or loud with music or with mourning, Starry darkness, winged with wind or clothed with calm,
- Dreams no dream of grief or fear or wrath or warning, Bears no sign of race or goal or strife or palm.
- Word of blessing, word of mocking or of scorning,
 - Knows it none, nor whence its breath sheds blight or balm.
- Yet a little while, and hark, the psalm of morning:
 - Yet a little while, and silence takes the psalm.
- All the comfort, all the worship, all the wonder,
- All the light of love that darkness holds in fee, All the song that silence keeps or keeps not under,
- Night, the soul that knows gives thanks for all to thee. Far beyond the gates that morning strikes in sunder,
 - Hopes that grief makes holy, dreams that fear sets free,
- Far above the throne of thought, the lair of thunder, Silent shines the word whose utterance fills the sea.

A LIFE more bright than the sun's face, bowed Through stress of season and coil of cloud,

Sets : and the sorrow that casts out fear Scarce deems him dead in his chill still shroud,

Dead on the breast of the dying year, Poet and painter and friend, thrice dear

For love of the suns long set, for love Of song that sets not with sunset here,

For love of the fervent heart, above Their sense who saw not the swift light move

Thát filled with sense of the loud sun's lyre The thoughts that passion was fain to prove

In fervent labour of high desire And faith that leapt from its own quenched pyre

Alive and strong as the sun, and caught From darkness light, and from twilight fire.

Passion, deep as the depths unsought Whence faith's own hope may redeem us nought,

Filled full with ardour of pain sublime His mourning song and his mounting thought.

Elate with sense of a sterner time, His hand's flight clomb as a bird's might climb

Calvary : dark in the darkling air That shrank for fear of the crowning crime,

Three crosses rose on the hillside bare, Shown scarce by grace of the lightning's glare

That clove the veil of the temple through And smote the priests on the threshold there.

The soul that saw it, the hand that drew, Whence light as thought's or as faith's glance flew, And stung to life the sepulchral past, And bade the stars of it burn anew,

Held no less than the dead world fast The light live shadows about them cast,

The likeness living of dawn and night, The days that pass and the dreams that last.

Thought, clothed round with sorrow as light, Dark as a cloud that the moon turns bright,

Moved, as a wind on the striving sea, That yearns and quickens and flags in flight,

Through forms of colour and song that he Who fain would have set its wide wings free

Cast round it, clothing or chaining hope With lights that last not and shades that flee.

Scarce in song could his soul find scope, Scarce the strength of his hand might ope

Art's inmost gate of her sovereign shrine, To cope with heaven as a man may cope.

But high as the hope of a man may shine The faith, the fervour, the life divine

That thrills our life and transfigures, rose And shone resurgent, a sunbright sign,

Through shapes whereunder the strong soul glows And fills them full as a sunlit rose

With sense and fervour of life, whose light The fool's eye knows not, the man's eye knows.

None that can read or divine aright The scriptures writ of the soul may slight

The strife of a strenuous soul to show More than the craft of the hand may write.

None may slight it, and none may know How high the flames that aspire and glow

From heart and spirit and soul may climb And triumph ; higher than the souls lie low

Whose hearing hears not the livelong rhyme, Whose eyesight sees not the light sublime,

That shines, that sounds, that ascends and lives Unquenched of change, unobscured of time.

A long life's length, as a man's life gives Space for the spirit that soars and strives

To strive and soar, has the soul shone through That heeds not whither the world's wind drives

Now that the days and the ways it knew Are strange, are dead as the dawn's grey dew

At high midnoon of the mounting day That mocks the might of the dawn it slew.

193

Yet haply may not — and haply may— No sense abide of the dead sun's ray

Wherein the soul that outsoars us now Rejoiced with ours in its radiant sway.

Hope may hover, and doubt may bow, Dreaming. Haply—they dream not how—

Not life but death may indeed be dead When silence darkens the dead man's brow.

Hope, whose name is remembrance, fed With love that lightens from seasons fled,

Dreams, and craves not indeed to know, That death and life are as souls that wed.

But change that falls on the heart like snow Can chill not memory nor hope, that show

The soul, the spirit, the heart and head, Alive above us who strive below.

AN OLD SAYING.

MANY waters cannot quench love,

Neither can the floods drown it. Who shall snare or slay the white dove

Faith, whose very dreams crown it, Gird it round with grace and peace, deep, Warm, and pure, and soft as sweet sleep? • Many waters cannot quench love,

Neither can the floods drown it.

Set me as a seal upon thine heart,

As a seal upon thine arm. How should we behold the days depart

And the nights resign their charm? Love is as the soul : though hate and fear Waste and overthrow, they strike not here. Set me as a seal upon thine heart,

As a seal upon thine arm.

A MOSS-ROSE.

IF the rose of all flowers be the rarest That heaven may adore from above, And the fervent moss-rose be the fairest That sweetens the summer with love,

Can it be that a fairer than any Should blossom afar from the tree? Yet one, and a symbol of many, Shone sudden for eyes that could see.

In the grime and the gloom of November The bliss and the bloom of July Bade autumn rejoice and remember The balm of the blossoms gone by. Would you know what moss-rose now it may be That puts all the rest to the blush, The flower was the face of a baby,

The moss was a bonnet of plush.

TO A CAT.

I.

STATELY, kindly, lordly friend, Condescend Here to sit by me, and turn Glorious eyes that smile and burn, Golden eyes, love's lustrous meed, On the golden page I read.

All your wondrous wealth of hair, Dark and fair,
Silken-shaggy, soft and bright As the clouds and beams of night, Pays my reverent hand's caress
Back with friendlier gentleness.

TO A CAT.

Dogs may fawn on all and some As they come; You, a friend of loftier mind, Answer friends alone in kind. Just your foot upon my hand Softly bids it understand.

Morning round this silent sweet Garden-seat Sheds its wealth of gathering light, Thrills the gradual clouds with might, Changes woodland, orchard, heath, Lawn, and garden there beneath.

Fair and dim they gleamed below: Now they glow
Deep as even your sunbright eyes,
Fair as even the wakening skies.
Can it not or can it be
Now that you give thanks to see? May not you rejoice as I, Seeing the sky Change to heaven revealed, and bid Earth reveal the heaven it hid All night long from stars and moon, Now the sun sets all in tune?

What within you wakes with day Who can say? All too little may we tell, Friends who like each other well, What might haply, if we might, Bid us read our lives aright.

II.

Wild on woodland ways your sires Flashed like fires ; Fair as flame and fierce and fleet As with wings on wingless feet Shone and sprang your mother, free, Bright and brave as wind or sea.

Free and proud and glad as they, Here to-day Rests or roams their radiant child, Vanquished not, but reconciled, Free from curb of aught above Save the lovely curb of love.

TO A CAT.

Love through dreams of souls divine Fain would shine Round a dawn whose light and song Then should right our mutual wrong— Speak, and seal the love-lit law Sweet Assisi's seer foresaw.

Dreams were theirs; yet haply may

Dawn a day When such friends and fellows born, Seeing our earth as fair at morn, May for wiser love's sake see More of heaven's deep heart than we.

HAWTHORN DYKE.

ALL the golden air is full of balm and bloom

Where the hawthorns line the shelving dyke with flowers.

Joyous children born of April's happiest hours,

- High and low they laugh and lighten, knowing their doom
- Bright as brief—to bless and cheer they know not whom,
 - Heed not how, but washed and warmed with suns and showers
 - Smile, and bid the sweet soft gradual banks and bowers

Thrill with love of sunlit fire or starry gloom.

HAWTHORN DYKE.

203

All our moors and lawns all round rejoice; but here All the rapturous resurrection of the year

Finds the radiant utterance perfect, sees the word Spoken, hears the light that speaks it. Far and near, All the world is heaven : and man and flower and bird Here are one at heart with all things seen and heard.

THERE were twa brethren fell on strife ; Sweet fruits are sair to gather : The tane has reft his brother of life ; And the wind wears owre the heather.

There were twa brethren fell to fray; Sweet fruits are sair to gather : The tane is clad in a cloak of clay; And the wind wears owre the heather.

O loud and loud was the live man's cry, (Sweet fruits are sair to gather)

'Would God the dead and the slain were I !' And the wind wears owre the heather.

- O sair was the wrang and sair the fray,' (Sweet fruits are sair to gather)
 But liefer had love be slain than slay.' And the wind wears owre the heather.
- 'O sweet is the life that sleeps at hame,' (Sweet fruits are sair to gather)
- 'But I maun wake on a far sea's faem.' And the wind wears owre the heather.
- 'And women are fairest of a' things fair,' (Sweet fruits are sair to gather)'But never shall I kiss woman mair.' And the wind wears owre the heather.

Between the birk and the aik and the thorn (Sweet fruits are sair to gather) He's laid his brother to lie forlorn :

And the wind wears owre the heather.

Between the bent and the burn and the broom (Sweet fruits are sair to gather) He's laid him to sleep till dawn of doom : And the wind wears owre the heather.

He's tane him owre the waters wide, (Sweet fruits are sair to gather) Afar to fleet and afar to bide : And the wind wears owre the heather.

His hair was yellow, his cheek was red,(Sweet fruits are sair to gather)When he set his face to the wind and fled :And the wind wears owre the heather.

His banes were stark and his een were bright (Sweet fruits are sair to gather)When he set his face to the sea by night : And the wind wears owre the heather.

His cheek was wan and his hair was grey (Sweet fruits are sair to gather)When he came back hame frae the wide world's way : And the wind wears owre the heather.

His banes were weary, his een were dim, (Sweet fruits are sair to gather) And nae man lived and had mind of him : And the wind wears owre the heather.

O whatten a wreck wad they seek on land ' (Sweet fruits are sair to gather)
That they houk the turf to the seaward hand ?' And the wind wears owre the heather.

"O whatten a prey wad they think to take" (Sweet fruits are sair to gather)

'That they delve the dykes for a dead man's sake?' And the wind wears owre the heather. A bane of the dead in his hand he's tane ; Sweet fruits are sair to gather : And the red blood brak frae the dead white bane. And the wind wears owre the heather.

He's cast it forth of his auld faint hand ;Sweet fruits are sair to gather :And the red blood ran on the wan wet sand.And the wind wears owre the heather.

'O whatten a slayer is this,' they said, (Sweet fruits are sair to gather)
'That the straik of his hand should raise his dead?' And the wind wears owre the heather.

O weel is me for the sign I take '
(Sweet fruits are sair to gather)
That now I may die for my auld sin's sake.'
And the wind wears owre the heather.

For the dead was in wait now fifty year,'

(Sweet fruits are sair to gather)

And now shall I die for his blood's sake here.'

And the wind wears owre the heather.

Now who will speak, and lie not,

And pledge not life, but give? Slaves herd with herded cattle : The dawn grows bright for battle, And if we die, we die not ; And if we live, we live.

The faith our fathers fought for,

The kings our fathers knew, We fight but as they fought for : We seek the goal they sought for,

The chance they hailed and knew, The praise they strove and wrought for, To leave their blood as dew On fields that flower anew.

Men live that serve the stranger ; Hounds live that huntsmen tame : These life-days of our living Are days of God's good giving Where death smiles soft on danger

And life scowls dark on shame.

And what would you do other, Sweet wife, if you were I ? And how should you be other, My sister, than your brother,

If you were man as I, Born of our sire and mother, With choice to cower and fly,

And chance to strike and die?

No churl's our oldworld name is,

The lands we leave are fair : But fairer far than these are, But wide as all the seas are, But high as heaven the fame is That if we die we share.

Our name the night may swallow, Our lands the churl may take : But night nor death may swallow, Nor hell's nor heaven's dim hollow, The star whose height we take, The star whose light we follow For faith's unfaltering sake Till hope that sleeps awake. Soft hope's light lure we serve not, Nor follow, fain to find :

Dark time's last word may smite her Dead, ere man's falsehood blight her : But though she die, we swerve not,

Who cast not eye behind.

Faith speaks when hope dissembles :

Faith lives when hope lies dead : If death as life dissembles, And all that night assembles Of stars at dawn lie dead,

Faint hope that smiles and trembles May tell not well for dread : But faith has heard it said.

Now who will fight, and fly not, And grudge not life to give ? And who will strike beside us, If life's or death's light guide us ? For if we live, we die not,

And if we die, we live.

THE sea swings owre the slants of sand, All white with winds that drive The sea swirls up to the still dim strand, Where nae man comes alive.

At the grey soft edge of the fruitless surf A light flame sinks and springs ; At the grey soft rim of the flowerless turf A low flame leaps and clings.

What light is this on a sunless shore,What gleam on a starless sea?Was it earth's or hell's waste womb that boreSuch births as should not be?

- As lithe snakes turning, as bright stars burning, They bicker and beckon and call ; As wild waves churning, as wild winds yearning, They flicker and climb and fall.
- A soft strange cry from the landward rings— 'What ails the sea to shine?'
 - A keen sweet note from the spray's rim springs— 'What fires are these of thine ?'
 - A soul am I that was born on earth

For ae day's waesome span :

Death bound me fast on the bourn of birth Ere I were christened man.

'A light by night, I fleet and fare Till the day of wrath and woe ;On the hems of earth and the skirts of air Winds hurl me to and fro.'

O well is thee, though the weird be strange That bids thee flit and flee ;For hope is child of the womb of change, And hope keeps watch with thee.

'When the years are gone, and the time is come God's grace may give thee grace ;And thy soul may sing, though thy soul were dumb, And shine before God's face.

'But I, that lighten and revel and roll With the foam of the plunging sea, No sign is mine of a breathing soul That God should pity me.

'Nor death, nor heaven, nor hell, nor birth Hath part in me nor mine :Strong lords are these of the living earth And loveless lords of thine.

But I that know nor lord nor life More sure than storm or spray,
Whose breath is made of sport and strife,
Whereon shall I find stay?'

And wouldst thou change thy doom with me, Full fain with thee would I :For the life that lightens and lifts the sea Is more than earth or sky.

'And what if the day of doubt and doom Shall save nor smite not me?

I would not rise from the slain world's tomb If there be no more sea.

'Take he my soul that gave my soul, And give it thee to keep ; And me, while seas and stars shall roll Thy life that falls on sleep.'

That word went up through the mirk mid sky, And even to God's own ear : And the Lord was ware of the keen twin cry, And wroth was he to hear.

He 's tane the soul of the unsained child That fled to death from birth ; He 's tane the light of the wan sea wild, And bid it burn on earth.

He 's given the ghaist of the babe new-born The gift of the water-sprite, To ride on revel from morn to morn And roll from night to night.

He 's given the sprite of the wild wan seaThe gift of the new-born man,A soul for ever to bide and beWhen the years have filled their span.

When a year was gone and a year was come,

O loud and loud cried they-

'For the lee-lang year thou hast held us dumb Take now thy gifts away !'

O loud and lang they cried on him,And sair and sair they prayed :'Is the face of thy grace as the night's face grim For those thy wrath has made?

A cry more bitter than tears of men
From the rim of the dim grey sea ;—
' Give me my living soul again,
The soul thou gavest me,
The doom and the dole of kindly men,
To bide my weird and be !'

A cry more keen from the wild low land Than the wail of waves that roll ;—
' Take back the gift of a loveless hand, Thy gift of doom and dole,
The weird of men that bide on land ; Take from me, take my soul !'

The hands that smite are the hands that spare They build and break the tomb ; They turn to darkness and dust and air The fruits of the waste earth's womb ; But never the gift of a granted prayer,

The dole of a spoken doom.

Winds may change at a word unheard, But none may change the tides : The prayer once heard is as God's own word ; The doom once dealt abides.

And ever a cry goes up by day,

And ever a wail by night ; And nae ship comes by the weary bay But her shipmen hear them wail and pray,

And see with earthly sight The twofold flames of the twin lights play Where the sea-banks green and the sea-floods grey Are proud of peril and fain of prey, And the sand quakes ever; and ill fare they That look upon that light.

-

1893.

THE sea of the years that endure not Whose tide shall endure till we die And know what the seasons assure not, If death be or life be a lie, Sways hither the spirit and thither, A waif in the swing of the sea Whose wrecks are of memories that wither As leaves of a tree.

We hear not and hail not with greeting

The sound of the wings of the years, The storm of the sound of them beating,

That none till it pass from him hears :

But tempest nor calm can imperil The treasures that fade not or fly ; Change bids them not change and be sterile, Death bids them not die.

Hearts plighted in youth to the royal High service of hope and of song, Sealed fast for endurance as loyal,

And proved of the years as they throng, Conceive not, believe not, and fear not

That age may be other than youth ; That faith and that friendship may hear not

And utter not truth.

Not yesterday's light nor to-morrow's Gleams nearer or clearer than gleams, Though joys be forgotten and sorrows Forgotten as changes of dreams,

The dawn of the days unforgotten That noon could eclipse not or slay, Whose fruits were as children begotten Of dawn upon day.

The years that were flowerful and fruitless, The years that were fruitful and dark, The hopes that were radiant and rootless, The hopes that were winged for their mark, Lie soft in the sepulchres fashioned Of hours that arise and subside, Absorbed and subdued and impassioned, In pain or in pride.

But far in the night that entombs them The starshine as sunshine is strong, And clear through the cloud that resumes them Remembrance, a light and a song,

Rings lustrous as music and hovers As birds that impend on the sea, And thoughts that their prison-house covers Arise and are free.

Forgetfulness deep as a prison Holds days that are dead for us fast Till the sepulchre sees rearisen The spirit whose reign is the past, Disentrammelled of darkness, and kindled With life that is mightier than death, When the life that obscured it has dwindled And passed as a breath.

But time nor oblivion may darken

Remembrance whose name will be joy While memory forgets not to hearken, While manhood forgets not the boy 225

Who heard and exulted in hearing The songs of the sunrise of youth Ring radiant above him, unfearing And joyous as truth.

Truth, winged and enkindled with rapture
And sense of the radiance of yore,
Fulfilled you with power to recapture
What never might singer before—
The life, the delight, and the sorrow
Of troublous and chivalrous years
That knew not of night or of morrow,

Of hopes or of fears.

But wider the wing and the vision

That quicken the spirit have spread Since memory beheld with derision

Man's hope to be more than his dead.

From the mists and the snows and the thunders Your spirit has brought for us forth Light, music, and joy in the wonders And charms of the north.

The wars and the woes and the glories That quicken and lighten and rain From the clouds of its chronicled stories, The passion, the pride, and the pain, Whose echoes were mute and the token Was lost of the spells that they spake, Rise bright at your bidding, unbroken Of ages that break.

For you, and for none of us other,

Time is not : the dead that must live Hold commune with you as a brother By grace of the life that you give.

The heart that was in them is in you, Their soul in your spirit endures : The strength of their song is the sinew Of this that is yours.

Hence is it that life, everlasting
As light and as music, abides
In the sound of the surge of it, casting
Sound back to the surge of the tides,
Till sons of the sons of the Norsemen
Watch, hurtling to windward and lee,
Round England, unbacked of her horsemen,
The steeds of the sea.

PRINTED BY SPOTTISWOODE AND CO., NEW-STREET SQUARE LONDON



A List of Books Published by CHATTO & WINDUS 214, Piccadilly, London, W.

ABOUT. — THE FELLAH: An Egyptian Novel. By EDMOND ABOUT. Translated by Sir RANDAL ROBERTS. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

ADAMS (W. DAVENPORT), WORKS BY.
A DICTIONARY OF THE DRAMA. Being a comprehensive Guide to the Plays
Playwrights, Players, and Playhouses of the United Kingdom and America
Crown 8vo half-bound, 12s. 6d. [Preparing. OUIPS AND OUIDDITIES. Selected by W. D. ADAMS. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d.
AGONY COLUMN (THE) OF "THE TIMES," from 1800 to 1870.
Edited, with an Introduction, by ALICE CLAY. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2. 6d.
AIDE (HAMILTON), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each.
CARR OF CARRLYON. CONFIDENCES.
ALBERTBROOKE FINCHLEY'S DAUGHTER. By MARY ALBERT.
Post 8vo, plcture boards, 2s.; cloth limp, 2s. 6d.
ALDEN A LOST SOUL. By W. L. ALDEN. Fcap. 8vo, cl. bds., 1s. 6d.
ALEXANDER (MRS.), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each.
MAID, WIFE, OR WIDOW? VALERIE'S FATE.
ALLEN (F. M.)GREEN AS GRASS. By F. M. ALLEN, Author of
"Through Green Glasses." Frontispiece by J. SMYTH, Cr. 8vo, cloth ex., 3v. 6d.
ALLEN (GRANT), WORKS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. each.
THE EVOLUTIONIST AT LARGE. COLIN CLOUT'S CALENDAR.
Crown Svo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each; post Svo, illustrated boards, 2s. each.
CIOWI SVO, CIOLI CALLA, SS. UL SACI ; DOSI SVO, INGSITATED DOARDS, SS. BALIGHTED
BABYLON. THE DEVIL'S DIE. THE DUCHESS OF
STRANGE STORIES. THIS MORTAL COIL. POWYSLAND.
BECKONING HAND. THE TENTS OF SHEM. BLOOD ROYAL.
PHILISTIA. IN ALL SHADES. DUMARESO'S DAUGHTER. BABYLON. THE DEVIL'S DIE. THE DUCHESS OF STRANGE STORIES. THIS MORTAL COIL. POWYSLAND. BECKONING HAND. THE TENTS OF SHEM. BLOOD ROYAL. FOR MAIMIE'S SAKE. THE GREAT TABOO. IN
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each.
IVAN GREET'S MASTERPIECE, &c. With a Frontispiece by STANLEY L. WOOD.
THE SCALLYWAG. With a Frontispiece.
DR. PALLISER'S PATIENT. Fcap. 8vo, cloth extra, 1s. 6d.
ARCHITECTURAL STYLES, A HANDBOOK OF. By A. ROSENGAR-
TEN. Translated by W. COLLETT-SANDARS. With 639 Illusis. Cr. 8vo, cl. ex., 7s. 6d.
ART (THE) OF AMUSING: A Collection of Graceful Arts, GAMES,
Tricks, Puzzles, and Charades. By FRANK BELLEW. 300 Illusts. Cr. 8vo, cl. ex., 4s.6d.
ARNOLD (EDWIN LESTER), WORKS BY.
THE WONDERFUL ADVENTURES OF PHRA THE PHENICIAN. With 12 Illusts.
by H. M. PAGET. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.; post 8vo, illust. boards, 2s.
THE CONSTABLE OF ST. NICHOLAS. With a Frontispiece by STANLEY WOOD, Crown Svo, cloth, 3s. Gd.
BIRD LIFE IN ENGLAND. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s.
ARTEMUS WARD'S WORKS. With Portrait and Facsimile. Crown

8vo, cloth extra, **7*. 6d.**—Also a POPULAR EDITION, post 8vo, picture boards, **2*. THE CENIAL SHOWMAN:** Life and Adventures of ARTEMUS WARD. By EDWARD P. HINGSTON. With a Frontispiece. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, **3s. 6d.**

ASHTON (JOHN), WORKS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d. each. HISTORY OF THE CHAP-BOOKS OF THE 48th CENTURY. With 334 Illusts. SOCIAL LIFE IN THE REIGN OF QUEEN ANNE. With 85 Illustrations. HUMOUR, WIT, AND SATIRE OF SEVENTEENTH CENTURY. With 82 Illusts. ENGLISH CARICATURE AND SATIRE ON NAPOLEON THE FIRST. 115 Illusts. MODERN STREET BALLADS. With 57 Illustrations.
BACTERIA, YEAST FUNGI, AND ALLIED SPECIES, A SYNOPSIS OF. By W. B. GROVE, B.A. With 87 Illustrations, Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.
BARDSLEY (REV. C. W.), WORKS BY. ENGLISH SURNAMES: Their Sources and Significations. Cr. 8vo, cloth, 7s. 6d. CURIOSITIES OF PURITAN NOMENCLATURE. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6is.
BARING GOULD (S., Author of "John Herring," &c.), NOVELS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. RED SPIDER.
BARR (ROBERT: LUKE SHARP), STORIES BY. Cr. 8vo, cl., 3s. 6d. ed. IN A STEAMER CHAIR. With Frontispiece and Vignette by DEMAIN HAMMOND. FROM WHOSE BOURNE, &c. With 47 Illustrations.
BARRETT (FRANK, Author of "Lady Biddy Fane,") NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each: cloth, 2s. 6d. each. FETTERED FOR LIFE. THE SIN OF OLGA ZASSOULICH. BETWEEN LIFE AND DEATH. FOLLY MORRISON. HONEST DAVIE. LITTLE LADY LINTON. BARRETT (FRANK, Author of "Lady Biddy Fane,") NOVELS BY. A PRODIGAL'S PROGRESS. JOHN FORD; and HIS HELPMATE. A RECOILING VENGEANCE. LITTLE LADY LINTON. FOR LOVE AND HONOUR.
THE WOMAN OF THE IRON BRACELETS. Three Vols., crown 8vo. BEACONSFIELD, LORD. By T. P. O'CONNOR, M.P. Cr. 8vo, cloth, 5s.
BEAUCHAMP. – GRANTLEY GRANGE: A Novel. By SHELSLEY BEAUCHAMP. – Post Svo, illustrated boards, 29.
BEAUTIFUL PICTURES BY BRITISH ARTISTS: A Gathering from
the Picture Galleries, engraved on Steel. Imperial 4to, cloth extra, gilt edges, 21s. BECHSTEIN.—AS PRETTY AS SEVEN, and other German Stories.
Collected by LUWIG BECKTEIN. With Additional Tales by the Brothers GRIMM, and 98 Illustrations by Richter. Square 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. 6d.; gilt edges, 7s. 6d.
BEERBOHM WANDERINGS IN PATAGONIA; or, Life among the Ostrich Hunters. By JULIUS BEERBOHM. With Illusts. Cr. 8vo, cl. extra, 3s. 6d.
BENNETT (W. C., LL.D.), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2*. each. A BALLAD HISTORY OF ENGLAND. SONGS FOR SAILORS.
BESANT (WALTER), NOVELS BY.
DESANT (WALLER), NOVELS D1. Cr. 8vo, cl. ex., 3s. 6d. each, post 8vo, illust, bds., 2s. each; cl. limp, 2s. 6d. each, ALL SORTS AND CONDITIONS OF MEN. With Illustrations by FRED, BARNARD. THE CAPTAINS' ROOM, &c. With Frontispicce by E. J. WHEELER. ALL IN A GARDEN FAIR. With 6 Illustrations by HARY FURNISS. DOROTHY FORSTER. With Frontispicce by CHARLES GREEN. UNCLE JACK and other Stories.
ALL IN A GARDEN FAIR. With 6 Illustrations by HARRY FURNISS.
UNCLE JACK, and other Stories. CHILDREN OF GIBEON.
THE WORLD WENT VERY WELL THEN. With 12 Illustrations by A. FORESTIER, HERR PAULUS: His Rise, his Greatness, and his Fall.
FOR FAITH AND FREEDOM. With Illustrations by A. FORESTIER and F. WADDY.
THE BELL OF ST. PAUL'S.
DOROTHY FORSTER. With Frontispiece by CHARLES GREEN. UNCLE JACK, and other Stories. GHILDREN OF GIBEON. THE WORLD WENT VERY WELL THEN. With 12 Illustrations by A. FORESTIER. HERR PAULUS: HIS Rise, bis Greatness, and his Fall. FOR FAITH AND FREEDOM. With Illustrations by A. FORESTIER and F. WADDY. TO CALL HER MINE, &c. With 9 Illustrations by A. FORESTIER. THE BELL OF ST. PAUL'S. THE HOLY ROSE, &c. With Frontispiece by F. BARNARD. ARMOREL OF LYONESE: A ROMANCE WITH 12 Illusts, by F. BARNARD. ST. KATHERINE'S BY THE TOWER. With 12 page Illustrations by C. GREEN. YERBENA CAMELLIA STEPHANOTIS, &c. THE IYORY GATE: A Novel. FIFTY YEARS AGO. WITH 14 Places and WONGCITS. CTOWN BY COMPARING AS
VERBENA CAMELLIA STEPHANOTIS, &c. THE IVORY GATE: A Novel.
THE EULOGY OF RICHARD JEFFERIES. With Portrait. Cr. Svo. cl. evtra 6a.
LONDON. With 124 Illustrations. Demy 8vo, cloth extra, 15s. BIR RICHARD WHITTINGTON. Frontispiece. Crown 8vo, Irish Linen, 3s. 6d. GASPARD DE COLIGNY. With a Portrait. Crown 8vo, Irish linen, 3s. 6d.
THE REBEL QUEEN: A Novel. Three Vols., crown 8vo.
WALTER BESANT: A Study. By JOHN UNDERHILL. With Photograph Portraits. Crown 8vo, Irlsh linen, 6s. [Shorily.

CHAITO & WINDUS, 214, PICCADILLT. 3
BESANT (WALTER) AND JAMES RICE, NOVELS BY. Cr. 8vo. cl. ex. 3s. 6d. each : post 8vo, illust. bds., 2s. each: cl. limp, 2s. 6d. each. READY-MONEY MORTIBOY. MY LITTLE GIRL. WITH HARP AND CROWN. THIS SON OF YULGAN. THE GOLDEN BUTTERFLY. THE MONKS OF THELEMA. ** There is also a LIBRARY EDITION of the above Tweive Volumes, handsome.y set in new type, on a large crown 8vo page, and bound in cloth extra. 6s. each.
BEWICK (THOMAS) AND HIS PUPILS. By AUSTIN DOBSON. With 95 Illustrations. Square 8vo, cloth extra, 6s.
BIERCE. — IN THE MIDST OF LIFE: Tales of Soldiers and Civilians, By AMBROSE BIERCE. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*.
BLACKBURN'S (HENRY) ART HANDBOOKS. ACADEMY NOTES, separate years, from 1875-1887, 1889-1892, each 1s. ACADEMY NOTES, 1873-79. Complete in One Vol., with 600 Illusts. Cloth limp, 6s. ACADEMY NOTES, 1878-79. Complete in One Vol., with 600 Illusts. Cloth limp, 6s. ACADEMY NOTES, 1880-84. Complete in One Vol., with 700 Illusts. Cloth limp, 6s. GROSVENOR NOTES, 580-84. Complete in One Vol., with 700 Illusts. Cloth limp, 6s. GROSVENOR NOTES, 500. I., 1877-82. With 300 Illusts. Demy 8vo, cloth limp, 6s. GROSVENOR NOTES, Vol. I., 1883-87. With 300 Illusts. Demy 8vo, cloth limp, 6s. GROSVENOR NOTES, Vol. II., 1883-87. With 300 Illusts. Demy 8vo, cloth limp, 6s. GROSVENOR NOTES, Vol. II., 1883-87. With 301 Illusts. Demy 8vo, cloth limp, 6s. GROSVENOR NOTES, Vol. II., 1888-890. With 230 Illusts. Demy 8vo, cloth, 6s. THE NEW GALLERY, 1893-1892. With numerous Illustrations, each 1s. THE NEW GALLERY, 1001. Illustrations. 1s. THE NEW GALLERY, 1001. Illustrations. 1s. CLD MASTERS AT THE NATIONAL GALLERY. 114 Illustrations. 1s. OLD MASTERS AT THE NATIONAL GALLERY. 124 Illusts. 6d. ILLUSTRATED CATALOGUE TO THE NATIONAL GALLERY. 242 Illusts. cl., 3s.
THE NEW GALLERY, 1888-1892. With numerous Illustrations, each 1s. THE NEW GALLERY, 1893. With Illustrations. 1s. THE NEW GALLERY, Vol. I., 1863-1892. With 250 Illusts. Demy 8vo, cloth, 6s. ENGLISH PICTURES AT THE NATIONAL GALLERY, 174 Illustrations. 1s. OLD MASTERS AT THE NATIONAL GALLERY, 174 Illustrations. 1s. GILUSTRATED CATALOGUE TO THE NATIONAL GALLERY, 242 Illustrations. 1s. THE PARIS SALON, 1893. With Facsimile Sketches. 3s. THE PARIS SOCIETY OF FINE ARTS, 1893. With Sketches. 3s. 6d.
BLAKE (WILLIAM): India-proof Etchings from his Works by WILLIAM BELL SCOTT. With descriptive Text. Folio, half-bound boards, 21s.
BLIND (MATHILDE). Poems by. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5s. each. THE ASCENT OF MAN. DRAMAS IN MINIATURE. With a Frontispiece by FORD MADOX BROWN. SONGS AND SONNETS. Fcap. 8vo, vellum and gold.
BOURNE (H. R. FOX), WORKS BY. ENGLISH MERCHANTS: Memoirs in Illustration of the Progress of British Com- merce. With numerous Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7*. 6d. ENGLISH NEWSPAPERS: The History of Journalism. Two Volsdemy 8vo, cl., 25*. THE OTHER SIDE OF THE EMIN PASHA RELIEF EXPEDITION. Cr. 8vo, 6*.
BOWERS.—LEAVES FROM A HUNTING JOURNAL. By GEORGE Bowers. Oblong folio, half-bound, 21s.
BOYLE (FREDERICK), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 28. each. CHRONICLES OF NO-MAN'S LAND. CAMP NOTES. SAVAGE LIFE.
BRAND'S OBSERVATIONS ON POPULAR ANTIQUITIES; chiefly Illustrating the Origin of our Vulgar Customs, Ceremonies, and Superstitions. With the Additions of Sir HENRY ELLIS, and Illustrations. Cr. 8vo. cloth extra, 7*. 6d.
BREWER (REV. DR.), WORKS BY. THE READER'S HANDBOOK OF ALLUSIONS, REFERENCES, PLOTS, AND STORIES. Fliteenth Thousand: Crown Svo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d. AUTHORS AND THEIR WORKS, WITH THE DATES: Being the Appendices to "The Reader's Handbook," separately printed. Crown Svo, cloth limp, 2s. A DICTIONARY OF MIRACLES. Crown Svo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.
BREWSTER (SIR DAVID), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl. ex., 4s. 6d. each. MORE WORLDS THAN ONE: Creed of Philosopher and Hope of Christian. Plates. THE MARTYRS OF SCIENCE: GALLEO, TYCHO BRAHE, and KEPLER. With Portraits. LETTERS ON NATURAL MAGIC. With numerous Illustrations.
BRILLAT-SAVARINGASTRONOMY AS A FINE ART. By BRILLAT-

BRILLAI-SAVARIN.—GASIRUNUMI AS A FINE ART. By BRILLAT-SAVARIN, Translated by R. E. Anderson, M.A. Post Svo, half-bound, 2s.

BOOKS PUBLISHED BY BRET HARTE, WORKS BY. KET HARTE, WURKS BI. LIBRARY EDITION. In Seven Volumes, crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. each. BRET HARTE'S COLLECTED WORKS. Arranged and Revised by the Anthor. Vol. 1, COMPLETE POETICAL AND DRAMATIC WORKS. With Steel Portrait. Vol. 11, LUCK OF ROARING CAMP-DEOHEMIAN PAFERS-AMERICAN LEGENDS. Vol. 11I, TALES OF THE ARGONAUTS-EASTERN SKETCHES. Vol. IV. GABRIEL CONROY. | Vol. V. STORIES-CONDENSED NOVELS, &c. Vol. VI. TALES OF THE PACIFIC SLOPE. Vol.VII. TALES OF THE PACIFIC SLOPE. Vol.VII. TALES OF THE PACIFIC SLOPE. THE SELECT WORKS OF BRET HARTE, in Prose and Poetry With Introductory Essay by J. M. BELLEW, Portrait of Author, and 50 Illusts. Cr.8vo, cl. ex. 7s. 6d. BRET HARTE'S POETICAL WORKS. Hand-made paper & buckram. Cr.8vo, 4s. 6d. THE QUEEN OF THE PIRATE ISLE. With 28 original Drawings by KATE GREENAWAY, reproduced in Colours by EDMUND EVANS. Small 4to, cloth, 5s. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each. A WAIF OF THE PLAINS. With 60 Illustrations by STANLEY L. Wood. A WARD OF THE GOLDEN GATE. With 59 Illustrations by STANLEY L. Wood. A SAPPHO OF GREEN SPRINGS, &c. With You Illustrations by HUME NISBET. COLONEL STARBOTTLE'S CLIENT, AND SOME OTHER PEOPLE. With a Frontispiece by FRED. BARNARD. SUSY: A Novel. With Frontispiece and Vignette by J. A. CHRISTIE, SALLY DOWS, &c. With 47 Illustrations by W. D. ALMOND, &c. A PROTÉGÉE OF JACK HAMLIN'S. With 25 Illustrations by A. S. Boyn, &c. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. THE LUCK OF ROARING CAMP, &c. ED DOG, &c. CALIFORNIAN STORIES. GABRIEL CONROY. AN HEIRESS OF RED DOG, &c. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each; cloth limp. 2s. 6d. each. MARUJA. | A PHYLLIS OF THE SIERRAS. FLIP. Fcap. 8vo. picture cover, 1s. each. THE TWINS OF TABLE MOUNTAIN. | JEFF BRIGGS'S LOVE STORY. SNOW-BOUND AT EAGLE'S. BRYDGES.-UNCLE SAM AT HOME. By HAROLD BRYDGES. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. ; cloth limp, 2s. 6d. BUCHANAN'S (ROBERT) WORKS. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, Us. each. SELECTED POEMS OF ROBERT BUCHANAN. With Frontispiece by T. DALZIEL. THE EARTHQUAKE; or, Six Days and a Sabbath. THE CITY OF DREAM: An Epic Poem. With Two Illustrations by P. MACNAB. THE WANDERING JEW: A Christmas Carol. Second Edition. THE OUTCAST: A Rhyme for the Time. With 15 Illustrations by RUDOLF BLIND, PETER MACNAB, and HUME NISBET. Small demy 8vo, cloth extra, Ss. ROBERT BUCHANAN'S COMPLETE POETICAL WORKS. With Steel-plate Por-Crown 8vo, clothextra, 7s. 6d. trait. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. THE SHADOW OF THE SWORD. A CHILD OF NATURE, Frontispiece. GOD AND THE MAN. With 11 Illus-THE NEW ABELARD. MATT: A Story of a Caravan. Front. THE MASTER OF THE MINE. Front. THE HEIR OF LINNE. trations by FRED. BARNARD. THE MARTYRDOM OF MADELINE. With Frontispiece by A. W. COOPER. WOMAN AND THE MAN. 2 vols., crown 8vo. BURTON (CAPTAIN). — THE BOOK OF THE SWORD: Being a History of the Sword and its Use in all Countries, from the Earliest Times. By RICHARD F. BURTON. With over 400 Illustrations. Demy 4to, cloth extra, 32s. BURTON (ROBERT). THE ANATOMY OF MELANCHOLY: A New Edition, with translations of the Classical Extracts. Demy 8vo. cloth extra. 78, 64. MELANCHOLY ANATOMISED Being an Abridgment, for popular use, of BURTON'S ANATOMY OF MELANCHOLY. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d. CAINE (T. HALL), NOVELS BY. Crown Svo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each; cloth limp, 2s. 6d. each; shadow of a CRIME. | A SON OF HAGAR. | THE DEEMSTER. CAMERON (COMMANDER). - THE CRUISE OF THE "BLACK PRINCE" PRIVATEER. By V. LOVETT CAMERON, R.N. POSTŠVO, BOArds, 28.

CAMERON (MRS. H. LOVETT), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illust. bds., 2s. each. JULIET'S GUARDIAN. | DECEIVERS EVER. CARLYLE (THOMAS) ON THE CHOICE OF BOOKS. With Life by R. H. SHEFHERD, and Three Illustrations. Post 8vo, cloth extra, 1s. 6d. CORRESPONDENCE OF THOMAS CARLYLE AND R. W. EMERSON, 1833 to 1872. Edited by C. E. NORTON. With Portraits. Two Vols., crown Svo, cloth, 25.

CARLYLE (JANE WELSH), LIFE OF. By Mrs. ALEXANDER IRELAND. With Portrait and Facsimile Letter. Small demy 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.

CHAPMAN'S (GEORGE) WORKS. Vol. I. contains the Plays complete, including the doubtful ones. Vol. II., the Poents and Minor Translations, with an lutroductory Essay by Alcersnon Charles SWINET RE. Vol. III., the Translations of the Iliad and Odyssey. Three Vols., crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. each.

CHATTO AND JACKSON .-- A TREATISE ON WOOD ENGRAVING. By W. A. CHATTO and J. JACKSON. With 450 fine Illusts. Large 4to, hf.-bd., 284.

CHAUCER FOR CHILDREN : A Golden Key. By Mrs. H. R. HAWEIS. With 8 Coloured Plates and 30 Woodcuts, Small 4to, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. CHAUGER FOR SCHOOLS. By Mrs. H. R. HAWEIS, Demy 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d.

CLARE.-FOR THE LOVE OF A LASS: A Tale of Tynedale. By AUSTIN CLARF. Post 8vo, picture boards, 2s.; cloth limp, 2s. 6d.

CLIVE (MRS. ARCHER), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illust. boards 2s. each. PAUL FERROLL. | WHY PAUL FERROLL KILLED HIS WIFE.

CLODD.-MYTHS AND DREAMS. By EDWARD Second Edition, Revised. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. By EDWARD CLODD, F.R.A.S.

COBBAN (J. MACLAREN), NOVELS BY. THE CURE OF SOULS. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. THE RED SULTAN. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. THE BURDEN OF ISABEL. Three Vols, crown 8vo.

COLEMAN (JOHN), WORKS BY. PLAYERS AND PLAYWRIGHTS I HAYE KNOWN. Two Vols., 8vo, cloth, 24s. CURLY: An Actor's Story. With 21 Illusts. by J. C. Dollman. Cr. 8vo, cl., 1s. 6d.

COLERIDGE.-THE SEVEN SLEEPERS OF EPHESUS. By M. E. COLERIDGE. Fcap. 8vo, cloth, 1s. 6d.

COLLINS (C. ALLSTON).-THE BAR SINISTER. Post 8vo, 2s.

COLLINS (MORTIMER AND FRANCES), NOVELS BY. Crown 8vo. cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each; post 8vo. illustrated boards, 2s. each. FROM MIDNIGHT TO MIDNIGHT. | BLACKSMITH AND SCHOLAR. TRANSMIGRATION. | YOU PLAY ME FALSE. | A YILLAGE COMEDY.

Post 8vo, Illustrated boards, 2%. each. SWEET ANNE PAGE. | FIGHT WITH FORTUNE. | SWEET & TWENTY. | FRANCES.

COLLINS (WILKIE), NOVELS BY. Cr. svo. cl. ex., 3s. 6d. each ; post 8vo, illust. bds., 2s. each ; cl. limp, 2s. 6d. each. ANTONINA. With a Frontispiece by Sir JOHN GILBERT, R.A. BASIL. Illustrated by Sir JOHN GILBERT, R.A., and J. MAHONEY. HIDE AND SEEK. Illustrated by Sir JOHN GILBERT, R.A., and J. MAHONEY. AFTER DARK. Illustrations by A. B. HOUGHTON. | THE TWO DESTINIES. THE DEAD SECRET. With a Frontispiece by Sir JOHN GILBERT, R.A. QUEEN OF HEARTS. With a Frontispiece by Sir JOHN GILBERT, R.A. THE WOMAN IN WHITE. With Illusts. by Sir J. GILBERT, R.A., and J. A. FRASER. NO NAME. With Illustrations by Sir J. GILBERT, R.A., and F. A. FRASER. MY MISCELLANIES. With a Steel-plate Portrait of WILKIE COLLINS. ARMADALE. With Illustrations by G. H. THOMAS. THE MOONSTONE. With Illustrations by G. DU MAURIER and F. A. FRASER. MAN AND WIFE. With Illustrations by G. DU MAURIER and EDWARD HUGHES. MISS OR MRS.? With Illustrated by G. DU MAURIER and C. S. REINHARDT. THE NEW MAGDALEN. Illustrated by G. DU MAURIER and C. S. REINHARDT. THE FROZEN DEEP. Illustrated by G. DU MAURIER and J. MAHONEY. THE LAW AND THE LADY. Illusts by S. L. FILDES, R.A., and SUDNEY HALL. THE FALLEN. LEADY. Illustrated by ASTLIN HORKINS. THE FALLEN LEADY. Illustrated by ASTLIN HORKINS. ANTONINA. With a Frontispiece by Sir JOHN GILBERT, R.A. THE LAW AND THE DADT. Indicated by ATTHUR HOPKINS. THE FALLEN LEAVES. HEART AND SCIENCE. ITHE EVIL GENIUS. JEZEBEL'S DAUGHTER. "I SAY NO." LITTLE NOVELS. THE BLACK ROBE. A ROGUE'S LIFE. THE LEGACY OF CAIN. BLIND LOVE. With Preface by WALTER BESANT, and HUSS. by A. FORESTIER.

COLLINS (JOHN CHURTON, M.A.), BOOKS BY. ILLUSTRATIONS OF TENNYSON. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. JONATHAN SWIFT: A Biographical and Critical Study. Crown 8vo, cloth extra 8s. 6

COLMAN'S (GEORGE) HUMOROUS WORKS: "Broad Grins," "My Nightgown and Slippers," &c. With Life and Frontis. Cr. 8vo. cl. extra, 7s. 6d.
COLQUHOUNEVERY INCH A SOLDIER: A Novel. By M. J. Colgunoux. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.
CONVALESCENT COOKERY: A Family Handbook. By CATHERINE RYAN. Crown 8vo, 1s.; cloth limp, 1s. 6d.
CONWAY (MONCURE D.), WORKS BY. DEMONOLOGY AND DEVIL-LORE. 65 Illustrations. Two Vols., 8vo, cloth 25s. A NECKLACE OF STORIES. 25 Illusts. by W. I. HENNESSY. Sq. 8vo, cloth, 6s. GEORGE WASHINGTON'S RULES OF CIVILITY. Fcap. 8vo, Jap. vellum, 2s. 6d.
COOK (DUTTON), NOVELS BY. PAUL FOSTER'S DAUGHTER. Cr. 8vo, cl. ex., 3s. Gd.; post 8vo, illust. boards, 2s. LEO. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.
COOPER (EDWARD H.)-GEOFFORY HAMILTON. Cr. 8vo, 3s. 6d.
CORNWALL.—POPULAR ROMANCES OF THE WEST OF ENG- LAND; or, The Drolls, Traditions, and Superstitions of Old Cornwall. Collected by ROBERT HUNT, F.R.S. Two Steel-plates by GEO. CRUIKSHANK. Cr. 8vo. cl., 7s. 6d.
COTES.—TWO GIRLS ON A BARGE. By V. CECIL COTES. With 44 Illustrations by F. H. TOWNSEND. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.
CRADDOCKTHE PROPHET OF THE GREAT SMOKY MOUN- TAINS. By CHARLES EGBERT CRADDOCK. Post 8vo, illust. bds., 28.; cl. limp, 28.6d.
CRELLIN (H. N.)-THE NAZARENES : A Drama. Crown 8vo, 1s.
CRIM.—ADVENTURES OF A FAIR REBEL. By MATT CRIM. With a Frontispiece. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.
CROKER (B.M.), NOVELS BY. Crown Svo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each; post Svo, illustrated boards, 2s. each; cloth limp, 2s. 6d. each. PRETTY MISS NEVILLE. A BIRD OF PASSAGE. A FAMILY LIKENESS. Crown Svo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each; post DIANA BARRINGTON. PROPER PRIDE. "TO LET."
CRUIKSHANK'S COMIC ALMANACK. Complete in Two SERIES: The FIRST from 1835 to 1843; the Second from 1844 to 1853. A Gathering of the BEST HUMOUR of THACKERAY, HOOD, MAYHEW, ALBERT SMITH, A'BECKETT, ROBERT BROUGH, &C. With numerous Steel Engravings and Woodcuts by CRUIK- SHANK, HINE, LANDELLS, &C. TWO VOLS., CrOWN 8VO, Cloth gilt, 7s. 6d. each. THE LIFE OF GEORGE CRUIKSHANK. BY BLANCHARD JERROLD, With 84 Illustrations and a Bibliography. Crown 8vo, Cloth extra, 7s. 6d.
CUMMING (C. F. GORDON), WORKS BY. Demy 8vo, cl. ex., Ss. 6d. each. IN THE HEBRIDES. With Autotype Facsimile and 23 Illustrations. IN THE HIMALAYAS AND ON THE INDIAN PLAINS. With 42 Illustrations. TWO HAPPY YEARS IN CEYLON. With 26 Illustrations. VIA CORNWALL TO EGYPT. With Photogravure Frontis. Demy 8vo, cl., 7s. 6d.
CUSSANS.—A HANDBOOK OF HERALDRY; with Instructions for Tracing Pedigrees and Deciphering Ancient MSS., &c. By JOHN E. CUSSANS. With 408 Woodcuts and 2 Coloured Plates. Fourth edition, revised. crown 8vo, cloth. 6s.
CYPLES(W.)-HEARTS of GOLD. Cr. 8vo, cl., 3s.6d.; post 8vo, bds., 2s.
DANIEL MERRIE ENGLAND IN THE OLDEN TIME. BY GEORGE DANIEL. With Illustrations by ROBERT CRUIKSHANK. Crown 8vo. cloth extra, 3s. 6d.
DAUDET. — THE EVANGELIST; or, Port Salvation. By ALPHONSE DAUDET. Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 3s. 6d.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.
DAVENANTHINTS FOR PARENTS ON THE CHOICE OF A PRO- FESSION FOR THEIR SONS. By F. DAVENANT, M.A. Post 8vo. 1s.; cl., 1s. 6d.
DAVIES (DR. N. E. YORKE-), WORKS BY. Cr. 8vo, 1s. ea.; cl., 1s. 6d. ea. ONE THOUSAND MEDICAL MAXIMS AND SURGICAL HINTS. NURSERV HINTS: A Mother's Guide in Health and Disease.

FOODS FOR THE FAT: A Treatise on Corpulency, and a Dietary for its Cure. AIDS TO LONG LIFE. Crown 8vo. 2s.; cloth limp, 2s. 6d. DAVIES' (SIR JOHN) COMPLETE POETICAL WORKS, for the first time Collected and Edited, with Memorial-Introduction and Notes, by the Rev. A. B. GROSART, D.D. Two Vols., crown 8vo, cloth boards, 128.

DAWSON.—THE FOUNTAIN OF YOUTH: A Novel of Adventure. By ERASMUS DAWSON, M.B. Edited by PAUL DEVON. With Two Illustrations by HUME NISBET. Crown 8vo. cloth extra, 3*. 6d.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*.

DE GUERIN.—THE JOURNAL OF MAURICE DE GUERIN. Edited by G. S. TREBUTIEN. With a Memoir by SAINTE-BEUVE. Translated from the 20th French Edition by JESSIE P. FROTHINGHAM. FCap, 8vo, half-bound, 2*. 6d.

DE MAISTRE.—A JOURNEY ROUND MY ROOM. By XAN MAISTRE. Translated by HENRY ATTWELL. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d. By XAVIER DE

With a DE MILLE.—A CASTLE IN SPAIN. By JAMES DE MILLE. Frontispiece. Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 3s. 6d.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

DERBY (THE).—THE BLUE RIBBON OF THE TURF: A Chronicle of the RACE FOR THE DERBY, from Diomed to Donovan. With Brief Accounts of THE OAKS. BY LOUIS HENRY CURZON. Crown 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d. THE OAKS.

DERWENT (LEITH), NOVELS BY. Cr. 8vo, cl., 3s. 6d. ea.; post 8vo, bds., 2s.ea. CIRCE'S LOVERS. OUR LADY OF TEARS.

DICKENS (CHARLES), NOVELS BY. SKETCHES BY BOZ. Post 8vo. illustrated boards, 2s. each. NICHOLAS NICKLEBY. THE PICKWICK PAPERS. OLIVER TWIST.

THE SPEECHES OF CHARLES DICKENS, 1841-1870. With a New Bibliography. Edited by Richard Herne Shepherd. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s.—Also a SMALLER EDITION, in the Maviair Library, post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d. ABOUT ENGLAND WITH DICKENS. By ALFRED RIMMER. With 57 Illustrations by C.A. VANDERHOOF, ALFRED RIMMER, and others. Sq. 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.

DICTIONARIES.

CTIONARIES.
A DICTIONARY OF MIRACLES: Imitative, Realistic, and Dogmatic. By the Rev. E. C. BREWER, LL.D. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.
THE READER'S HANDBOOK OF ALLUSIONS, REFERENCES, PLOTS, AND STORIES. By the Rev. E. C. BREWER, LL.D. With an ENGLISH BIBLIOGRAPHY. Fifteenth Thousand. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.
AUTHORS AND THEIR WORKS, WITH THE DATES. Cr. 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. FAMILIAR SHORT SAYINGS OF GREAT MEN. With Historical and Explanatory Notes. By SAMUEL A. BENT, A.M. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.
SLANG DICTIONARY: Etymological, Historical, and Anecdotal. Cr. 8vo, cl., 6s. 6d.
WOMEN OF THE DAY: A Biographical Dictionary. By F. HAYS. Cr. 8vo, cl., 6s. 6d.
WORDS, FACTS, AND PHRASES: A Dictionary of Curious, Quaint, and Out-ot-the-Way Matters. By ELIEZER EDWARDS. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.

DIDEROT.—THE PARADOX OF ACTING. Translated, with Annota-tions, from Diderot's "Le Paradoxe sur le Comédien." by WALTER HERRIES POLLOCK. With a Preface by HENRY IRVING. Crown 8vo, parchment, 4s. 6d.

DOBSON (AUSTIN), WORKS BY. THOMAS BEWICK & HIS PUPILS. With 95 Illustrations. Square 8vo, cloth. 6s. FOUR FRENCHWOMEN. With 4 Portraits. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6s. EIGHTEENTH CENTURY VIGNETTES. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6s.-A SECOND SERIES, unlform in size and price, is now in preparation.

DOBSON (W. T.)-POETICAL INGENUITIES AND ECCENTRICI-TIES. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d.

DONOVAN (DICK), DETECTIVE STORIES BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each: cloth limp, 2s. 6d. each. THE MAN-HUNTER. | WANTED! A DETECTIVE'S TRIUMPHS. CAUGHT AT LAST! IN THE CRIP OF THE LAW. TRACKED AND TAKEN. FROM INFORMATION RECEIVED. WHO POISONED HETTY DUNCAN? LINK BY LINK. SUSPICION AROUSED.

Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 64. each : post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each ; cloth limp, 2*. 64. each. THE MAN FROM MANCHESTER. With 23 Illustrations.

TRACKED TO DOOM. With 6 full-page Illustrations by GORDON BROWNE.

DOYLE (CONAN). - THE FIRM OF GIRDLESTONE. By A. CONAN DOYLE, Author of "Micah Clarke." Crown &vo, cloth extra, 38. 6d.

DRAMATISTS, THE OLD. With Vignette Portraits. Cr. 8vo, cl. ex., 6*, per Vol. BEN JONSON'S WORKS. With Notes Critical and Explanatory, and a Bio-graphical Memoir by WM. GIFFORD. Edited by Col. CUNNINGHAM. Three Vols. CHAPMAN'S WORKS. Complete in Three Vols. Vol. I, contains the Plays COMPARANCE COMPLETE IN THE VOIS, VOIS, L'OUTAINS HE FLASS COMPLETE, VOI, IL, POEMS and Minor Translations, with an Introductory Essay by A. C. SWINBURNE; Vol, III., Translations of the Iliad and Odyssey. MARLOWE'S WORKS. Edited, with Notes, by Col. CUNNINGHAM. One Vol. MASSINGER'S PLAYS. From GIFFORD'S TEXT. Edit by Col. CUNNINGHAM. OneVol.

DUNCAN (SARA JEANNETTE), WORKS BY.

Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d. each. A SOCIAL DEPARTURE: How Orthodocia and I Went round the World by Ourselves. With 11 Illustrations by F. H. Townsend. AN AMERICAN GIRL IN LONDON. With 80 Illustrations by F. H. Townsend. THE SIMPLE ADVENTURES OF A MEMSAHIB. Illustrated by F. H. Townsend.

A DAUGHTER OF TO-DAY. Two Vols., crown 8vo. [Shorily.

DYER .- THE FOLK-LORE OF PLANTS. By Rev. T. F. THISELTON DYER, M.A. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s.

EARLY ENGLISH POETS. Edited, with Introductions and Annota-tions, by Rev. A. B. GROSART, D.D. Crown 8vo, cloth boards, 6s., per Volume. FLETCHER'S (GILES) COMPLETE POEMS. One Vol. DAVIES' (SIR JOHN) COMPLETE POEMS. One Vol. HERRICK'S (ROBERT) COMPLETE POETICAL WORKS. Three Vols. SIDNEY'S (SIR PHILIP) COMPLETE POETICAL WORKS. Three Vols.

EDGCUMBE. —ZEPHYRUS: A Holiday in Brazil and on the River Plate. By E. R. PEARCE EDGCUMBE. With 41 Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5s.

EDWARDES (MRS. ANNIE), NOVELS BY: A POINT OF HONOUR. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. ARCHIE LOYELL. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. Gd.; post 8vo, illust. boards, 2s.

EDWARDS (ELIEZER).—WORDS, FACTS, AND PHRASES: A Dictionary of Curious, Quaint, and Out-of-the-Way Matters. By ELIEZER EDWARDS. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.

EDWARDS (M. BETHAM-), NOVELS BY. KITTY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.; cloth limp, 2s. 6d. FELICIA. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

EGERTON .- SUSSEX FOLK & SUSSEX WAYS. By Rev. J. C. EGERTON. With Introduction by Rev. Dr. H. WACE, and 4 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo, cloth ex., 5s.

EGGLESTON (EDWARD).-ROXY : A Novel. Post 8vo, illust. bds., 2s.

ENGLISHMAN'S HOUSE, THE: A Practical Guide to all interested in Selecting or Building a House; with Estimates of Cost, Quantities, &c. By C. J. RICHARDSON. With Coloured Frontispiece and 600 Illusts. Crown 8vo, cloth, 7s. Gd.

EWALD (ALEX. CHARLES, F.S.A.), WORKS BY. THE LIFE AND TIMES OF PRINCE CHARLES STUART, Count of Albany (THE YOUNG PRETENDER). With a Portrait. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d. STORIES FROM THE STATE PAPERS. With an Autotype. Crown 8vo, cloth, 6is.

EYES, OUR: How to Preserve Them from Infancy to Old Age. By JOHN BROWNING, F.R.A.S. With 70 Illusts. Eighteenth Thousand. Crown 8vo, 18.

FAMILIAR SHORT SAYINGS OF GREAT MEN. By SAMUEL ARTHUR BENT, A.M. Fifth Edition, Revised and Enlarged. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.

FARADAY (MICHAEL), WORKS BY, Post 8vo, cloth extra, 4s. 6d. each.
 THE CHEMICAL HISTORY OF A CANDLE: Lectures delivered before a Juvenile Audience. Edited by WILLIAN CROOKES, F.C.S. With numerous Illustrations.
 ON THE VARIOUS FORCES OF NATURE, AND THEIR RELATIONS TO EACH OTHER. Edited by WILLIAM CROOKES, F.C.S. With Illustrations.

FARRER (J. ANSON), WORKS BY. MILITARY MANNERS AND CUSTOMS. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. WAR: Three Essays, reprinted from "Military Manners." Cr. 8vo, 1s.; cl., 1s. Gd.

FENN (G. MANVILLE), NOVELS BY. THE NEW MISTRESS. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.; post 8vo, illust. boards, 2s. WITNESS TO THE DEED. Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 3s. 6d. THE TIGER LILY: A Tale of Two Passions. Two Vols.

FIN-BEC.—THE CUPBOARD PAPERS: Observations on the Art of Living and Dining. By FIN-BEC. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d.

FIREWORKS, THE COMPLETE ART OF MAKING; or, The Pyrotechnist's Treasury. By THOMAS KENTISH. With 267 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo, cl., 5s.

FITZGERALD (PERCY, M.A., F.S.A.), WORKS BY. THE WORLD BEHIND THE SCENES. Crown Svo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. LITTLE ESSAYS: Passages from Letters of CHARLES LAMB. Post Svo, cl., 2s. 6d. A DAY'S TOUR: Journey through France and Belgium. With Sketches, Cr. 4to, 1s. FATAL ZERO. Crown Svo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.: post Svo, illustrated boards, 2s.

Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. BELLA DONNA. | LADY OF BRANTOME. | THE SECOND MRS. TILLOTSON. POLLY. | NEVER FORGOTTEN. | SEVENTY-FIVE BROOKE STREET. LIFE OF JAMES BOSWELL (of Auchinteck). With an Account of his Sayings, Doings, and Writings; and Four Portraits. Two Vols, demy 8vo, cloth, 24s. THE SAYOY OPERA. With numerous Illustrations and a Pottrait. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. [Shortly.

FLAMMARION (CAMILLE), WORKS BY. POPULAR ASTRONOMY: A General Description of the Heavens. By CAMILLE FLAMMARION, Translated by J. ELLARD GORE, F.R.A.S. With nearly 3co Illus-trations. Medium 8vo, cloth extra, 16s. URANIA: A Romance, Translated by A. R. STETSON. With 87 Illustrations

by DE BIELER, MYRBACH, &c. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5s.

FLETCHER'S (GILES, B.D.) COMPLETE POEMS: Christ's Victorie in Heaven, Christ's Victorie on Earth, Christ's Triumph over Death, and Minor Poems. With Notes by Rev. A. B. GROSART, D.D. Crown 8vo, cloth boards, (is.

FONBLANQUE (ALBANY) .- FILTHY LUCRE. Post 8vo, illust. bds., 2s.

FRANCILLON (R. E.), NOVELS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each: post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. ONE BY ONE. | QUEEN COPHETUA. | A REAL QUEEN. | KING OR KNAVE?

Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each. SAND. A DOG AND HIS SHADOW.

ROPES OF SAND.

OLYMPIA. Post 8vo, illust. bds., 2s., ESTHER'S GLOVE. Fcap. 8vo, pict. cover, 1s. ROMANCES OF THE LAW. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

FREDERIC (HAROLD), NOVELS BY. SETH'S BROTHER'S WIFE. Post 8vo, illust. bds., 2s. each. THE LAWTON GIRL.

FRENCH LITERATURE, A HISTORY OF. By HENRY VAN LAUN. Three Vols., demy 8vo, cloth boards, 7s. Gd. each.

FRERE.—PANDURANG HARI; or, Memoirs of a Hindoo. With Preface by Sir BARTLE FRERE. Crown 8vo, cloth, 3s. 6d.; post 8vo, illust. bds., 2s. With Pre-

FRISWELL (HAIN). -ONE OF TWO: A Novel. Post 8vo, illust. bds., 2s.

FROST (THOMAS), WORKS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each. CIRCUS LIFE AND CIRCUS CELEBRITIES. | LIVES OF THE CONJURERS. THE OLD SHOWMEN AND THE OLD LONDON FAIRS.

FRY'S (HERBERT) ROYAL GUIDE TO THE LONDON CHARITIES. Showing their Name, Date of Foundation, Objects, Income, Officials, &c. Edited by JOHN LANE. Published Annually. Crown 8vo, cloth, 1*. 6d.

GARDENING BOOKS. Post 8vo. 1s. each; cloth limp, 1s. 6d. each. A YEAR'S WORK IN GARDEN AND GREENHOUSE. By GEORGE GLENNY. HOUSEHOLD HORTICULTURE. By TOM and IANE JERROLD. Illustrated. THE OARDEN THAT PAID THE RENT. By TOM JERROLD. OUR KITCHEN GARDEN. By TOM JERROLD. Crown 8vo, cloth, 1s. 6d.

MY GARDEN WILD. By FRANC'S G. HEATH. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, G.

GARRETT .- THE CAPEL GIRLS: A Novel. By EDWARD GARRETT. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

GAULOT. — THE RED SHIRTS: A Story of the Revolution. By PAUL GAULOT. Translated by J. A. J. DE VILLIERS. Crown Svo, cloth, 3s. 6d. [Shortly.

NTLEMAN'S MAGAZINE, THE. 15. Monthly. In addition to Articles upon subjects in Literature. Science, and Art, "TABLE TALK" by Syt-vANUS URBAN, and "PAGES ON PLAYS" by JUSTIN H. MCCARTHY, appear monthly. "." Bound Volumes for recent years kept in stock. S. Gid. each. Cases for binding. 28. MAGAZINE, THE. GENTLEMAN'S

GENTLEMAN'S ANNUAL, THE. Published Annually in November. 1s.

GERMAN POPULAR STORIES. Collected by the Brothers GRIMM and Translated by EDGAR TAYLOR. With Introduction by JOHN RUSKIN, and 22 Steel Plates after GEORGE CRUIKSHANK. Square 8vo, cloth, 6s. 6d. ; gilt edges, 7s. 6d.
CIPPON (CHAPLES) NOVELS BY
Crown &vo. cloth extra. 38, 6d, each: post &vo. illustrated boards, 28, each.
GIBBON (CHARLES), NOVELS BY. Crown byo, cloth extra, 3×. 64. each; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. ROBIN GRAY. LOVING A DREAM. THE GOLDEN SHAFT. THE FLOWER OF THE FOREST. OF HIGH DEGREE.
Post avo, illustrated boards, 2s. each.
THE DEAD HEART. IN LOVE AND WAR. FOR LACK OF GOLD. A HEART'S PROBLEM.
WHAT WILL THE WORLD SAY? BY MEAD AND STREAM.
FOR THE KING, A HARD KNGT, THE BRAES OF YARROW.
OUEEN OF THE MEADOW. IN PASTURES GREEN. FANCY FREE. IN HONOUR BOUND. HEART'S DELIGHT. BLOOD-MONEY.
GIBNEY (SOMERVILLE).—SENTENCED! Cr. 8vo, 1s.; cl., 1s. 6d.
GILBERT (WILLIAM), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards. 2*. each. DR. AUSTIN'S GUESTS. JAMES DUKE, COSTERMONGER.
THE WIZARD OF THE MOUNTAIN.
GILBERT (W. S.), ORIGINAL PLAYS BY. Two Series, 2s. 6d. each.
The FIRST SERIES contains: The Wicked World-Pygmalion and Galatea-
Charity—The Princess—The Palace of Truth—Trial by Jury. The SECOND SERIES: Broken Hearts—Engaged—Sweethearts—Gretchen—Dan'l
Druce-Tom Cobb-H.M.S. "Pinafore"-The Sorcerer-Pirates of Penzance.
EIGHT ORIGINAL COMIC OPERAS written by W. S. GILBERT. Containing: The Sorcerer-H.M.S. "Pinafore"-Pirates of Penzance-Iolanthe-Patience-
Princess Ida—The Mikado—Trial by Jury. Demy 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d. THE "GILBERT AND SULLIVAN" BIRTHDAY BOOK: Quotations for Every
THE "GILBERT AND SULLIVAN" BIRTHDAY BOOK: Quotations for Every
Day in the Year, Selected from Plays by W. S. GILBERT set to Music by Sir A. SULLIVAN. Compiled by ALEX. WATSON. Royal 16mo, Jap. leather, 2s. 6d.
CIANULLE CONFICUENT, NOUEL C. D.V.
GLANVILLE (ERNEST), NOVELS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d. each; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*. each. THE LOST HEIRESS: A Tale of Love, Battle, and Adventure. With 2 Illusts, THE FOSSICKER: A Romance of Mashonaland. With 2 Illusts, by Hume Nisber.
THE LOST HEIRESS: A Tale of Love Battle, and Advenue With a Illust
THE FOSSICKER: A Romance of Mashonaland. With a Illusts, by Hume Nisser.
A FAIR COLONIST. With a Frontispiece. Cr. 8vo, cl. extra, 3s. 6d.
GLENNY A YEAR'S WORK IN GARDEN AND GREENHOUSE:
Practical Advice to Amateur Gardeners as to the Management of the Flower, Fruit,
Practical Advice to Amateur Gardeners as to the Management of the Flower, Fruit, and Frame Garden. By GEORGE GLENNY. Post 8vo. 1s.; cloth limp, 1s. 6d.
GODWINLIVES OF THE NECROMANCERS. By WILLIAM GOD-
win. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s.
GOLDEN TREASURY OF THOUGHT, THE: An Encyclopædia of QUOTATIONS. Edited by THEODORE TAYLOR. Crown 8vo, cloth gilt, 7s. 6d.
GOODMANTHE FATE OF HERBERT WAYNE. By E. J. GOOD- MAN, Author of "Too Curious." Crown 8vo, cloth, 38. 6d.
GOWING -FIVE THOUSAND MILES IN A SLEDGE . A Midwinter
GOWING. — FIVE THOUSAND MILES IN A SLEDGE: A Midwinter Journey Across Siberia. By LIONEL F. GOWING. With 30 Illustrations by C. J. UREN, and a Map by E. WELLER. Large crown 8vo, cloth extra, Ss.
GRAHAM THE PROFESSOR'S WIFE: A Story By LEONARD GRAHAM. FCAP. 8vo, picture cover, 1s.
GREEKS AND ROMANS, THE LIFE OF THE, described from
Antique Monuments. By ERNST GUHL and W. KONER. Edited by Dr. F. HUEFFER. With 545 Illustrations. Large crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.
GREENWOOD (JAMES), WORKS BY. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each. THE WILDS OF LONDON. LOW-LIFE DEEPS.
GREVILLE (HENRY), NOVELS BY: NIKANOR. Translated by ELIZA E. CHASE. With 8 Illustrations. Crown 8vo,
cloth extra, 68.; post 8vo, illustrated boards. 28.
cloth extra, 65.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. A NOBLE WOMAN. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5s.; post 8vo, illustrated boards. 2s.
GRIFFITHCORINTHIA MARAZION: A Novel. By CECIL GRIF-
FITH. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.
GRUNDY THE DAYS OF HIS VANITY : A Passage in the Life of
a Young Man. By Sygney GRUNDY. Crown Svo, cloth extra, 3 . 6d,

CHATTO & WINDOS, 214, PICCADILLY. II
HABBERTON (JOHN, Author of "Helen's Babies"), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards 2s. each; cloth limp, 2s. 6d. each. BRUETON'S BAYOU.
HATD MUT TO THE TY HAT THE A
HAIR, THE: Its Treatment in Health, Weakness, and Disease. Trans- lated from the German of Dr. J. PINCUS. Crown 8vo, 18.; cloth, 18. 6d.
HAKE (DR. THOMAS GORDON), POEMS BY. Cr. 8vo, cl. ex., 6s. each.
NEW SYMBOLS. LEGENDS OF THE MORROW. THE SERPENT PLAY. MAIDEN ECSTASY. Small 4to, cloth extra, Ss.
HALLSKETCHES OF IRISH CHARACTER. By Mrs. S. C. Hall.
With numerous Illustrations on Steel and Wood by MACLISE, GILBERT, HARYEY, and GEORGE CRUIKSHANK. Medium Svo, cloth extra, 78. 6d.
HALLIDAY (ANDR.)EVERY-DAY PAPERS. Post 8vo, bds., 2s.
HANDWRITING, THE PHILOSOPHY OF. With over 100 Facsimiles
and Explanatory Text. By DON FELIX DE SALAMANCA. Post 8vo. cloth limp. 2*. 6d. HANKY-PANKY · Facy Tricks White Magic Sleight of Hand &c.
HANKY-PANKY: Easy Tricks, White Magic, Sleight of Hand, &c. Edited by W. H. CREMER. With 200 Illustrations. Crown 8vo. cloth extra. 4. 6d.
HARDY (LADY DUFFUS) PAUL WYNTER'S SACRIFICE. 2s.
HARDY (THOMAS) UNDER THE GREENWOOD TREE. By THOMAS HARDY, Author of "Tess." With Portrait and 15 Illustrations. Crown 8vo. cloth extra. 3s. 6d.; post 8vo, illustrated boards. 2s.; cloth limp, 2s. 6d.
HARPER (CHARLES G) WORKS BY Demy Syo cloth extra 16s each
HARPER (CHARLES G.), WORKS BY. Demy 8vo, cloth extra, 16s. each. THE BRIGHTON ROAD. With Photogravure Frontispiece and 90 Illustrations. FROM PADDINGTON TO PENZANCE: The Record of a Summer Tramp. 105 Illusts.
HARWOOD.—THE TENTH EARL. By J. BERWICK HARWOOD. Post svo, illustrated boards, 2x.
HAWEIS (MRS. H. R.), WORKS BY. Square 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. each.
HAWEIS (MRS. H. R.), WORKS BY. Square 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. each. THE ART OF BEAUTY. With Coloured Frontispiece and 9t Illustrations. THE ART OF DECORATION. With Coloured Frontispiece and 74 Illustrations.
THE ART OF DRESS. With 32 Illustrations. Post 8vo, 1s.; cloth, 1s. 6d. CHAUGER FOR SCHOOLS. Demy 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d.
CHAUGER FOR CHILDREN. 38 Illusts. (8 Coloured). Sm. 4to, cl. extra, 3s. 6d.
HAWEIS (Rev. H. R., M.A.) AMERICAN HUMORISTS : WASHINGTON
IRVING. OLIVER WENDELL HOLMES, JAMES RUSSELL LOWELL, ARTEMUS WARD, MARK TWAIN, and BRET HARTE. Third Edition. Crown 8vo. cloth extra. 65.
HAWLEY SMARTWITHOUT LOVE OR LICENCE: A Novel. By
HAWLEY SMART. Crown 8vo. cloth extra, 3x. 6d. ; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2x.
HAWTHORNE OUR OLD HOME. By NATHANIEL HAWTHORNE.
Annotated with Passages from the Author's Note-book, and Illustrated with 31 Photogravures. Two Vols., crown 8vo. buckram, gilt top, 15s.
HAWTHORNE (JULIAN), NOVELS BY.
Crown Svo, cloth extra, 34. 64. each; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 28. each.
GARTH. ELLICE QUENTIN. BEATRIX RANDOLPH. DUST. SEBASTIAN STROME. DAVID POINDEXTER.
FORTUNE'S FOOL. THE SPECTRE OF THE CAMERA.
MISS CADOGNA. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2%. each. LOVE_OR A NAMP. MRS. GAINSBOROUGH'S DIAMONDS. Fcap. 8vo. illustrated cover, 1%.
HEATHMY GARDEN WILD, AND WHAT I GREW THERE.
By FRANCIS GEORGE HEATH. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, gilt edges, Ga.
HELPS (SIR ARTHUR), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d. each. ANIMALS AND THEIR MASTERS. SOCIAL PRESSURE.
IVAN DE BIRON: A Novel. Cr. 8vo, cl. extra, 3s. 6d.; post 8vo, illust. bds., 2s.
HENDERSON.—AGATHA PAGE: A Novel. By ISAAC HENDERSON. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.
HENTYRUJUB, THE JUGGLER. By G. A. HENTY. With 8 Illus-
trations by STANLEY L. Wood. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, gilt edges, 5s.
HERMAN.—A LEADING LADY. By HENRY HERMAN, joint-Author of "The Bishops' Bible." Post 8vo, Illustrated boards, 2s.; cloth extra, 2s. 6d.

12

4 . 5

HERRICK'S (ROBERT) HESPERIDES, NOBLE NUMBERS, AND COMPLETE COLLECTED POEMS. With Memorial-Introduction and Notes by the Rev. A. B. GROSART, D.D.; Steel Portrait, &c. Three Vols., crown 8vo, cl. bds., 15s. HERTZKA.-FREELAND: A Social Anticipation. By Dr. 7 HERTZKA. Translated by ARTHUR RANSOM. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. By-Dr. THEODOR HESSE-WARTEGG.-TUNIS: The Land and the People. By Chevalier ERNST VON HESSE-WARTEGG. With 22 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. HILL (HEADON).—ZAMBRA THE DETECTIVE. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.; cloth, 2s. 6d. By HEADON HILL. HILL (JOHN, M.A.), WORKS BY. TREASON-FELONY. Post 8vo, 2*. THE COMMON ANCESTOR. Three Vols. HINDLEY (CHARLES), WORKS BY. TAVERN ANECDOTES AND SAVINGS: Including Reminiscences connected with Coffee Houses, Clubs, &c. With Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth, 3s. 6d. THE LIFE AND ADVENTURES OF A CHEAP JACK. Cr. 8vo, cloth ex., 3s. 6d. HOEY.-THE LOVER'S CREED. By Mrs. CASHEL HOEY. Post 8vo, 2s. HOLLINGSHEAD (JOHN).-NIAGARA SPRAY. Crown 8vo, 1s. HOLMES.—THE SCIENCE OF VOICE PRODUCTION AND VOICE PRESERVATION. By GORDON HOLMES, M.D. Crown Svo, 1s.; cloth, 1s. 6d. HOLMES (OLIVER WENDELL), WORKS BY. THE AUTOCRAT OF THE BREAKFAST-TABLE. Illustrated by J. GORDON THOMSON. Post 8vo, cloth limp. 28. 6d. - Another Edition, post 8vo, cloth, 3*. THE AUTOCRAT OF THE BREAKFAST-TABLE and THE PROFESSOR AT THE BREAKFAST-TABLE. In One Vol. Post 8vo, half-bound, 2s. HOOD'S (THOMAS) CHOICE WORKS, in Prose and Verse. With Life of the Author, Portrait, and 200 Illustrations. Crown Svo, cloth extra, 7*. Gd. HOOD'S WHIMS AND ODDITIES. With 85 Illusts. Post 8vo, half-bound, 2*. HOOD (TOM) .- FROM NOWHERE TO THE NORTH POLE: A Noah's Arkæological Narrative. By Tom Hoon. With 25 Illustrations by W. BRUNFON and E. C. BARNES. Square 8vo, cloth extra, gilt edges, Gs. HOOK'S (THEODORE) CHOICE HUMOROUS WORKS; including his Ludicrous Adventures, Bons Mots, Puns, and Hoaxes. With Life of the Author, Portraits, Facsimiles, and Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d. HOOPER.-THE HOUSE OF RABY: A Novel.' By Mrs. GEORGE HOOPER. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 28. HOPKINS .- "'TWIXT LOVE AND DUTY :" A Novel. By TIGHE HOPKINS. Post 8vo. illustrated boards, 28. HORNE. - ORION: An Epic Poem. By RICHARD HENGIST HORNE. With Photographic Portrait by SUMMERS. Tenth Edition. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra. 7. HUNGERFORD (MRS.), Author of "Molly Bawn," NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each; cloth ling, 2s. 6d. each. A MAIDEN ALL FORLORN. IN DURANCE VILE. A MENTAL STRUGGLE. MARVEL. LADY YERNER'S FLIGHT. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. THE RED-HOUSE MYSTERY. Two Vols., crown 8vo. HUNT.-ESSAYS BY LEIGH HUNT: A TALE FOR A CHIMNEY CORNER. &c. Edited by EDMUND OLLIER. Post 8vo, printed on laid paper and half-bd., 2s. HUNT (MRS. ALFRED), NOVELS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d, each: post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. THE LEADEN CASKET. | SELF-CONDEMNED. | THAT OTHER PERSON. THORNICROFT'S MODEL. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. MRS. JULIET. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. HUTCHISON .- HINTS ON COLT-BREAKING. By W. M. HUTCHISON. With 25 Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. HYDROPHOBIA: An Account of M. PASTEUR'S System; Technique of his Method, and Statistics. By RENAUD SUZOR, M.B. Crown 8vo. cloth extra, Gs. **IDLER (THE):** A Monthly Magazine. Edited by JEROME K. JEROME and ROBERT E. BARR. Profusely Illustrated. Sixpence Monthly. The first Four VOLUMES are now ready, cloth extra, 5s. each ; Cases for Binding, 1s. Gd.

INGELOW (JEAN)FATED TO BE FREE. Post 8vo, illustrated bds., 28.
INDOOR PAUPERS. By ONE OF THEM. Crown 8vo, 1s.; cloth, 1s. 6d.
INNKEEPER'S HANDBOOK (THE) AND LICENSED VICTUALLER'S MANUAL. By J. TREVOR-DAVIES. Crown 8vo, Js.; cloth, 1s. 66d.
IRISH WIT AND HUMOUR, SONGS OF. Collected and Edited by A. PERCEVAL GRAVES. Post 8vo. cloth limp. 2s. 6d.
JAMES A ROMANCE OF THE QUEEN'S HOUNDS. By CHARLES JAMES. Post 8vo, picture cover, 1s.; cloth limp, 1s. 6d.
JAMESON MY DEAD SELF. By WILLIAM JAMESON. Post 8vo, illustrate i boards, 2s.; cloth, 2s. 6d.
JANVIER. — PRACTICAL KERAMICS FOR STUDENTS. By CATHERINE A JANVIER. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s.
JAPP. – DRAMATIC PICTURES, SONNETS, &c. By A. H. JAPP, LL.D. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5s.
JAY (HARRIETT), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*. each. THE DARK COLLEEN. THE QUILEN OF CONNAUGHT.
JEFFERIES (RICHARD), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2*. 6id. each. NATURE NEAR LONDON. THE LIFE OF THE FIELDS. THE GPEN AIR. ** Also the HAND-MADE PAPER EDITION, crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*. each.
THE EULOGY OF RICHARD JEFFERIES. By WALTER BESANT. Second Edi- tion With a Photograph Portrait, Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s.
JENNINGS (H. J.), WORKS BY. CURIOSITIES OF CRITICISM. Post Svo, cloth limp, 2*. 6d. LORD TENNYSON: A Biographical Sketch. With a Photograph. Cr. 8vo, cl., 6*.
JEROME STAGELAND. By JEROME K. JEROME. With 64 Illustra- tions by J. BERNARD PARTRIDGE. Square 8vo, picture cover, 1s.; cloth limp, 2s.
JERROLD, THE BARBER'S CHAIR; & THE HEDGEHOG LETTERS. By DOUGLAS JERROLD. Post 8vo, printed on laid paper and half-bound, 2«.
JERROLD (TOM), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, 1s. each; cloth limp, 1s. 64. each. THE GARDEN THAT PAID THE RENT.
HOUSEHOLD HORTICULTURE: A Gossip about Flowers, Illustrated, OUR KITCHEN GARDEN: The Plants, and How we Cook Them. Cr. 8vo, cl., 1s. Gd.
JESSE SCENES AND OCCUPATIONS OF A COUNTRY LIFE. By EDWARD JESSE. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 28.
IONES (WILLIAM ESA) WORKS BY Crave of extra 74 fid each
Illustrations. Second Edition, Revised and Enlarged. CREDULITIES, PAST AND PRESENT. Including the Sea and Seamen, Miners,
FINGER-RING LORE: Historical, Legendary, and Ancedotal. With nearly 300 Illustrations. Second Edition, Revised and Enlarged, CREDULITIES, PAST AND PRESENT. Including the Sea and Seamen, Miners, Talismans, Word and Letter Divination, Exorcising and Blessing of Animals, Birds, Eggs, Luck, &c. With an Etched Frontispiece. CROWNS AND CORONATIONS: A History of Regalia. With no Illustrations.
JONSON'S (BEN) WORKS. With Notes Critical and Explanatory, and a Biographical Memoir by WILLIAM GIFFORD. Edited by Colonel CUNNING- HAM. Three Vols., crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. each.
JOSEPHUS, THE COMPLETE WORKS OF. Translated by WHISTON. Containing "The Antiquities of the Jews" and "The Wars or the Jews." With 52 Illustrations and Maps. Two Vols., demy 8vo, half-bound, 12*. 6d.
KEMPT. — PENCIL AND PALETTE : Chapters on Art and Artists. By ROBERT KEMPT. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2*. 6d.
KERSHAW COLONIAL FACTS AND FICTIONS : Humorous Sketches. By MARK KERSHAW. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2%, ; cloth. 2*. 6d.
KEYSER CUT BY THE MESS: A Novel. By ARTHUR KEYSER. Crown 8vo, picture cover, 1s.; cloth limp, 1s. 6d.
KING (R. ASHE), NOVELS BY. Cr. 8vo, cl., 3s. 6d. ea.; post 8vo, bds., 2s. ea. A DRAWN GAME. "THE WEARING OF THE GREEN."
Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*, each. PASSION'S SLAYE, BELL BARRY.

KNIGHT. -- THE PATIENT'S VADE MECUM: How to Get Most Benefit from Medical Advice. By WILLIAM KNIGHT, M.R.C.S., and EDWARD KNIGHT, L.R.C.P. Crown 8vo, 1s.; cloth limp, 1s. 6d.

KNIGHTS (THE) OF THE LION : A Romance of the Thirteenth Century. Edited. with an Introduction, by the MARQUESS of LORNE, K.T. Cr. 8vo. cl. ex. 6s.

LAMB'S (CHARLES) COMPLETE WORKS, in Prose and Verse, including "Poetry for Children" and "Prince Dorns." Edited, with Notes and Introduction, by R. H. SHEPHERD, With Two Portraits and Facsimile of a page of the "Essay on Reast Pig." Crown 8vo, half-bound, 7s. 6d.
 THE ESSAYS OF ELIA. Post 8vo, printed on laid paper and half-bound, 2s.
 LITTLE ESSAYS. Sketches and Characters by CHARLES LAMB, selected from his Letters by PERCV FITZGERALD. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d.
 THE DRAMATIC ESSAYS OF CHARLES LAMB. With Introduction and Notes by BRANDER MATTHEWS, and Steel-plate Portrait. Fcap. 8vo, hf.-bd., 2s. 6dd.

LANDOR.-CITATION AND EXAMINATION OF WILLIAM SHAKS-PEARE, &c., before Sir THOMAS LUCY, touching Dect-stealing, 19th September, 1582. To which is added, A CONFERENCE OF MASTER EDMUND SPENSER with the Earl of Essex, touching the State of Ireland, 1595. By WALTER SAVAGE LANDOR. Fcap. 8vo, half-Roxburghe, 2s. 6d.

LANE, --THE THOUSAND AND ONE NIGHTS, commonly called in England THE ARABIAN NIGHTS' ENTERTAINMENTS. Translated from the Arabic, with Notes, by EDWARD WILLIAM LANE. Illustrated by many hundred Engravings from Designs by HARVEY. Edited by EDWARD STANLEY POOLE. With a Preface by STANLEY LANE-POOLE. Three Vols., demy 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d. each.

LARWOOD (JACOB), WORKS BY. THE STORY OF THE LONDON PARKS. With Illusts. Cr. 8vo, cl. extra, 3s. 6d. ANECDOTES OF THE CLERGY: The Antiquities, Humours, and Eccentricities of the Cloth. Post 8vo, printed on laid paper and half-bound, 2s. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d. each.

THEATRICAL ANECDOTES. FORENSIC ANECDOTES.

LEHMANN.—HARRY FLUDYER AT CAMBRIDGE. By R. C. LEH MANN. Post 8vo, 1s.; cloth, 1s. Gd.

LEIGH (HENRY S.), WORKS BY. CAROLS OF COCKAYNE. Printed on hand-made paper, bound in buckram, 5s. JEUX D'ESPRIT. Edited by HENRY S. LEIGH. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d.

LEYS (JOHN). - THE LINDSAYS : A Romance. Post 8vo, illust. bds., 2s.

LIFE IN LONDON; or, The History of JERRY HAWTHORN and COR-INTHIAN TOM. With CRUIKSHANK'S Coloured Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d. [New Edition preparing.

LINTON (E. LYNN), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. Gd. each. OURSELVES: ESSAYS ON WOMEN. WITCH STORIES.

Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d. each; PATRICIA KEMBALL. | IONE. ATONEMENT OF LEAM DUNDAS. THE WORLD WELL LOST.

post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. UNDER WHICH LORD? "MY LOYE!" | SOWING THE WIND. PASTON CAREW, Millionaire & Miser. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each.

THE REBEL OF THE FAMILY. WITH A SILKEN THREAD.

THE ONE TOO MANY. Three Vols., crown Svo.

FREESHOOTING : Extracts from Works of Mrs. L. LINTON. Post 8vo, cl., 2s. Gd.

LONGFELLOW'S POETICAL WORKS. With numerous Illustrations on Steel and Wood. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.

LUCY .- GIDEON FLEYCE: A Novel. By HENRY W. LUCY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. Gd.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

MACALPINE (AVERY), NOVELS BY.

TERESA ITASCA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 1s. BROKEN WINGS. With 6 Illusts. by W. J. HENNESSY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 6s. MACCOLL (HUGH), NOVELS BY. MR. STRANGER'S SEALED PACKET. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

EDNOR WHITLOCK. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s.

MACDONELL.-QUAKER COUSINS : A Novel. By Agnes MACDONELL. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. ; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

 MCCARTHY (JUSTIN, M.P.), WORKS BY.
 A HISTORY OF OUR OWN TIMES, from the Accession of Queen Victoria to the General Election of 1880. Four Vols, demy 8vo, cloth extra, 12*. each.—Also a PoruLar EDITION, in Four Vols, or own 8vo, cloth extra, 6*. each.—And a JUBILEE EDITION, with an Appendix of Events to the end of 1886, in Two Vols, large crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7*. édd. each.
 A SHORT HISTORY OF OUR OWN TIMES. One Vol., crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6*. -Also a CHEAP POPULAR EDITION, post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. Gd. A HISTORY OF THE FOUR GEORGES. Four Vo's, demy 8vo, cloth extra, 12s. each, [Vols. I. & II. ready. Cr. 8vo, cl. extra, 3*. 6d. each; post evo, illust. bds.. 2*. each; cl. limp, 2*. 6d. each. THE WATERDALE NEIGHBOURS. | MISS MISANTHROPE. MY ENEMY'S DAUGHTER. DONNA QUIXOTE. THE COMET OF A SEASON. A FAIR SAXON. LINLEY ROCHFORD. MAID OF ATHENS. CAMIOLA: A Girl with a Fortune. DEAR LADY DISDAIN. THE DICTATOR. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. RED DIAMONDS. Three Vols., crown 8vo. "THE RIGHT HONOURABLE." By JUSTIN MCCARTHY, M.P., and Mrs. CAMPBELL-PRAED. Fourth Edition. Crown 8vo. cloth extra. 64. McCARTHY (JUSTIN H.), WORKS BY. THE FRENCH REVOLUTION. Four Vols. 8vo. 12s. each. [Vols. I. & II. ready. AN OUTLINE OF THE HISTORY OF IRELAND. Crown 8vo, 1s.; cloth, 1s. 6d. IRELAND SINCE THE UNION : Irish History, 1798-1886. Crown 8vo, cloth, 6s. HAFIZ IN LONDON : Poems. Small 8vo, gold cloth, 3s. 6d. HARLEQUINADE : Poems. Small 4to, Japanese vellum, Ss. OUR SENSATION NOVEL. Crown 8vo, picture cover, 1s.; cloth limp, 1s. 6d. DOOM! An Atlantic Episode. Crown 8vo, picture cover, 1s. DOLLY: A Sketch. Crown 8vo, picture cover, 1s.; cloth limp, 1s. 6d. LILY LASS: A Romance. Crown 8vo, picture cover, 1s.; cloth limp, 1s. 6d. THE THOUSAND AND ONE DAYS: Persian Tales. With 2 Photogravures by STANLEY L. WOOD. Two Vols., crown 8vo, half-bound, 12s. MACDONALD (GEORGE, LL.D.), WORKS BY. WORKS OF FANCY AND IMAGINATION. Ten Vols., cl. extra, gilt edges, in cloth case. 21.4. Or the Vols, may be had separately, in grolier cl, at 2.5. 6d. each. I. WITHIN AND WITHOUT.—THE HIDDEN LIFE. II. THE DISCIPLE.—THE GOSPEL WONKEN.—BOOK OF SONNETS.—ORGAN SONGS., III. VIOLIN SONGS.—SONGS OF THE DAYS AND NIGHTS.—A BOOK OF DREAMS.— Vol. ... ROADSIDE POEMS.-POEMS FOR CHILDREN. " IV. PARABLES.—BALLADS.—SCOTCH SONGS. "V. & VI. PHANTASTES: A Faerie Romance. | Vol. VII. THE PORTENT. "VIII. THE LIGHT PRINCESS .- THE GIANT'S HEART .- SHADOWS. " IX. CROSS PURPOSES.—THE GOLDEN KEY.—THE CARASOYN.—LITTLE DAYLIGHT " X. THE CRUEL PAINTER.—THE WOW O' RIVVEN.—THE CASTLE.—THE BROKEN SWORDS .- THE GRAY WOLF .- UNCLE CORNELIUS. POETICAL WORKS OF GEORGE MACDONALD. Collected and arranged by the Author. 2 vols.. crown 8vo, buckram, 12s. A THREEFOLD CORD. Edited by GEORGE MACDONALD. Post 8vo, cloth, 5 ... HEATHER AND SNOW: A Novel. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. MACGREGOR. - PASTIMES AND PLAYERS: Notes on Popular Games. By ROBERT MACGREGOR. Post 8vo. cloth limp, 2s. 6d. MACKAY .- INTERLUDES AND UNDERTONES; or, Music at Twilight. By CHARLES MACKAY, LL.D. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6x. MACLISE PORTRAIT GALLERY (THE) OF ILLUSTRIOUS LITER-ARY CHARACTERS: 85 PORTRAITS: with Memoirs — Biographical, Critical, Bibliographical, and Anecdetal—illustrative of the Literature of the former half of the Present Century, by WILLIAM BATES, B.A. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7*. 64. MACQUOID (MRS.), WORKS BY. Square 8vo, cloth extra, 7*. 6d. each. IN THE ARDENNES. With 50 IUustrations by THOMAS R. MACQUOID PICTURES AND LEGENDS FROM NORMANDY AND BRITTANY. With 34 Illustrations by THOMAS R. MACQUOID. THROUGH NORMANDY. With 92 Illustrations by T. R. MACQUOID, and a Map. THROUGH BRITTARY. With 93 Illustrations by T. R. MACQUOID, and a Map. ABOUT YORKSHIRE. With 67 Illustrations by T. R. MACQUOID. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. other Stories. | LOST ROSE. THE EYIL EYE, and other Stories. |

MAGIC LANTERN, THE, and its Management : including full Practical Directions. By T. C. HEPWORTH. 10 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo, 1s.; cloth. 1s. 61.

MAGICIAN'S OWN BOOK, THE: Performances with Cups and Balls, Eggs, Hats, Handkerchiefs, &c. All from actual Experience. Edited by W. H. CREMER. With 200 Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 4s. 6d.

MAGNA CHARTA: An Exact Facsimile of the Original in the British Museum, 3 feet by 2 feet, with Arms and Seals emblazoned in Gold and Colours, 5s.

MALLOCK (W. H.), WORKS BY. THE NEW REPUBLIC. Post 8vo, picture cover, 2s.; cloth limp, 2s. 6d. THE NEW PAUL & VIRGINIA: Positivism on an Island. Post 8vo, cloth, 2s. 6d. POEMS. Small 4to, parchment, Ss. IS LIFE WORTH LIVING? Crown 8vo, cloth extra, Gs.

A ROMANCE OF THE NINETEENTH CENTURY. Crown 8vo, cloth, 6s.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

MALLORY'S (SIR THOMAS) MORT D'ARTHUR: The Stories of King Arthur and of the Knights of the Round Table. (A Selection.) Edited by B. MONTGOMERIE RANKING. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 28.

MARK TWAIN, WORKS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7*. 6d. each. THE CHOICE WORKS OF MARK TWAIN. Revised and Corrected throughout by the Author. With Life, Portrait, and numerous Illustrations. ROUGHING IT, and INNOCENTS AT HOME. With 200 Illusts, by F. A. FRASER. MARK TWAIN'S LIBRARY OF HUMOUR. With 197 Illustrations.

Crown 8vo, cloth extra (illustrated), 7s. 6d. each; post 8vo, illust. boards, 2s. each. THE INNOCENTS ABROAD; or, New Pilgrim's Progress. With 234 Illustrations. (The Two-Shilling Edition is entitled MARK TWAIN'S PLEASURE TRIP.) (The Two-Shilling Edition is entitled MARK TWAIN'S PLEASURE TRIP.) THE GLIDED AGE. By MARK Twain and C. D. WARNER. With 212 Illustrations. THE ADVENTURES OF TOM SAWYER. With 111 Illustrations. A TRAMP ABROAD. With 314 Illustrations. THE PRINCE AND THE PAUPER. With 100 Illustrations. LIFE ON THE MISSISSIPPI. With 300 Illustrations. ADVENTURES OF HUCKLEBERRY FINN. With 174 Illusts, by E. W. KEMBLE. A YANKEE AT THE COURT OF KING ARTHUR. With 20 Illusts, by BEARD.

MARK TWAIN'S SKETCHES. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. THE STOLEN WHITE ELEPHANT, &c. Cr. 8vo, cl., 6s. ; post 8vo, illust. bds., 2s. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each.

THE AMERICAN CLAIMANT. With 81 Illustrations by HAL HURST, &c. THE £1,000,000 BANK-NOTE, and other New Stories.

MARLOWE'S WORKS. Including his Translations. Edited, with Notes and Introductions, by Col. CUNNINGHAM. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s.

MARRYAT (FLORENCE), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illust, boards, 2s.each, A HARVEST OF WILD OATS. FIGHTING THE AIR. WRITTEN IN FIRE. **OPEN! SESAME!**

MASSINGER'S PLAYS, From the Text of WILLIAM GIFFORD. Edited by Col. CUNNINGHAM. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s.

MASTERMAN.-HALF-A-DOZEN DAUGHTERS: A Novel. By L MASTERMAN. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.

MATTHEWS .- A SECRET OF THE SEA, &c. By BRANDER MATTHEWS. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.; cloth limp, 2s. 6d.

MAYHEW.-LONDON CHARACTERS AND THE HUMOROUS SIDE OF LONDON LIFE. By HENRY MAYHEW. With Illusts. Crown 8vo, cloth. 3s. 6d.

MENKEN.-INFELICIA: Poems by ADAH ISAACS MENKEN. With Illustrations by F. E. LUMMIS and F. O. C. DARLEY. Small 4to, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.

MERRICK.-RRICK, —THE MAN WHO WAS GOOD. By LEONARD MERRICK, Author of "Violet Moses," &c. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 28.

MEXICAN MUSTANG (ON A), through Texas to the Rio Grande. 'By A. E. SWEET and J. ARMOY KNOX. With 265 Illusts. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.

MIDDLEMASS (JEAN), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illust. boards, 2s. each. TOUCH AND GO. | MR. DORILLION.

MILLER .- PHYSIOLOGY FOR THE YOUNG ; or, The House of Life. By Mrs, F, FENWICK MILLER. With Illustrations, Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s, 6d.

.

CHATTO & WHIDOG, 211, TIGOADIELT.
MILTON (J. L.), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, 1s. each; cloth, 1s. 6d. each. THE HYGIENE OF THE SKIN. With Directions for Diet, Soaps, Baths, &c. THE BATH IN DISEASES OF THE SKIN. THE LAWS OF LIFE, AND THEIR RELATION TO DISEASES OF THE SKIN. THE SUCCESSFUL TREATMENT OF LEPROSY. Demy 8vo, 1s.
MINTO (WM.)-WAS SHE GOOD OR BAD? Cr. 8vo, 1s. ; cloth, 1s. 6d.
MITFORD (BERTRAM), NOVELS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each. THE GUN-RUNNER: A Romance of Zululand. With Frontispiece by S. L.Wood. THE LUCK OF GERARD RIDGELEY. With a Frontispiece by STANLEY L, Wood. THE KING'S ASSEGAI. With Six full-page Illustrations.
MOLESWORTH (MRS.), NOVELS BY. HATHERCOURT RECTORY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. THAT GIRL IN BLACK. Crown 8vo, cloth, 1*. 6d.
MOORE (THOMAS), WORKS BY. THE EPICUREAN: and ALCIPHRON. Post 8vo, half-bound, 2*. PROSE AND VERSE. With Suppressed Passages from the MEMORS OF LORD BYRON. Edited by R. H. SHEPHERD. With Portrait, Cr. 8vo, cl. ex., 7*. 6d.
MUDDOCK (J. E.), STORIES BY. STORIES WEIRD AND WONDERFUL, Post 8vo, illust. boards, 2*.; cloth, 2s. 6d. THE DEAD MAN'S SECRET; or, The Valley of Gold. With Frontispiece by F. BARNARO, Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5s.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. FROM THE BOSOM OF THE DEEP. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. MAID MARIAN AND ROBIN HOOD: A Romance of Old Sherwood Forest. With Iz Illustrations by Strahley L. Woop. Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 5s.
MURRAY (D. CHRISTIE), NOVELS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each; post 8vo, illustrated boards. 2s. each. A LIFE'S ATONEMENT. JOSEPH'S COAT. COALS OF FIRE. VAL STRANGE. HEARTS. WAY OF THE WORLD A MODEL FATHER. OLD BLAZER'S HERO. OLD BLAZER'S HERO. VIC FORTUNE. TIME'S REVENGES. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. BUTHE GATE OF THE SEA. A BIT OF HUMAN NATURE. DIST OF THE SEA. BOB MARTIN'S LITTLE GIRL.
A WASTED CRIME. Two Vols., crown 8vo. IN DIREST PERIL. Three Vols., crown 8vo. THE MAKING OF A NOVELIST: An Experiment in Autobiography. With a Collotype Portrait and Vignette. Crown 8vo, Irish linen, 6s.
MURRAY (D. CHRISTIE) & HENRY HERMAN, WORKS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra . 3*, 6d. each; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*, each. ONE TRAVELLER RETURNS. PAUL JONES'S ALIAS. THE BISHOPS' BIBLE.
MURRAY (HENRY), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illust. bds., 2*. ea.; cl., 2*. 6d. ea. A GAME OF BLUFF. A SONG OF SIXPENCE.
NEWBOLTTAKEN FROM THE ENEMY. By HENRY NEWBOLT. Feap. 8vo, cloth boards, 1s. 6d.
NISBET (HUME), BOOKS BY. "BAIL UP1" Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3*.6d.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*. DR. BERNARD ST. VINCENT. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*. LESSONS IN ART. With 21 Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 2*. 6d. WHERE ART BEGINS. With 27 Illusts. Square 8vo, cloth extra, 7*.6d.
NORRIS.—ST. ANN'S: A Novel. By W. E. NORRIS. Two Vols. [Shortly.
O'HANLON (ALICE), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 22. each. I CHANCE? OR FATE?
OHNET (GEORGES), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. DOCTOR RAMEAU. 1. A LAST LOVE. A WEIRD GIFT. Crown 8vo, cloth, 3s. 6d., post 8vo, pleture boards, 2s.
OLIPHANT (MRS.), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. THE PRIMROSE PATH. WHITELADIES. THE GREATEST HEIRESS IN ENGLAND.
THE GREATEST HEIRESS IN ENGLAND.
THE GREATEST HEIRESS IN ENGLAND. O'REILLY (HARRINGTON).—LIFE AMONG THE AMERICAN IN- DIANS: Filip Years on the Trail, roo Illusts, by P. FRENZENY, Crown 8vo, 3*. 6d. O'REILLY (MRS.),—PHEBE'S FORTUNES, Post 8vo, illust, bds., 2s.

OUIDA NOVELS BY. Cr. Svo. cl.	Re fid each	nort fuo illust hds De soch
OUIDA, NOVELS BY. Cr. 8vo, cl., : HELD IN BONDAGE. FOLLE-FA	RINE.	post 8vo, illust. bds., 2a. each. MOTHS. PIPISTRELLO.
TRICOTRIN. A DOG OF	FLANDERS.	A VILLAGE COMMUNE.
STRATHMORE. PASCAREL	LE WOODEN	IN MAREMMA.
CHANDOS. TWO LITT	LE WOODEN	BIMBI. SYRLIN.
CECIL CASTLEMAINE'S SHOES.		WANDA.
GAGE. IN A WIN UNDER TWO FLAGS. ARIADNE.	TER CITY.	FRESCOES. OTHMAR. PRINCESS NAPRAXINE.
UNDER TWO FLAGS. ARIADNE.		PRINCESS NAPRAXINE.
PUCK. IDALIA. FRIERDSE		GUILDEROY. RUFFINO.
Square 8vo, clot.	h extra, 5s. ea	ch.
BIMBI. With Nine Illustrations by ED	MUND H. GARR	ETT.
A DOG OF FLANDERS, &c. With Sit		
SANTA BARBARA. &c. Square 8vo, c	loth, Us.; crow	vn svo, cloth, 3s. 6d.; post
8vo, illustrated boards, 28. TWO OFFENDERS. Square 8vo, cloth	antro Ga	
		and of Owner by T. Consume
WISDOM, WIT, AND PATHOS, selecte Morris. Post 8vo, cloth extra, 5s.	a from the wo	OFKS OF OUTDA DY F. SYDNEY
	CHEAP EDIT	ion, mustrated hoards, 28.
PAGE (H. A.), WORKS BY.		
THOREAU: His Life and Aims. With	Portrait. Post	8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d.
ANIMAL ANECDUIES. Allanged on a	a New Principa	e. Crown svo, cloth extra, Js.
PARLIAMENTARY ELECTIONS	AND ELEC	TIONEERING, A HIS-
TORY OF, from the Stuarts to Queen Vis with 03 Illustrations. Demy 8vo, cloth	ctoria, By Jos	EPH GREGO. A New Edition,
with 03 Illustrations. Demy 8vo, cloth	extra, 7s. 6d.	
PASCAL'S PROVINCIAL LETTE	RS. A Nev	w Translation, with His-
torical Introduction and Notes by T. I		
PAUL.—GENTLE AND SIMPLE. J		
piece by HELEN PATERSON. Crown 8vo	, cloth, 38. 00	.; post svo, must, noards, 24.
PAYN (JAMES), NOVELS BY.		
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s, 6d, each.	post 8vo, illus	trated boards. 2«. each.
LOST SIR MASSINGBERD.	A GRAPE H	FROM A THORN.
LOST SIR MASSINGBERD. WALTER'S WORD.	FROM EXII	FROM A THORN. LE. VS WARD. OF THE TOWN. VASKS.
	THE GANOI	N'S WARD.
PAINTED. BY PROXY. FOR CASH ONLY.	HOLIDAY 7	OF THE TOWN.
BY PROXY. FOR CASH ONLY. HIGH SPIRITS.	GLOW-WOR	M TALES
UNDER ONE ROOF	THE MYST	RM TALES. ERY OF MIRBRIDGE.
UNDER ONE ROOF. A CONFIDENTIAL AGENT.	THE WORL	AND THE WILL.
Post 8vo, illustrate		
HUMOROUS STORIES.	FOUND DE	AD.
THE FOSTER BROTHERS.		NE'S HARVEST.
THE FAMILY SCAPEGRACE.		RESIDENCE.
MARRIED BENEATH HIM.	MIRK ABBE	Y. SOME PRIVATE VIEWS.
BENTINCK'S TUTOR. A PERFECT TREASURE.		D, BUT WON.
A PERFECT TREASURE.	TWO HUNI	DRED POUNDS REWARD.
A COUNTY FAMILY.	HALVES.	OF HUSBANDS. THE BURNT MILLION.
LIKE FATHER, LIKE SON. A WOMAN'S VENGEANCE.	FALLEN FO	ORTUNES.
CARLYON'S YEAR. CECIL'S TRYST.		COST HER.
MURPHY'S MASTER,	KIT: A ME	MORY.
AT HER MERCY.		OF THE BLOOD.
THE CLYFFARDS OF CLYFFE.	SUNNY ST	
Crown byo, cloth	xtra, 3s. 6d.	each.
A TRYING PATIENT. &c. With a Fr IN PERIL AND PRIVATION: Storie	ontispiece by S	TANLEY L. WOOD.
NOTES FROM THE "NEWS." Crov	vn 8vo, portrait	cover, 1s.; cloth, 1s. 6d.
PENNELL (H CHOLMONDELEY)	WORKS F	Y. Post 8vo. cl. 2s. 6d. each.
PENNELL (H. CHOLMONDELEY), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl., 28. 6d. each. PUCK ON PEGASUS, With Illustrations.		
PUCK ON PEGASUS, With Illustrations, PEGASUS RE-SADDLED, With Ten full-page Illustrations by G. DU MAURIER, THE MUSES OF MAYFAIR, Vers de Société, Selected by H. C. PENNELL.		
THE MUSES OF MAYFAIR. Vers de Société, Selected by H. C. PENNELL.		
PHELPS (E. STUART), WORKS BY. Post 8vo 1s. each; cloth 1s. 6d. each.		
BEYOND THE GATES. OLD MAID'S	DARADISE .	RURGLARS IN DARADIEF
JACK THE FISHERMAN. Illustrated b	by C. W. REED.	Cr. ovo, 18. ; Cloth, 18. Od.
PIRKIS (C. L.), NOVELS BY.		
TROOPING WITH CROWS. Fcap. 8v LADY LOYELACE. Post 8vo, illustration	o, picture cove	r, 1s,
LADY LOYELACE. Post 8vo, illustrat	ted boards, 28,	

CHATTO & WINDUS, 214, PICGADILLY. 19 PLANCHE (J. R.), WORKS BY. THE FURSULYANT OF ARMS. With Six Plates, and 209 Illusts. Cr. 8vo, cl. 7×. 6d. SONGS AND POEMS, 1819-1879. Introduction by Mrs. MACKARNESS. Cr. 8vo, cl., 6*. PLUTARCH'S LIVES OF ILLUSTRIOUS MEN. With Notes and Life of Plutarch by J. and WM. LANGHORNE. Portraits. Two Vols., demy 8vo, 10s. 6d. POE'S (EDGAR ALLAN) CHOICE WORKS, in Prose and Poetry. Introduction by CHAS. BAUDELAIRE, Portrait, and Facsimiles. Cr. 8vo, cloth, 7s. 6d. THE MYSTERY OF MARIE ROGET, &c. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. POPE'S POETICAL WORKS. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. PRAED (MRS. CAMPBELL), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illust. bds., 28. ea. THE ROMANCE OF A STATION. | THE SOUL OF COUNTESS ADRIAN. OUTLAW AND LAWMAKER. Three Vols., crown 8vo. PRICE (E. C.), NOVELS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each ; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. | THE FOREIGNERS. | MRS. LANCASTER'S RIVAL. VALENTINA. GERALD. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. PRINCESS OLGA .- RADNA; or, The Great Conspiracy of 1881. By the Princess OLGA. Crown 8vo. cloth extra, 6s. PROCTOR (RICHARD A., B.A.), WORKS BY. FLOWERS OF THE SKY. With 55 Illusts. Small crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d. EASY STAR LESSONS. With Star Maps for Every Night in the Year. Cr. 8vo, 6x. FAMILIAR SCIENCE STUDIES. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. SATURN AND ITS SYSTEM. With 13 Steel Plates. Demy 8vo, cloth ex., 10*. 6d. MYSTERIES OF TIME AND SPACE. With Illustrations. Cr. 8vo, cloth ex., 6s. THE UNIVERSE OF SUMS. With summarum Ullustrations. Cr. 8vo, cloth ex., 6s. THE UNIVERSE OF SUNS. With numerous Illustrations, Cr. 8vo, cloth ex., 6*. WAGES AND WANTS OF SCIENCE WORKERS. Crown 8vo, 1s. 6d. PRYCE.-MISS MAXWELL'S AFFECTIONS. By RICHARD PRYCE. Frontispiece by HAL LUDLOW. Cr. 8vo, cl., 3s. 6d.; post 8vo, illust. boards., 2s. RAMBOSSON.—POPULAR ASTRONOMY. By J. RAMBOSSON, Laureate of the Institute of France. With numerous Illusts. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 78.6d. RANDOLPH.-AUNT ABIGAIL DYKES: A Novel. By Lt.-Colonel GEORGE RANDOLPH, U.S.A. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d. set in New Type, in Elzevir style, fcap. 8vo, half-leather, 2s. 6d. IT IS NEVER TOO LATE TO MEND. Illustrated by G. J. PINWELL.-Also a Cheap IT IS NEVER TOO LATE TO MEND.'Illustrated by G. J. PINWELL.-Also a Cheap POPULAR EDITION, medium 8vo, portrait cover, Gd.; cloth, J*, COURSE OF TRUE LOVE NEVER DID RUN SMOOTH. Illust. HELEN PATERSON. THE AUTOBIOGRAPHY OF A THIEF, &c. Illustrated by MATT STRETCH. LOVE ME LITTLE, LOVE ME LONG. Illustrated by M. ELEN EDWARDS. THE DOUBLE MARRIAGE. Illusts, by Sir JOHN GILBERT, R.A., and C. KKENE. THE COLOSTER AND THE HEARTH. Illustrated by CHARLES KEENE.-Also a CHEAP POPULAR EDITION, medium 8vo, Gd.; cloth, Is. HARD CASH. Illustrated by W. LAWSON. GRIFFITH GAUNT. Illustrated by S. L. FILDES, R.A., and WILLIAM SMALL. FOUL PLAY. Illustrated by GEORGE DU MAURIER. PUT YOURSELF IN HIS PLACE. Illustrated by ROBERT BANNES PUT YOURSELF IN HIS PLACE. Illustrated by ROBERT BARNES.

A TERRIBLE TEMPTATION. Illustrated by EDWARD HUGHES and A. W. COOPER. A SIMPLETON. Illustrated by KATE CRAUFURD. THE WANDERING HEIR. Illustrated by THOMAS COULDERY. A WOMAN-HATER. Illustrated by THOMAS COULDERY.

A WOMAN-HATER. Injustrated by THOMAS COULDERY. SINGLEHEART AND DOUBLEFACE. Illustrated by P. MACNAB. GOOD STORIES OF MEN AND OTHER ANIMALS. Illust, by E. A. ABBEY, &c. THE JILT, and other Stories. Illustrated by Joseph Nash. A PERILOUS SECRET. Illustrated by FRED. BARNARD. READIANA. With a Steel-plate Portrait of CHARLES READE.

BIBLE CHARACTERS: Studies of David, Paul, &c. Fcap. 8vo, leatherette, 1s. THE CLOISTER AND THE HEARTH. With an Introduction by WALTER BESANT. Elzevir Edition. 4 vols., post 8vo, each with Front., cl. ex., gilt top, 14s. the set.

SELECTIONS FROM THE WORKS OF CHARLES READE. Cr. 8vo, buckram 6s.

RIDDELL (MRS. J. H.), NOVELS BY.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d. each; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*.each. THE PRINCE OF WALES'S GARDEN PARTY. WEIRD STORIES.
Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. THE UNINHABITED HOUSE. MYSTERY IN PALACE GARDENS. FAIRY WATER. HER MUN'S CURSE. IDLE TALES.
RIMMER (ALFRED), WORKS BY, Square 8vo cloth gilt, 7m, fid. each.
RIMMER (ALFRED), WORKS BY. Square 8vo, cloth gilt, 7s. 6d. each. OUR OLD COUNTRY TOWNS. With 55 Illustrations. RAMBLES ROUND ETON AND HARROW. With 50 Illustrations. ABOUT ENGLAND WITH DICKENS. With 58 Illusts by C. A. VANDERHOOF, &c.
RIVES.—BARBARA DERING. By AMÉLIE RIVES, Author of "The Qnick or the Dead?" Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.; post 8vo, illust. bds., 2*.
ROBINSON CRUSOE. By DANIEL DEFOE. (MAJOR'S EDITION.) With 37 Illustrations by George Cruikshank. Post 8vo, half-bound, 28.
ROBINSON (F. W.), NOVELS BY.
WOMEN ARE STRANGE. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. THE HANDS OF JUSTICE. Cr. 8vo, cloth ex.; 3s. 6d.; post 8vo, illust. bds., 2s.
ROBINSON (PHIL), WORKS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. each. THE POETS' BIRDS. THE POETS' BEASTS. THE POETS AND NATURE: REPTILES, FISHES, AND INSECTS.
ROCHEFOUCAULD'S MAXIMS AND MORAL REFLECTIONS. With Notes, and an Introductory Essay by SAINTE-BEUVE. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 28.
ROLL OF BATTLE ABBEY THE A List of the Principal Warriors
who came from Normandy with William the Conqueror, and Settled in this Country, A.D. 1066-7. With Arms emblazoned in Gold and Colours. Handsomely printed, 5*.
ROWLEY (HON. HUGH), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cloth, 2s. 6d. each. PUNIANA: RIDDLES AND JOKES. With numerous Illustrations. MORE PUNIANA. Profusely Illustrated.
RUNCIMAN (JAMES), STORIES BY. Post 8vo, bds., 2*. ea.; cl., 2*. ed., ca. SKIPPERS AND SHELLBACKS. SCHOOLS AND SCHOLARS.
RUSSELL (W. CLARK), BOOKS AND NOVELS BY:
Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. each; post 8vo, illust. boards, 2s. each; cloth limp, 2s. 6d. ea. ROUND THE GALLEY-FIRE. A BOOK FOR THE HAMMOCK.
A YOYAGE TO THE CAPE. THE ROMANCE OF JENNY HARLOWE.
Cr. 8vo, cl. extra, 3×, 6d. ea.; post 8vo, illust. boards, 2×, ea.; cloth limp, 2×, 6d. ea. AN OCEAN TRAGEDY. MY SHIPMATE LOUISE. ALONE ON A WIDE WIDE SEA.
ON THE FO'K'SLE HEAD. Post 8vo, illust, boards, 2s.; icloth limp, 2s. 6d.
SAINT AUBYN (ALAN), NOVELS BY.
Crown 8vo cloth extra 3r, 6d, each post 8vo illust hoards, 2s, each
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 641. each; post 8vo, illust. boards, 2*, each. A FELLOW OF TRINITY. Note by OLIVER WENDELL HOLMES and Frontispiece, THE JUNIOR DEAN. THE MASTER OF ST. BENEDICT'S.
Fcap. 8vo, cloth boards, 1×. 0d. each. THE OLD MAID'S SWEETHEART. MODEST LITTLE SARA.
TO HIS OWN MASTER. Three Vols., crown 8vo.
SALA (G. A.)GASLIGHT AND DAYLIGHT. Post 8vo, boards, 2s.
SANSONSEVEN GENERATIONS OF EXECUTIONERS : Memoirs of the Sanson Family (1658 to 1847). Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.
SAUNDERS (JOHN), NOVELS BY.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. od. each; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. CUY WATERMAN. THE LION IN THE PATH. THE TWO DREAMERS.
BOUND TO THE WHEEL. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.
SAUNDERS (KATHARINE), NOVELS BY.
SAUNDERS (KATHARINE), NOVELS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra. 3s. 6d. each; post 8vo. illustrated boards, 2s. each. MARGARET AND ELIZABETH. THE HIGH MILLS. SEBASTIAN,
JOAN MERRYWEATHER. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. GIDEON'S ROCK. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.
MINDON N NOOR CIOWI OVO, CIOU CAUA, Os Ou

CHATTO & WINDUS, 214, PICCADILLY.

21 SCOTLAND YARD, Past and Present : Experiences of 37 Years. By Ex-Chief-Inspector CAVANAGH. Post 8vo, illustrated boards. 2s.; cloth, 2s. 6d. SECRET OUT, THE: One Thousand Tricks with Cards; with Enter-taining Experiments in Drawing-room or "White Magic." By W. II. CREMER. With 300 Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 4s. 6d. SEGUIN (L. G.), WORKS BY.
 THE COUNTRY OF THE PASSION PLAY (OBERAMMERGAU) and the Highlands of Bavaria. With Map and 37 Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.
 WALKS IN ALGIERS. With 2 Maps and 16 Illusts. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. SENIOR (WM.).-BY STREAM AND SEA. - Post 8vo, cloth, 2s. 6d. SHAKESPEARE FOR CHILDREN: LAMB'S TALES FROM SHAKE-SPEARE. With Illusts., coloured and plain, by J. MOVR SMITH. Cr. 4to, 35. 6d. SHARP,-CHILDREN OF TO-MORROW: A Novel. By WILLIAM SHARP. Crown Svo, cloth extra, 6s. SHELLEY.-THE COMPLETE WORKS IN VERSE AND PROSE OF PERCY BYSSHE SHELLEY. Edited, Prefaced, and Annotated by R. HERNE SHEPHERD. Five Vols., crown 8vo, cloth boards, 3s. 6d. each. POETICAL WORKS, in Three Vols.: POETICAL WORKS, in Three Vols.:
 Vol. I. Introduction by the Editor: Posthumous Fragments of Margaret Nicholson; Shelley's Correspondence with Stockdale; The Wanderung Jew; Queen Mab, with the Notes; Alastor, and other Poems; Rossilind and Helen: Prometheus Unbound; Adonals, &c.
 Vol. II. Laon and Cythun; The Cenci; Julian and Maddalo; Swellfoot the Tyrant; The Witch of Atlas; Episychidion: Hellas.
 Vol. III. Posthumous loems; The Masque of Anarchy; and other Pieces,
 PROSE WORKS, in Two Vols.:
 Vol. II. To Two Romances of Zastrozzland St. Irvyne; the Dublin and Marlow Pamphlets; A Refutation of Deism; Letters to Leigh Iluut, and some Minor Writings and Fragments.
 Vol. II. he Essays; Letters from Abroad; Translations and Fragments, Edited by Mrs. SHELLEY. With a Bibliography of Shelley, and an Index of the Prose Works. SHERARD (R. H.).-ROGUES : A Novel. Crown 8vo, 1s. ; cloth, 1s. 6d. SHERIDAN (GENERAL). - PERSONAL MEMOIRS OF GENERAL P. H. SHERIDAN. With Portraits and Facsimiles. Two Vols., demy 8vo, cloth, 24s. SHERIDAN'S (RICHARD BRINSLEY) COMPLETE WORKS. With Life and Anecdotes, Including his Dramatic Writings, his Works in Prose and Poetry, Translations, Speeches and Jokes, 10 Illusts. Cr. 8vo, hf. bound, 7s. Gd. THE RIVALS, THE SCHOOL FOR SCANDAL, and other Plays. Post 8vo, printed on laid paper and half bound, 2s. SHERIDAN'S COMEDIES: THE RIVALS and THE SCHOOL FOR SCANDAL. Edited, with an Introduction and Notes to each Play, and a Biographical Sketch, by BRANDER MATTHEWS. With Illustrations. Demy 8vo, half-parchment, 12s. 6d. SIDNEY'S (SIR PHILIP) COMPLETE POETICAL WORKS, includ-ing all those in "Arcadia." With Portrait, Memorial-Introduction, Notes, &c. by the Rev. A. B. GROSART, D.D. Three Vols., crown 8vo, cloth boards, 18s. SIGNBOARDS: Their History. With Anecdotes of Famous Taverns and Remarkable Characters. By JACOB LARWOOD and JOHN CAMDEN HOTTEN. With Coloured Frontisplece and 94 Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d. SIMS (GEORGE R.), WORKS BY. Post &vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each: cloth limp, 2s. 6d. eaca, RCGUES AND YACABONDS. THE RING O' BELLS. MARY JANE'S MEMOIRS. TINKLETOP'S CRIME. With a Frontispice by MAURICE GREIFFENHAGEN. ZEPH: A Circus Story, &c. MY TWO WIVES. Crown Svo, picture cover, Is. cach; cloth, Is. 6d. cach. HOW THE POOR LIVE; and HORRIBLE LONDON. THE DAGONET RECITER AND READER; being Readings and Recitations in Prose and Verse, selected from his own Works by GEORGE R. SIMS. THE CASE OF GEORGE CANDLEMAS. DAGONET DITTIES. SISTER DORA: A Biography. By MARGARET LONSDALE. With Four Illustrations. Demy 8vo, picture cover, 4d.; cloth, 6d.

SKETCHLEY.-- A MATCH IN THE DARK. By ARTHUR SKETCHLEY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 28.

<u>^</u>
SLANG DICTIONARY (THE): Etymological, Historical, and Anec- dotal. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. 6d.
SMITH (J. MOYR), WORKS BY.
THE PRINCE OF ARGOLIS. With 130 Illusts. Post 8vo. cloth extra. 3s. 6d.
TALES OF OLD THULE. With numerous Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth gilt, 6s. THE WOOING OF THE WATER WITCH. Illustrated. Post 8vo, cloth, 6s.
SOCIETY IN LONDON. By A FOREIGN RESIDENT. Crown 8vo, 18.: cloth, 18. 6d.
SOCIETY IN PARIS: The Upper Ten Thousand. A Series of Letters
from Count PAUL VASILI to a Young French Diplomat. Crown 8vo, cloth, 6s.
SOMERSET SONGS OF ADIEU. By Lord HENRY SOMERSET.
Small 4to, Japanese vellum, 6s.
SPALDING.—ELIZABETHAN DEMONOLOGY : An Essay on the Belief in the Existence of Devils. By T. A. SPALDING, LL.B. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5x.
in the Existence of Devils. By T. A. SPALDING, LL.B. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5s.
SPEIGHT (T. W.), NOVELS BY.
Post 8vo, illustrated beards, 28, each.
THE MISTERIES OF HERON DIRE. THE GOLDEN HOUP.
BY DEVIOUS WAYS, &c. HOODWINKED; and THE SANDY- THE LOUDWATER TRAGEDY.
CROFT MYSTERY. BURGO'S ROMANCE.
Post 8vo, cloth limp, 1s. 6d. each.
A BARREN TITLE. WIFE OR NO WIFE?
THE SANDYCROFT MYSTERY. Crown 8vo, picture cover, 1s.
SPENSER FOR CHILDREN. By M. H. TOWRY. With Illustrations
by WALTER J. MORGAN. Crown 4to, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.
STARRY HEAVENS (THE): A POETICAL BIRTHDAY BOOK. Royal 16mo, cloth extra, 2s. 6d.
STAUNTONTHE LAWS AND PRACTICE OF CHESS. With an
STAUNIONTHE LAWS AND TRAUNCE OF UNESS. Whith an
Analysis of the Openings, By HOWARD STAUNTON Edited by ROBERT B. WORMALD.
Analysis of the Openings. By HOWARD STAUNTON. Edited by ROBERT B. WORMALD. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5%.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5%.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5s. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS. Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9s.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*, STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS, Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*, THE POETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5s. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS. Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo. cloth extra, 9s. THE POETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo. cloth extra, 9s. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5s. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS, Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9s. THE POETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9s.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5s. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS. Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9s. THE 20ETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9s. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.: post 8vo, illust, boards, 2s.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5s. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS. Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9s. THE 20ETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9s. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.: post 8vo, illust, boards, 2s.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS. Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. THE 20ETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.: post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl. limp, 2*. 6d. each. TRAVELS WITH A DONKEY. Seventh Edit. With a Frontis. by WALTER CRAME. AN ILAND YOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontis. by WALTER CRAME.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS. Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. THE 20ETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.: post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl. limp, 2*. 6d. each. TRAVELS WITH A DONKEY. Seventh Edit. With a Frontis. by WALTER CRAME. AN ILAND YOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontis. by WALTER CRAME.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS. Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. THE 20ETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.: post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl. limp, 2*. 6d. each. TRAVELS WITH A DONKEY. Seventh Edit. With a Frontis. by WALTER CRAME. AN ILAND YOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontis. by WALTER CRAME.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS. Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. THE 20ETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.: post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. Crown 8vo, couch Edit. With a Frontis, by WALTER CRANE. AN INLAND VOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontis, by WALTER CRANE. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*. each. FAMILIAR STUDIES OF MEN AND BOOKS. Sixth Edition. THE MERRY MEN. Third Edition. I UNDERWOODS: Poems. Fifth Edition.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS, Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. THE 20ETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 64.; post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl. limp, 2*. 64. each, TRAVELS WITH A DONKEY. Seventh Edit. With a Frontis. by WALTER CRAME. AN INLAND YOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontis. by WALTER CRAME. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*. each. FAMILIAR STUDIES OF MEN AND BOOKS. Sixth Edition. THE MERRY MEN. Third Edition. UNDERWOODS: Poems. Fifth Edition. MEMORIES AND PORTRAITS. Third Edition. BALLADS.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS, Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. THE POETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.: post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl. limp, 2*. 6d. each. TRAVELS WITH A DONKEY. Seventh Edit. With a Frontis, by WALTER CRAME. AN INLAND YOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontispiece by WALTER CRAME. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*. each. FAMILIAR STUDIES OF MEN AND BOOKS. Sixth Edition. THE MERRY MEN. Third Edition. UNDERWOODS: Poems. Fifth Edition.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS. Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. THE 20ETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6id.; post 8vo, illust. boards, 2*. ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6id.; post 8vo, cl. limp, 2*. 6id. each. TRAVELS WITH A DONKEY. Seventh Edit. With a Frontis. by WALTER CRAME. AN INLAND YOYAGE. FOURTH Edition. With a Frontis. by WALTER CRAME. Crown 8vo, buckram, silt top, 6*. each. FAMILIAR STUDIES OF MEN AND BOOKS. Sixth Edition. THE MERRY MEN. Third Edition. J UNDERWOODS: Poems. Fifth Edition. WIRGINIBUS PUERISQUE, and other Papers. Seventh Edition. J BALLADS. ACROSS THE PLAINS, with other Memories and Essays. NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS. Eleventh Edition. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*. 4
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS, Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. THE 20ETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.; post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl. limp, 2*. 6d. each, TRAVELS WITH A DONKEY. Seventh Edit. With a Frontis. by WALTER CRAME. AN INLAND YOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontispiece by WALTER CRAME. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*. each. FAMILIAR STUDIES OF MEN AND BOOKS. Sixth Edition. THE MERRY MEN. Third Edition. UNDERWOODS: Poems. Fifth Edition. MEMORIES AND PORTRAITS. Third Edition. BALLADS. ACROSS THE PLAINS, with other Memories and Essays. NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS. Eleventh Edition. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*. 5 post 8vo, ibustrated boards, 2*.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS, Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. THE 20ETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.; post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl. limp, 2*. 6d. each, TRAVELS WITH A DONKEY. Seventh Edit. With a Frontis. by WALTER CRAME. AN INLAND YOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontispiece by WALTER CRAME. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*. each. FAMILIAR STUDIES OF MEN AND BOOKS. Sixth Edition. THE MERRY MEN. Third Edition. UNDERWOODS: Poems. Fifth Edition. MEMORIES AND PORTRAITS. Third Edition. BALLADS. ACROSS THE PLAINS, with other Memories and Essays. NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS. Eleventh Edition. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*. 5 post 8vo, ibustrated boards, 2*.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS. Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. THE 20ETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.; post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.; post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl, limp, 2*. 6d. each. TRAVELS WITH A DONKEY. Seventh Edit. With a Frontis, by WALTER CRANE. AN INLAND VOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontis, by WALTER CRANE. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*. each. FAMILIAR STUDIES OF MEN AND BOOKS. Sixth Edition. THE MERRY MEN. Third Edition. J UNDERWOODS: Poems. Fifth Edition. MEMORIES AND PORTRAITS. Third Edition. VIRGINIBUS PUERISQUE, and other Papers. Seventh Edition. J BALLADS. ACROSS THE PLAINS, with other Memories and Essays. NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS. Eleventh Edition. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*. THE SUICIDE CLUB; and THE RAJAH'S DIAMOND. (From New ARABIAN NIGHTS.) With Six Illustrations by J. BERNARD PARTRIDGE. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS, Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. THE POETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.: post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl. limp, 2*. 6d. each. TRAVELS WITH A DONKEY. Seventh Edit. With a Frontis, by WALTER CRAME. AN INLAND YOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontispiece by WALTER CRAME. AN INLAND YOYAGE. FOURTH Edition, With a Frontispiece by WALTER CRAME. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*. each. FAMILIAR STUDIES OF MEN AND BOOKS. Sixth Edition. THE MERRY MEN. Third Edition. I UNDERWOODS: Poems. Fifth Edition. WIRGINIBUS PUERISQUE, and other Papers. Seventh Edition. I BALLADS. ACROSS THE PLAINS, with other Memories and Essays. NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS. Eleventh Edition. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*. THE SUICIDE CLUB; and THE RAJAH'S DIAMOND. (From New ARABIAN NIGHTS.) With Six Illustrations by J. BERNARD PARTRIDGE. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. [Shorily. PRINCE OTTO. Sixth Edition. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS. Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. THE POETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.; post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl. limp, 2*. 6d. each, TRAVELS WITH A DONKEY. Seventh Edit. With a Frontis. by WALTER CRANE. AN INLAND YOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontispiece by WALTER CRANE. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*. each. FAMILIAR STUDIES OF MEN AND BOOKS. Sixth Edition. THE MERRY MEN. Third Edition. J UNDERWOODS: Poems. Fifth Edition. MEMORIES AND PORTRAITS. Third Edition. VIRGINIBUS PUERISQUE, and other Papers. Seventh Edition. J BALLADS. ACROSS THE PLAINS, with other Memories and Essays. NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS. Eleventh Edition. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*. THE SUICIDE CLUB; and THE RAJAH'S DIAMOND. (From NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS.) With Six Illustrations by J. BERNARD PARTRIDGE. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. FAMILE OTTO. Sixth Edition. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*. FATHER DAMIEN: An Open Letter to the Rev. Dr. Hyde, Second Edition.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS. Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. THE 20ETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.; post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl, limp, 2*. 6d. each. TRAVELS WITH A DONKEY. Seventh Edit. With a Frontis, by WALTER CRANE. AN INLAND YOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontispice by WALTER CRANE. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*. each. FAMILIAR STUDIES OF MEN AND BOOKS. Sixth Edition. THE MERRY MEN. Third Edition. J UNDERWOODS: Poems. Fifth Edition. MEMORIES AND PORTRAITS. Third Edition. VIRGINIBUS PUERISQUE, and other Papers. Seventh Edition. J BALLADS. ACROSS THE PLAINS, with other Memories and Essays. NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS. Eleventh Edition. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*. 5 post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*. THE SUICIDE CLUB; and THE RAJAH'S DIAMOND. (From New ARABIAN NIGHTS.) With Six Illustrations by J. BERNARD PARTRIDGE. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. PRINCE OTTO. Sixth Edition. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*. FATHER DAMIEN: AN Open Letter to the Rev. Dr. Hyde. Second Edition. Crown 8vo, bad-made and brown paper. 1*.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS. Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. THE 20ETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.; post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl. limp, 2*. 6d. each. TRAVELS WITH A DONKEY. Seventh Edit. With a Frontis, by WALTER CRAME. AN INLAND YOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontis, by WALTER CRAME. AN INLAND YOYAGE. FOURTH Edition. With a Frontis, by WALTER CRAME. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*. each. FAMILIAR STUDIES OF MEN AND BOOKS. Sixth Edition. THE MERRY MEN. Third Edition. I UNDERWOODS: Poems. Fifth Edition. WIRGINIBUS PUERISQUE, and other Papers. Seventh Edition. I BALLADS. ACROSS THE PLAINS, with other Memories and Essays. NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS. Eleventh Edition. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*. 4 post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*. THE SUICIDE CLUB; and THE RAJAH'S DIAMOND. (From New ARABIAN NIGHTS.) With Six Illustrations by J. BERNARD PARTRIDGE. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. FATHER DAMIEN: An Open Letter to the Rev. Dr. Hyde. Second Edition. Crown 8vo, band-made and brown paper, 1*. STODDARD. — SUMMER CRUISING IN THE SOUTH SEAS. By
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS. Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. THE POETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.: post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl. limp, 2*. 6d. each. TRAVELS WITH A DONKEY. Seventh Edit. With a Frontis. by WALTER CRAME. AN INLAND VOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontispiece by WALTER CRAME. AN INLAND VOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontispiece by WALTER CRAME. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top. 6*. each. FAMILIAR STUDIES OF MEN AND BOOKS. Sixth Edition. THE MERRY MEN. Third Edition. UNDERWOODS: Poems. Fifth Edition. VIRGINIBUS PUERISQUE, and other Papers. Seventh Edition. BALLADS. ACROSS THE PLAINS, with other Memories and Essays. NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS. Eleventh Edition. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*. THE SUICIDE CLUB; and THE RAJAH'S DIAMOND. (From NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS.) With Six Illustrations by J. BERNARD PARTRIDGE. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. FATHER DAMIEN: An Open Letter to the Rev. Dr. Hyde. Second Edition. Crown 8vo, hand-made and brown paper, 1*. STODDARD. — SUMMER CRUISING IN THE SOUTH SEAS. By C. WARREN STODDARD. Illustrated by WALLIS MACKAY. Cr. 8vo, cl. extra, 3*. 6d.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS. Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. THE 20ETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.; post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.; post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl, limp, 2*. 6d. each. TRAVELS WITH A DONKEY. Seventh Edit. With a Frontis, by WALTER CRANE. AN INLAND VOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontispice by WALTER CRANE. Crown 8vo, bockram, gilt top, 6*. each. FAMILIAR STUDIES OF MEN AND BOOKS. Sixth Edition. THE MERRY MEN. Third Edition. J UNDERWOODS: Poems. Fifth Edition. MEMORIES AND PORTRAITS. Third Edition. VIRGINIBUS PUERISQUE, and other Papers. Seventh Edition. J BALLADS. ACROSS THE PLAINS, with other Memories and Essays. NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS. Eleventh Edition. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*. THE SUICIDE CLUB; and THE RAJAH'S DIAMOND. (From New ARABIAN NIGHTS.) With Six Illustrations by J. BERNARD PARTRIDGE. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. FATHER COTTO. Sixh Edition. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*. FATHER DAMIEN: An Open Letter to the Rev. Dr. Hyde. Second Edition. Crown 8vo, band-made and brown paper, 1*. STODDARD. — SUMMER CRUISING IN THE SOUCH SEAS. By C. WARREN STODDARD. Illustrated by WALLIS MACKAY. Cr. 8vo, cl. estra, 3*. 6d. STORIES FROM FOREIGN NOVELISTS. With Notices by HELEN and
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS, Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. THE 20ETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6id.; post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl. limp, 2*. 6id. each. TRAVELS WITH A DONKEY. Seventh Edit. With a Frontis, by WALTER CRAME. AN INLAND VOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontis, by WALTER CRAME. AN INLAND YOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontis, by WALTER CRAME. Crown 8vo, buckram, eilt top, 6*. each. FAMILIAR STUDIES OF MEN AND BOOKS. Sixth Edition. THE MERRY MEN. Third Edition. I UNDERWOODS: Poems. Fifth Edition. WIRGINIBUS PUERISQUE, and other Papers. Seventh Edition. I BALLADS. ACROSS THE PLAINS, with other Memories and Essays. NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS. Eleventh Edition. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*. 9 post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*. THE SUICIDE CLUB; and THE RAIAH'S DIAMOND. (From NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS.) With Six Illustrations by J. BERNARD PARTRIDGE. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. FATHER DAMIEN: An Open Letter to the Rev. Dr. Hyde. Second Edition. Crown 8vo, band-made and brown paper, 1*. STODDARD. — SUMMER CRUISING IN THE SOUTH SEAS. By C. WARREN STODDARD. Illustrated by WALLIS MACKAY. Cr. 8vo, cl. extra, 3*. 6d. STORIES FROM FOREIGN NOVELISTS. With Notices by HELEN and ALICE ZIMMERK. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*. STRANGE MANUSCRIPT (A) FOUND IN A COPPER CYLINDER.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS. Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. THE POETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.: post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl. limp, 2*. 6d. each. TRAVELS WITH A DONKEY. Seventh Edit. With a Frontispiece by WALTER CRANE. AN INLAND VOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontispiece by WALTER CRANE. AN INLAND VOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontispiece by WALTER CRANE. AN INLAND VOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontispiece by WALTER CRANE. AN INLAND VOYAGE. Fourth Edition. J UNDERWOODS: Poems. Fifth Edition. THE MERRY MEN. Third Edition. J UNDERWOODS: Poems. Fifth Edition. VIRGINIBUS PUERISQUE, and other Papers. Seventh Edition. J BALLADS. ACROSS THE PLAINS, with other Memorles and Essays. NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS. Eleventh Edition. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*. THE SUICIDE CLUB; and THE RAJAH'S DIAMOND. (From NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS.) With Six Illustrations by J. BERNARD FARTRIDGE. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. STODDARD. – SUMMER CRUISING IN THE SOUTH SEAS. By C. WARREN STODDARD. Illustrated boards, 2*. FATHER DAMIEN: An Open Letter to the Rev. Dr. Hyde. Second Edition. Crown 8vo, hand-made and brown paper, 1*. STODDARD. – SUMMER CRUISING IN THE SOUTH SEAS. By C. WARREN STODDARD. Illustrated by WALIS MACKAY. Cr. 8vo, cl. extra, 3*. 6d. STORIES FROM FOREIGN NOVELISTS. With Notices by HELEN and ALICE ZIMMERK. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*. STRANGE MANUSCRIPT (A) FOUND IN A COPPER CYLINDER. With 19 Illustrations by GILBERT GAUL. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*.; post 8vo, With 19 Illustrations by GILBERT GAUL. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*.; post 8vo,
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS. Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. THE 20ETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.; post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl, limp, 2*. 6d. each. TRAVELS WITH A DONKEY. Seventh Edit. With a Frontis, by WALTER CRANE. AN INLAND VOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontispice by WALTER CRANE. Crown 8vo, bockram, gilt top, 6*. each. FAMILIAR STUDIES OF MEN AND BOOKS. Sixth Edition. THE MERRY MEN. Third Edition. J UNDERWOODS: Poems. Fifth Edition. MEMORIES AND PORTRAITS. Third Edition. VIRGINIBUS PUERISQUE, and other Papers. Seventh Edition. J BALLADS. ACROSS THE PLAINS, with other Memories and Essays. NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS. Eleventh Edition. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*.; post 8vo, julustrated boards, 2*. THE SUICIDE CLUB; and THE RAJAH'S DIAMOND. (From NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS.) With Six Illustrations by J. BERNARD PARTRIDGE. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. FATHER DAMIEN: An Open Letter to the Rev. Dr. Hyde. Second Edition. Crown 8vo, band-made and brown paper, 1*. STODDARD. — SUMMER CRUISING IN THE SOUTH SEAS. By C. WARREN STODDARD. Illustrated by WALLIS MACKAY. Cr. 8vo, cl. extra, 3*. 6d. STORIES FROM FOREIGN NOVELISTS. With Notices by HELEN and ALCE ZIMMERN. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*. STANGE MANUSCRIPT (A) FOUND IN A COPPER CYLINDER. With 19 Illustrations by GLEERT GAUL. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*.; post 8vo, With 19 Illustrations by GLEERT GAUL. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*.; post 8vo, With 19 Illustrations by GLEERT GAUL. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*.; post 8vo, With 19 Illustrations by GLEERT GAUL. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*.; post 8vo, With 19 Illustrated by GLEERT GAUL. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*.; post 8vo, With 19 Illustrated by GLEERT GAUL. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*.; post 8vo, With 19 Illustrated boards, 2*.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5x. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS. Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9s. THE 20ETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9s. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.; post 8vo, illust, boards, 2s. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl. limp, 2s. 6d. each. TRAVELS WITH A DONKEY. Seventh Edit. With a Frontis, by WALTER CRAME. AN INLAND YOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontis, by WALTER CRAME. AN INLAND YOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontis, by WALTER CRAME. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6s. each. FAMILIAR STUDIES OF MEN AND BOOKS. Sixth Edition. THE MERRY MEN. Third Edition. J UNDERWOODS: Poems. Fifth Edition. WIRGINIBUS PUERISQUE, and other Papers. Seventh Edition. J BALLADS. ACROSS THE PLAINS, with other Memories and Essays. NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS. Eleventh Edition. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6s.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. THE SUICIDE CLUB; and THE RAJAH'S DIAMOND. (From New ARABIAN NIGHTS.) With 5ix Illustrations by J. BERNARD PARTRIDGE. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5s. STODDARD. — SUMMER CRUISING IN THE SOUTH SEAS. By C. WARREN STODDARD. Illustrated by WALLIS MACKAY. Cr. 8vo, cl. estra, 3s. 6d. STORIES FROM FOREIGN NOVELISTS. With Notices by HELEN and ALICE ZIMMERK. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. STRANGE MANUSCRIPT (A) FOUND IN A COPPER CYLINDER. With 19 Illustrations by GLEERT GAUL. Crown 8vo, cloth estra, 5s.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. STRANGE MANUSCRIPT (A) FOUND IN A COPPER CYLINDER. With 19 Illustrations by GLEERT GAUL. Crown 8vo, cloth estra, 5s.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. STRANGE SECRETS. Told by CONAN DOYLE, PERCY FITZGERALD, FLOR-
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. STEDMAN (E. C.), WORKS BY. VICTORIAN POETS. Thirteenth Edition. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. THE 20ETS OF AMERICA. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9*. STERNDALE. — THE AFGHAN KNIFE: A Novel. By ROBERT ARMITAGE STERNDALE. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.; post 8vo, illust, boards, 2*. STEVENSON (R. LOUIS), WORKS BY. Post 8vo, cl, limp, 2*. 6d. each. TRAVELS WITH A DONKEY. Seventh Edit. With a Frontis, by WALTER CRANE. AN INLAND VOYAGE. Fourth Edition. With a Frontispice by WALTER CRANE. Crown 8vo, bockram, gilt top, 6*. each. FAMILIAR STUDIES OF MEN AND BOOKS. Sixth Edition. THE MERRY MEN. Third Edition. J UNDERWOODS: Poems. Fifth Edition. MEMORIES AND PORTRAITS. Third Edition. VIRGINIBUS PUERISQUE, and other Papers. Seventh Edition. J BALLADS. ACROSS THE PLAINS, with other Memories and Essays. NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS. Eleventh Edition. Crown 8vo, buckram, gilt top, 6*.; post 8vo, julustrated boards, 2*. THE SUICIDE CLUB; and THE RAJAH'S DIAMOND. (From NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS.) With Six Illustrations by J. BERNARD PARTRIDGE. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*. FATHER DAMIEN: An Open Letter to the Rev. Dr. Hyde. Second Edition. Crown 8vo, band-made and brown paper, 1*. STODDARD. — SUMMER CRUISING IN THE SOUTH SEAS. By C. WARREN STODDARD. Illustrated by WALLIS MACKAY. Cr. 8vo, cl. extra, 3*. 6d. STORIES FROM FOREIGN NOVELISTS. With Notices by HELEN and ALCE ZIMMERN. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d.; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*. STANGE MANUSCRIPT (A) FOUND IN A COPPER CYLINDER. With 19 Illustrations by GLEERT GAUL. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*.; post 8vo, With 19 Illustrations by GLEERT GAUL. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*.; post 8vo, With 19 Illustrations by GLEERT GAUL. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*.; post 8vo, With 19 Illustrations by GLEERT GAUL. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*.; post 8vo, With 19 Illustrated by GLEERT GAUL. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*.; post 8vo, With 19 Illustrated by GLEERT GAUL. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 5*.; post 8vo, With 19 Illustrated boards, 2*.

CHATTO & WINDOG, 214, FIOCADILLET. 23
STRUTT'S SPORTS AND PASTIMES OF THE PEOPLE OF ENGLAND; including the Rural and Domestic Recreations, May Games, Mum- merics, Shows, &c., from the Earliest Period to the Present Time. Edited by WILLIAM HONE. With 140 Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d.
SWIFT'S (DEAN) CHOICE WORKS, in Prose and Verse, With Memoir, Portrait, and Facsimiles of the Maps in "Guiliver's Travels." Cr. 8vo, cl., 7s. 6d. GULIVER'S TRAVELS, and A TALE OF A TUB. Post 8vo, half-bound, 2s. JONATHAN SWIFT: A Study. By J. CHURTON COLLINS. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, Sx.
SWINBURNE (ALGERNON C.), WORKS BY. SELECTIONS FROM PORTIGAL WORKS OF A. C. SWINBURNE, FCAD, SWO, 68. ATALANTA IN CALYDON. Crown 8vo, 64. CHASTELARD: A Tragedy. Crown 8vo, 64. SONGS OF THE SPRINGTURES. Crown 8vo, 78. MARY STUARY: A Tragedy. Crown 8vo, 84. MARY STUARY: A Tragedy. Crown 8vo, 84.
SWINDURNE (ALUELINUN C.), WURKS DI. SELECTIONS FROM PORTIGAL WORKS OF A.C. SWINBURNE. FCAD. SVO, 6a. ANDTE ON CHARLOTTE BRONTE. C. F8vo, 6a. SUBJECTIONS FORM PORT, 6a. A NOTE ON CHARLOTTE BRONTE. C. F8vo, 6a. SUBJECTIONS FORM PORT, 6a. STUDIES IN SONG. Crown Bvo, 6a. STUDIES IN SONG. Crown Bvo, 6a. A NOTE ON CHARLOTTE BRONTE. C. F8vo, 6a. SUBJECTIONS FORM PORT, 6a. SUBJECTIONS FORM PORT, 6a. SUBJECTIONS FORM PORT, 6a. SONGS BEFORE SUBJECT. COVEN Bvo, 6a. BORGE CHARMAN. (See Vol. II. of U. C. CHAP. MANS WORKS) Crown Bvo, 7a. ESSATS AND STUDIES. Crown Bvo, 7a. STUDY OF ENJONSON. Crown Bvo, 7a. STUDY OF FIND SUBJECTION Bvo, 6a. STUDY OF PUTOR HUGO. COVEN Bvo, 6a. STUDY OF DENJONSON. Crown Bvo, 7a. STUDY OF PUTOR SUBJECT. MANS WORKS) Crown Bvo, 7a. STUDY OF PUTOR SUBJECT. STUDY OF PUTOR SUBJECT. STUDY OF SUBJECT. STUDY OF SUBJECT. STUDY OF SUBJECT. STUDY OF SUBJECT. STUDY OF SUBJECT. STUDY OF SUBJECT. MANS WORKS) Crown Bvo, 7a. STUDY OF SUBJECT. SUBJECTION SUBJECT. SUBJECTIONS SUBJECT. SUBJECTION SUBJECTION SUBJECT. SUBJECTION SUBJ
MAN'S WORKS.) Crown 8vo, 12. SYNTAX'S (DR.) THREE TOURS: In Search of the Picturesque, in
Search of Consolation, and in Search of a Wife. With ROWLANDSON'S Coloured Illus- trations, and Life of the Author by J. C. HOTTEN. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d. TAINE'S HISTORY OF ENGLISH LITERATURE. Translated by
 HENRY VAN LAUN. Four Vols., small demy 8vo, cl. bds., 30s.—POPULAR EDITION, Two Vols., large crown 8vo, cloth extra, 15s. TAYLOR'S (BAYARD) DIVERSIONS OF THE ECHO CLUB: Bur-
 lesques of Modern Writers. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. TAYLOR (DR. J. E., F.L.S.), WORKS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth, 5s. each. THE SAGACITY AND MORALITY OF PLANTS: A Sketch of the Life and Conduct of the Vegetable Kingdom. With a Coloured Frontispiece and 100 Illustrations. OUR COMMON BRITISH FOSSILS, and Where to Find Them. 331 Illustrations. THE PLAYTIME NATURALIST. With 365 Illustrations.
TAYLOR'S (TOM) HISTORICAL DRAMAS. Containing "Clancarty," "Jeanne Darc," "Twixt Are and Crown," "The Fool's Revenge," "Arkwright's Wife," "Anne Boleyn," "Plot and Passion." Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d. *** The Plays may also he had separately, at 1s. each.
TENNYSON (LORD): A Biographical Sketch. By H. J. JENNINGS. With a Photograph-Portrait. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s.—Cheap Edition, post 8vo, portrait cover, 1s.; cloth, 1s. 6d.
THACKERAYANA: Notes and Anecdotes. Illustrated by Hundreds of Sketches by WILLIAM MAREPEACE THACKERAY. Crown Svo, cloth extra, 7*. 6d.
THAMES. — A NEW PICTORIAL HISTORY OF THE 'THAMES. By A. S. KRAUSSE. With 340 Illustrations Post 8vo, 1*. 3 cloth, 1*. 6d.
THIERS.—HISTORY OF THE CONSULATE & EMPIRE OF FRANCE UNDER NAPOLEON. By A. THIERS. Translated by D. FORBES CAMPBELL and John STEBEING. New Edition, reset in a specially-cast type, with 36 Steel Plates, 12 vols., demy 8vo, cl. ex., 12s. each. (Monthly Volumes, beginning September, 1893.)
THOMAS (BERTHA), NOVELS BY. Cr. 8vo, cl., 3*. 64. ea.; post 8vo, 2*. ea. THE VIOLIN-PLAYER, PROUD MAISIE. CRESSIDA. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2*.
THOMSON'S SEASONS, and CASTLE OF INDOLENCE. With Intro- duction by ALLAN CUNNINGHAM, and 48 Illustrations. Post 8vo, half-bound, 2*.
THORNBURY (WALTER), WORKS BY. THE LIFE AND CORRESPONDENCE OF J. M. W. TURNER. With Illustra- tions in Colours. Crown 8vo. cloth extra. 7w. 6d. Post 8vo, illustrated boards. 2w. each.
OLD STORIES RE-TOLD. TALES FOR THE MARINES,

24 BOOKS FUBLISHED BY
TIMBS (JOHN), WORKS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d. each. THE HISTORY OF CLUBS AND CLUB LIFE IN LONDON: Anecdotes of its Framous Coffee-houses, Hostelries, and Taverns. With 42 Illustrations. ENGLISH ECCENTRICS AND ECCENTRICITIES: Stories of Delusions, Impos-
tures, Sporting Scenes, Eccentric Arusis, Theatrical Polk, ac. 40 Inustrations.
TROLLOPE (ANTHONY), NOVELS BY.
TROLLOPE (ANTHONY), NOVELS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d. each; post 8vo, illustrated boords; 2*. each. THE WAY WE LIVE NOW. FRAU FROHMANN. MARION FAY. THE LAND-LEAGUERS.
Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 28., each, . KEPT IN THE DARK. AMERICAN SENATOR, . GOLDEN LION OF GRANPERE. JOHN CALDIOATE.
TROLLOPE (FRANCES E.), NOVELS BY.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. LIKE SHIPS UPON THE SEA. MABEL'S PROGRESS. ANNE FURNESS.
TROLLOPE (T. A.), -DIAMOND CUT DIAMOND. Post 8vo, illust. bds., 2s.
TROWBRIDGE FARNELL'S FOLLY: A Novel. By J. T. TROW- BRIDGE. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 25.
TYTLER (C. C. FRASER-)MISTRESS JUDITH: A Novel. By C. C. FRASER-TYTLER. Crown Bvo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.; post 8vo, illust. boards, 2s.
TYTLER (SARAH), NOVELS BY.
Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each; post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. THE BRIDE'S PASS. BURIED DIAMONDS.
LADY BELL. THE BLACKHALL GHOSTS.
WHAT SHE CAME THROUGH. CITOYENNE JACQUELINE DISAPPEARED. NOBLESSE OBLIGE.
SAINT MUNG O'S CITY. THE HUGUENOT FAMILY.
UNDERHILLWALTER BESANT: A Study. By JOHN UNDERHILL. With Portraits. Crown 8vo, Irish linen, 6s. [Shortly.
UPWARD.—THE QUEEN AGAINST OWEN. By ALLEN UPWARD. With a Frontispiece. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.
VASHTI AND ESTHER. By the Writer of "Belle's" Letters in The World. Two Vols., crown 8vo.
VILLARIA DOUBLE BOND. By LINDA VILLARI. Fcap. 8vo, 1s.
WALFORD (EDWARD, M.A.), WORKS BY. WALFORD'S COUNTY FAMILIES OF THE UMITED KINGDOM (1994). Containing the Descent, Birth, Marriage, Education, &c., of 12,000 Heads of Families, their Heirs, Offices, Addresses, Clubs, &c., Royal 8vo, cloth gilt, 59a. WALFORD'S WINDSOR PEERAGE, BARONETAGE, AND KNIGHTAGE (1894). Crown 8vo, cloth
Clubs, &c. Royal 8vo, cloth gilt, 50s. WALFORD'S WINDSOR PEERAGE, BARONETAGE, AND KNIGHTAGE (1894). Crown 8vo, cloth
extra, 123. 6d. WALFORD'S SHILLING PEERAGE (1894). Containing a List of the House of Lords, Scotch and Irish Peers, Scc. 32mo, cloth, 1s.
 WALFORD'S SHILLING BARONETAGE (1994). Containing a List of the Baronets of the United Kingdom, Biographical Notices. Addresses, &c. 32mo, cloth, 18. WALFORD'S SHILLING KNIGHTAGE (1994). Containing a List of the Knights of the United
Kingdom, Biographical Notices, Addresses, &c. 22mo, cloth, 1s. WALFORD'S SHILLING HOUSE OF COMMONS (1894). Containing a List of all the Members of the
 WALFORD'S SHILLING FEERAGE (1893). Containing a List of the House of Lords, Socith and Irish Peers, & c., agmo. cloth, is. WALFORD'S SHILLING BARONETAGE (1894). Containing a List of the Barcnets of the United Ringdom, Biographical Notires, Addresses, & c. agmo. cloth, is. WALFORD'S SHILLING KNIGHTAGE (1394). Containing a List of the Knights of the United Ringdom, Biographical Notices, Addresses, & c. agmo. cloth, is. WALFORD'S SHILLING HOUSE OF COMMONS (1894). Containing a List of all the Members of the New Parliament, their Addresses Clubs, C., agmo. cloth, is. WALFORD'S COMPLETE FEERAGE, BARONETAGE, KNICHTAGE, AND HOUSE OF COMMONS (1894). Royal zono, cloth, glit edges, 54.
TALES OF OUR GREAT FAMILIES. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d.
WALT WHITMAN, POEMS BY. Edited, with Introduction, by WILLIAM M. ROSSETTI. With Portrait, Cr. 8vo, hand-made paper and buckram, 6s.
WALTON AND COTTON'S COMPLETE ANGLER; or, The Con- templative Man's Recreation by IZAAK WALTON: and Instructions how to Angle for a
templative Man's Recreation, by IZAAK WALTON; and Instruction's low to Angle for a Trout or Grayling in a clear Stream, by CHARLES COTTON. With Mennoirs and Notes by Sir HARRIS NICOLAS, and Gr. Illustrations. 'Crown 8vo. cloth antique, 7s. 6id.
WARD (HERBERT), WORKS BY. FIVE YEARS WITH THE CONGO CANNIBALS. With 92 Illustrations by the Author, VICTOR PERARD, and W. B. DAVIS. Third ed. Roy. 8vo, cloth ex., 14*. MY LIFE WITH STANLEY'S REAR GUARD. With a Map by F. S. WELLER, F.R.G.S. Post 8vo, 1s.; cloth, 1s. 6d. WARNER A ROUNDABOUT IOUDNEY By CHAPTES DUDLEY
Author, Victor PERARD, and W. B. DAVIS. Third ed. Roy. 8vo, cloth ex., 14s.
F.R.G.S. Post 8vo, 1s.; cloth, 1s. 6d.
WARNER A ROUNDABOUT JOURNEY. By CHARLES DUDLEY WARNER. Crown Svo cloth extra Ge,

WARRANT TO EXECUTE CHARLES I. A Facsimile, with the 59 Signatures and Seals. Printed on paper 22 in Jy 14 in. 28. WARRANT TO EXECUTE MARY QUEEN OF SCOTS. A FacsImile, including Queen Elizabeth's Signature and the Great Seal. 28. WASSERMANN (LILLIAS), NOVELS BY. THE DAFFODILS. Crown 8vo, 1s.; cloth, 1s. Gel." THE MARQUIS OF CARABAS. By AARON WATSON and LILLIAS WASSERMANN. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 28. WEATHER, HOW TO FORETELL THE, WITH POCKET SPEC-TROSCOPE. By F. W. CORY. With 10 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo, 1s. ; cloth, 1s. 6d. WESTALL (William).-TRUST-MONEY. Post 8vo, illust. bds., 2s. WHIST.-HOW TO PLAY SOLO WHIST. By ABRAHAM S. WILKS and CHARLES F. PARDON. New Edition. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. WHITE .- THE NATURAL HISTORY OF SELBORNE. By GILBERT WHITE, M.A. Post 8vo, printed on laid paper and half-bound, 2s. WILLIAMS (W. MATTIEU, F.R.A.S.), WORKS BY. SCIENCE IN SHORT CHAPTERS. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d. A SIMPLE TREATISE ON HEAT. With Illusts. Cr. 8vo, cloth himp, 2s. 6d. THE CHEMISTRY OF COCKERY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. THE CHEMISTRY OF IRON AND STEEL MAKING. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 9s. A VINDICATION OF PHRENOLOGY. With over 40 Illustrations. Demy 8vo, cloth extra, 12s. 6d. [Shortly.] WILLIAMSON (MRS. F. H.).-A CHILD WIDOW. Post 8vo, bds., 2s. WILSON (DR. ANDREW, F.R.S.E.), WORKS BY. CHAPTERS ON EVOLUTION. With 259 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d. LEAYES FROM A NATURALIST'S NOTE-BOOK. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d. LEISURE-TIME STUDIES. With Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 6s. STUDIES IN LIFE AND SENSE. With numerous Illusts. Cr. 8vo, cl. ex., 6s. COMMON ACCIDENTS: HOW TO TREAT THEM. Illusts. Cr. 8vo, cl. ex., 6s. GLIMPSES OF NATURE. With 35 Illustrations. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. WINTER (J. S.), STORIES BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each; cloth limp, 2s. 6d. each. CAVALRY LIFE. REGIMENTAL LEGENDS. A SOLDIER'S CHILDREN. With 34 Illustrations by E. G. THOMSON and E. STUART HARDY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. WISSMANN.--MY SECOND JOURNEY THROUGH EQUATORIAL AFRICA. By HERMANN VON WISSMANN. With 92 Illusts. Demy 8vo, 16. WOOD .- SABINA : A Novel. By Lady Wood. Post 8vo, boards, 2s. WOOD (H. F.), DETECTIVE STORIES BY. Post 8vo, boards, 2s. each. PASSENGER FROM SCOTLAND YARD. | ENGLISHMAN OF THE RUE CAIN. WOOLLEY.-RACHEL ARMSTRONG; or, Love and Theology. By CELIA PARKER WOOLLEY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s.; cloth, 2s. 6d. WRIGHT (THOMAS), WORKS BY. RIGHT (THOMAS), WORKS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 7s. 6d. each. CARICATURE HISTORY OF THE GEORGES. With 400 Caricatures, Squibs, &c. HISTORY OF CARICATURE AND OF THE GROTESQUE IN ART, LITERA-TURE, SCULPTURE, AND PAINTING. Illustrated by F. W. FAIRHOLT, F.S.A. WYNMAN. --MY FLIRTATIONS. By MARGARET WYNMAN. With 13 Illustrations by J. BERNARD PARTRIDGE, Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3*. 6d. VATES (EDMUND), NOVELS BY. Post 8vo, illustrated boards, 2s. each. THE FORLORN HOPE. | CASTAWAY. LAND AT LAST. ZOLA (EMILE), NOVELS BY. Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each. THE DOWNFALL. Translated by E. A. VIZETELLY. Fourth Edition, Revised. THE DREAM. Translated by ELIZA CHASE. With 8 Illustrations by JEANNIOT. DOCTOR PASCAL. Translated by E. A. VIZETELLY. With Portrait of the Author. MONEY. Translated by ERNEST A. VIZETELLY. EMILE ZOLA: A Biography. By R. H. SHERARD. With Portraits, Illustrations. and Facsimile Letter. Demy 8vo, cloth extra, 128.

1 1 6 1

LISTS OF BOOKS CLASSIFIED IN SERIES.

*** For fuller cataloguing, see alphabetical arrangement, pp. 1-25.

, For fuller cataloguing, see alphabeti THE MAYFAIR LIBRARY. Post 8vc A Journey Round My Room. By XAVIER DE MAISTRE. Quips and Quiddities. By W. D. ADAMS. The Agony Column of "The Times." Melancholy Anatomised: Abridginent of "Burton's Anatomy of Melancholy." The Speeches of Charles Dickens. Post Expendical Ingenutices. By W. T. Dosson. The Cupboard Papers. By Fin-Bec. W. S. Gilbert's Plays. FIRST SERIES. Songs of Irish Wit and Humour. Animals and Masters. By Sir A. HELPS. Social Pressure. By Sir A. HELPS. Guriosities of Criticism. H. J. JENNINGS. Holmes's Autocrat of Breakfast-Table. Post 8vc THE GOLDEN LIBRARY. By Agard Taylor's Diversions of the Echa Guib.

Bennett's Baliad History of England. Bennett's Songs for Sailors. Godwin's Lives of the Necromancers. Pope's Poetical Works. Holmes's Autoorat of Breakfast Table.

THE WANDERER'S LIBRARY. Wanderings in Patagonia. By JULIUS BEERBOHM. Illustrated.

BEERBOHM. HIDSHALED. Camp Notes. By FREDERICK BOYLE. Savage Life. By FREDERICK BOYLE. Merrie England in the Olden Time. By G. DANIEL. Illustrated by CRUIKSHANK. Circus Life. By THOMAS FROST. Lives of the Conjurers. Thomas FROST. The Old Showmen and the Old London Fairs. By THOMAS FROST. Low-Life Deeps. By JAMES GREENWOOD.

Harry Fludyer at Cambridge. Jeff Briggs's Love Story. BRET HARTE. Twins of Table Mountain. BRET HARTE. Snow-bound at Eagle's. By BRET HARTE. A Day's Tour. By PERCY FITZGERALD. Esther's Glove. By R.E. FRANCILON, Sentenced! By SOMERVILLE GIENEY. The Professor's Wife. By L. GRAHAM. Mrs. Gainsborough's Diamonds. By JULIAN HAWTHORNE.

Iulian Hawthorne. Niagara Spray. By J. Hollingshead. A Romance of the Queen's Hounds. By CHARLES JAMES.

Garden that Paid Rent. Tom Jerrold. Cut by the Mess. By Arthur Keyser. Teress Itasca. By A. MacAlpine. Our Sensation Novel. J. H. McCarthy. Doom! By JUSTIN H. McCarthy. Doily. By JUSTIN H. McCarthy.

ARY. Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. 6d. per Volume.

Forensic Anecdotes. By JACOB LARWOOD, Theatrical Anecdotes. JACOB LARWOOD, Jeux d'Esprit. Edited by HENRY S. LEIGH, Witch Stories. By E. LYNN LINTON, Ourseives. By E. LYNN LINTON, Pastimes & Players, By R. MACGREGOR, New Republic. By W. H. MALLOCK, New Republic. By W. H. MALLOCK, Puck on Pegasus, By H. C. PENNELL. Pegasus Re-Saddled, By H. C. PENNELL, Puniana. By Hon, HUGH ROWLEY, More Puniana, By Hon, HUGH ROWLEY, The Philosophy of Handwriting, By Stream and Sea. By WM, SENIOR, Leaves from a Naturalist's Note-Book. By Dr. ANDREW WILSON.

Post 8vo, cloth limp, 2s. per Volume. Jesse's Scenes of Country Life. Leigh Hunt's Tale for a Chimney Corner. Mallory's Mort d'Arthur: Selections. Pascal's Provincial Letters. Rochefoucauid's Maxims & Reflections.

Crown 8vo, cloth extra, 3s. 6d. each.

Wilds of London. JAMES GREENWOOD, Tunis, Chev. HESSE-WARTEGG. 22 Illusis. Life and Adventures of a Cheap Jack. World Behind the Scenes, P. FitzGERALD, Tavern Anecdotes and Sayings. The Genial Showman, By E. P. HINGSTON Story of London Parks, Jacob LARWOOD, London Characters. By HENRY MAYHEW. Seven Generations of Executioners. Summer Cruising in the South Seas. By C. WARREN STODDARD. Illustrated,

POPULAR SHILLING BOOKS.

Lily Lass. JUSTIN H. MCCARTHY. Was She Good or Bad? By W. MINTO. Notes from the "News." By Jas. PAYN. Beyond the Gates. By L. S. PHELPS. Old Maid's Paradise. By E. S. PHELPS. Burglars in Paradise. By E. S. PHELPS. Jack the Fisherman. By E. S. PHELPS. Trooping with Crows. By C. L. PIRKIS. Bible Characters. By CHARLES READE. Rogues. By R. H. SHERARD. The Dagonet Reciter. By G. R. SIMS. Case of George Candlemas. G. R. SIMS. Case of George Candlemas. G. R. SIMS. Case of George Candlemas. G. R. SIMS. Case of Mystery. T. W. Spright. Father Damien. By R. L. STEVENSON, A Double Bond. By LINDA VILLARI. My Life with Stanley's Rear Guard. By HERBERT WARD.

HANDY NOVELS. Fcap. 8vo, cloth boards, 1s. 6d. each. The Old Maid's Sweetheart. A.ST. AUBYN | Taken from the Enemy. H. NEWBOLT. Modest Little Sara. ALAN ST. AUBYN. | A Lost Soul. By W. L. ALDEN. Seven Sleepers of Ephesus. M. E. COLERIDGE. | Dr. Palliser's Patient. GRANT ALLEN.

	-,,
MY LIBRARY. Printed on laid pape	r, post 8vo, half-Roxburghe, 2s. 6d. each.
Four Frenchwomen. By Austin Dosson.	Christie Johnstonc. By CHARLES READE.
Citation and Examination of William	With a Photogravure Frontispiece.
Shakspeare, By W. S. LANDOR.	Peg Woffington. By CHARLES READE.
Shakspeare. By W. S. LANDOR. The Journal of Maurice de Guerin.	The Dramatic Essays of Charles Lamb.
MIND DOOLDE INDDADU	
THE POCKET LIBRARY. Post 8vo,	printed on laid paper and hfbd., 2s. each.
The Essays of Elia. By CHARLES LAMB.	White's Natural History of Selborne.
Robinson Crusoe. Edited by John Major. With 37 Illusts. by George Cruikshank.	Gulliver's Travels, and The Tale of a
WITH 37 IIIUSTS. DY GEORGE CRUIKSHANK.	Tub. By Dean Swift.
Whims and Odditics. By THOMAS HOOD.	The Rivals, School for Scandal, and other
With 85 Illustrations.	Plays by RICHARD BRINSLEY SHERIDAN.
The Barber's Chair, and The Hedgehog	Anecdotes of the Clergy. J. LARWOOD. Thomson's Seasons. Illustrated.
Letters. By DougLAS JERROLD.	The Automat of the Breakfast Makie
Gastronomy. By BRILLAT-SAVARIN.	The Autocrat of the Breakfast-Table
The Epicurean, &c. By THOMAS MOORE. Leigh Hunt's Essays. Ed. E. OLLIER.	and The Professor at the Breakfast- Table. By OLIVER WENDELL HOLMES.
beign stuffe 5 besugst Dat bi Obbiest.	THORE DI OBITER TENDELL HOLMES.
THE PICCADI	LLY NOVELS.
LIBRARY EDITIONS OF NOVELS, many Illustr By F. M. ALLEN.	rated, crown svo, clotn extra, 38. Od. each.
Ey F. M. ALLEN.	The Red Sultan
Green as Grass. By GRANT ALLEN.	The Red Sultan. MORT. & FRANCES COLLINS.
Philistia. The Tents of Shem.	Tronemidaction Blocksmith Blockster
	Transmigration. Blacksmith&Scholar. From Midnight to Midnight.
Babylon. For Malmie's Sake. Strange Stories. The Devil's Die.	Villade Comedy Ven Dier We Felee
Beckoning Hand. This Mortal Coil.	Village Comcdy. You Play Me False.
Beckoning Hand. This Mortal Coil. In all Shades. The Great Taboo.	By WILKIE COLLINS.
Dumaresq's Daughter. Blood Royal.	Armadale. The Frozen Deep.
The Duchess of Powysland.	After Dark. The Two Destinies. No Name. Law and the Lady.
Ivan Greet's Masterpiece.	
By EDWIN L. ARNOLD.	Antonina. Basil. Haunted Hotel. Hide and Seek. The Fallen Leaves.
Phra the Phœnician.	The Dead Secret. Jezebel's Daughter.
The Constable of St. Nicholas.	Queen of Hearts. The Black Robe.
The Constable of St. Nicholas. By ALAN ST. AUBYN.	My Miscellanies. Heart and Science.
A Fellow of Trinity. The Junior Dean.	Woman in White. "I Say No."
The Master of St. Benedict's.	Woman in White. "I Say No." The Moonstone. Little Novels.
By Rev. S. BARING GOULD,	Man and Wife. The Evil Genius.
Red Spider. Eve.	Poor Miss Finch. The Legacy of Cain
Ky ROBERT BARR.	Miss on Mnc? A Roducia Life
In Steamer Chair From Whose Bourne By W. BESANT & J. RIUE.	New Magdalen, By DUTTON COOK. Paul Foster's Daughter.
By W. BESANT & J. RICE.	By DUTTON COOK.
My Little Girl. Gase of Mr. Lucraft. This Son of Yulcan. Golden Butterfly. Ten Years' Tenant.	Paul Foster's Daughter. By ED WARD H. COOPER.
Case of Mr.Lucraft. Monks of Thelema,	By EDWARD H. COOPER.
This Son of Yulcan. The Seamy Side.	Geonory Hamilton.
Golden Butterfly. Ten Years' Tenant.	By V. CECIL COTES.
Ready-Money Morthooy.	Two Girls on a Barge. By MATT CREPI.
With Harp and Grown. 'Twas in Trafalgar's Bay. The Chaplain of the Fleet. By WAL/TER BESANT.	By MATT ORAM.
Twas in Tratalgar's Bay.	Adventures of a Fair Rebel. By B. M. CROKER.
The Chaplain of the Fleet.	LEY IS. M. CISCHA LIES.
AN South and Conditions of Man	Diana Barrington. PrettyMissNeville. Proper Pride. A Bird of Passage.
All Sorts and Conditions of Men. The Captains' Room. Herr Paulus.	A FamilyLikeness. "To Let."
The Captains' Room. Herr Paulus.	By WILLIAM CYPLES.
All in a Garden Fair The Ivory Gate. The World Went Very Well Then.	Hearts of Gold.
For Faith and Freedom.	By ALPHONSE DAUDET.
For Faith and Freedom. Dorothy Forster. The Holy Rose.	The Evangelist: or, Port Salvation.
lincle lack. Armorel of Luon-	The Evangelist; or, Port Salvation. By ERASHUS DAWSON.
Children of Gibeon. Bell of St. Paul's. To Call Her Mine. the Tower.	The Fountain of Youth. By JAMES DE MILLE.
Bell of St. Paul's. St. Katherine's by	By JAMES DE MILLE.
To Call Her Mine. the Tower.	A Castle in Spain.
Yerbena Camellia Stephanotis. By ROBERT BUCHANAN.	By J. LEITH DERWENT.
By ROBERT BUCHANAN.	Our Lady of Tears. Circe's Lovers.
The Shadow of the Sword, Matt.	Our Lady of Tears. Circe's Lovers. By DICK DONOVAN.
A Child of Nature. Heir of Linne. The Martyrdom of Madeline.	Tracked to Doom.
The Martyrdom of Madeline.	Man from Manchester.
God and the Man. Love Me for Ever. Annan Water. Master of the Mine.	By A. CONAN DOYLE.
Love Me for Ever. Foxglove Manor.	The Firm of Girdlestone.
Annan Water. Master of the Mine.	By Mrs. ANNIE EDWARDES.
By HALL CAINE.	Archie Lovell.
The Shadow of a Crime.	By G. MANVILLE FENN.
A Son of Hagar. The Deemster.	The New Mistress. Witness to the Deed.

THE PICCADILLY (3/6) Novels-continued. By PERCY FITZGERALD. Fatal Zero. By R. E. FRANCILLON. Queen Cophetua. A Real Queen. One by One. King or Knave. Dog & his Shadow. Ropes of Sand. Fref. by Sir BARTLE FRERE. Pandurang Hari. ED. GARRETT.-The Capel Girls. By PAUL GAULOT. The Red Shirts. By CHARLES GIBBON. Robin Gray. The Golden Shaft. Of High Degree. Loying a Dream. The Flower of the Forest. By E. GL. The Lost Heiress. E. GLANVILLE. The Fossicker. A Fair Colonist. By E. J. GOCOMAN. The Fate of Herbert Wayne. By CECIL GRIFFITH. Corinthia Marazion. By SYDNEY GRUNBY. The Days of his Vanity. By THOMAS PLARDY Under the Greenwood Tree. By BRET MARTE. A Waif of the Plains. Sally Dows. A Ward of the Golden Gate toto A Sappho of Green Springs. Coionel Starbottle's Client. | A Protégée of Jack Hamlin's. Susy. By JULIAN HAWTHORNE. Garth. Dust. Eilice Quentin. Fortune's Fool. Sebastian Strome. | Beatrix Randolph. David Poindexter's Disappearance. The Spectre of the Camera. By Sir A. HELPS .- Ivan de Biron. By ISAAC HENDERSON. Agatha Page. By Mrs. HUNGERFORD. Lady Verner's Flight. By Mrs. ALFRED HUNT. The Leaden Casket. | Self-Condemned. That Other Person. | Mrs. Juliet. By R. ASHE KING. A Drawn Game. "The Wearing of the Green." By E. LYNN LINTON. Patricia Kemball. | Ione. Under which Lord? | Paston Carew. "My Love!" c Sowing the Wind? The Atonement of Leam Dundas. The World Well Lost. By HENRY W. LUCY. Gideon Fleyce. By JUSTIN MCCARTHY. A Fair Saxon. Donna Quixote. Linley Rochford. Maid of Athens, Camiola. Miss Misanthrope. | Camiola The Waterdale Neighbours. My Enemy's Daughter. Dear Lady Disdain. | The Dictator. The Comet of a Season. By GEORGE MACDONALD. Heather and Snow. By AGNES MACDONELL. Quaker Cousins. By BERTRAM MITFORD. The Gun-Runner. | The King's Assegai. The Luck of Gerard Ridgeley.

THE PICCADILLY (3/6) NOVELS-continued. By D. CHRISTIE MURRAY. Life's Atonement. Val Strange. Hearts. Joseph's Coat. Coals of Fire. A Model Father. Old Blazer's Hero. Time's Revenges. By the Gate of the Sea. A Bit of Human Nature. First Person Singular. | Cynic Fortune. The Way of the World. Bob Martin's Little Girl. By MURRAY & HERMAN. The Bishops' Bible. | Paul Jones's Alias. One Traveller Returns. By HUME NISBET. "Bail Up1" By GEORGES OHNET. A Weird Gift. By OUIDA. Held in Bondage. Two Little Wcoden Strathmore. Shoes. Chandos. In a Winter City. Under Two Flags. Ariadne. Idalia. Friendship. CecilCastiemaine's Moths. | Ruffino. Plpistrello. Gage. Tricotrin. | Puck. AVIIIage Commune Folle Farine. Bimbi. Wanda. Frescoes. Othmar. A Dog of Flanders. Pascarel. | Signa. In Maremma, Princess Naprax-Syrlin. Guilderoy. Santa Barbara. ine. By MARGARET A. PAUL. Lost Sir Massingberd. Less Black than We're Painted. A Confidential Agent. A Grape from a Thorn. In Peril and Privation. The Mystery of Mirbridge The Canon's Ward. Walter's Word. Holiday Tasks. By Proxy. For Cash Only. High Spirits. The Burnt Million. The Word and the Under One Roof. From Exile. Will. Glow-worm Tales. Sunny Stories. he Town. A Trying Patient. By E. C. PRICE. Talk of the Town. Valentina. The Foreigners. Mrs. Lancaster's Rival. By RICHARD PRYCE. Miss Maxwell's Affections. By CHARLES READE. It is Never Too Late to Mend. The Double Marriage. Love Me Little, Love Me Long. The Cioister and the Hearth. The Course of True Love. The Autobiography of a Thief. Put Yourself in his Place. Terrible Temptation. | The Jilt. Singleheart and Doubletace. Good Stories of Men and other Animals. Hard Cash. Wandering Heir. Peg Woffington. .. A Woman-Hater. A Simpleton. ChristieJohnstone. Griffith Gaunt. Readiana. Foul Play. A Perijous Secret. By Mrs. J. H. RIDDELL. The Prince of Wales's Garden Party.

Weird Stories.

THE PICCADILLY (3/6) Novels-continued.	THE PIOCADILLY (3/6) NOVELS-continued.
By AMELIE RIVES.	By IVAN TURGENIEFF, &c.
Barbara Dering.	Stories from Foreign Novelists.
By F. W. ROBINSON.	By ANTHONY TROLLOPE.
The Hands of Justice.	Frau Frohmann. Land-Leaguers.
By W. CLARK RUSSELL.	Marion Fay. The Way We Live Now.
Ocean Tragedy. My Shipmate Louise.	Mr. Scarborough's Family.
Alone on a Wide Wide Sea.	Ry C. C. FRASER-TYTLER.
By JOHN SAUNDERS.	Mistress Judith.
Guy Waterman. Two Dreamers.	Ry SAEAH TYTLER.
Bound to Wheel. Lion in the Path.	The Bride's Pass. Lady Bell.
By KATHARINE SAUNDERS.	Burled Diamonds." Blackhall Ghosts.
Margaret and Elizabeth.	By MARK TWAIN.
Gideon's Rock. Heart Salvage.	The American Claimant.
The High Mills. Sebastian.	The £1,000,000 Bank-note.
By HAWLEY SMART.	By ALLEN UPWARD.
Without Love or Licence.	The Queen Against Owen.
By R. A. STERNDALE.	By J. S. WINTER.
The Afghan Knife.	A Soldler's Children.
By BERTHA THOMAS.	By BIABGARE'T WYNMAN.
Proud Maisie. The Yiolln-player.	My Flirtations. By E. ZOLA.
Like Ships upon the Sea.	The Downfall. Dr. Pascal.
Anne Furness. Mabel's Progress.	The Dream. Money.

CHEAP EDITIONS OF POPULAR NOVELS.

Post Svo, illustrated boards, 2s. each.

By ARTEMUS WARD. Artemus Ward Complete. By EDMOND ABOUT. The Fellah. By HAMILTON AIDE. Carr of Carriyon. | Confidences. By MARY ALBERT. Brooke Finchley's Daughter. By Mrs. ALEXANDER. Maid, Wife, or Widow ? | Valerle' Fate. By GRANT ALLEN. The Devil's Die. Strange Stories. This Mortal Coil. Philistia. In all Shades. Babylon. The Beckoning Hand. | Blood Royal. For Maimie's Sake. | Tents of Shem. Great Taboo. | Dumaresq's Daughter. The Duchess of Powysland. By E. LESTER ARNOLD. Phra the Phœnician. By ALAN ST. AUBYN. A Fellow of Trinity. | The Junior Dean. The Master of St. Benedict's. By Rev. S. BARING GOULD. Red Spider. | Eve. By FRANK BARRETT. Fettered for Life. | Little Lady Linton. Between Life and Death. The Sin of Olga Zassoulich. Folly Morrison. Honest Davie. Lieut. Barnabas. A Prodigal's Progress. Found Guilty. | A Recoiling Vengeance. For Love and Honour. John Ford; and His Helpmate. By W. BESANT & J. RICE. This Son of Yulcan. | By Cella's Arbour. Monks of Thelema. My Little Girl. Case of Mr.Lucraft. The Seamy Side. Golden Butterfly. Ten Years' Tenant. Ready-Money Mortiboy. With Harp and Crown. 'Twas in Trafalgar's Bay. The Chaplain of the Fleet.

By WALTER BESANT. Dorothy Forster. Uncle Jack. Chlidren of Gibeon. | Herr Paulus. All Sorts and Conditions of Men. The Captains' Room. All in a Garden Fair. The World Went Very Well Then. For Faith and Freedom. To Call Her Mine. The Bell of St. Paul's. | The Holy Rose. Armorei of Lyonesse. | The Ivory Gate. St. Katherine's by the Tower. Verbena Camellia Stephanotis. BySHELSLEY BEAUCHAMP. Grantley Grange. By AMBROSE BIERCE. In the Midst of Life. By FREDERICK BOYLE. Camp Notes. | Savage Life. Chronicles of No-man's Land. By BRET HARTE. Californian Stories. | Gabriel Conroy. An Heiress of Red Dog. Fllp. The Luck of Roaring Camp. | Maruja. A Phyllis of the Sierras. By HAROLD BRYDGES. Uncle Sam at Home. By ROBERT BUCHANAN. The Shadow of the | The Martyrdom of Sword. Madeline. Child of Nature. Annan Water. God and the Man. The New Abelard. Love Me for Ever. Matt. Foxglove Manor. The Heir of Linne. The Master of the Mine. By HALL CAINE. The Shadow of a Crime. The Deemster. A Son of Hagar. By Commander CAMERON. The Cruise of the "Black Prince." By Mrs. LOVETT CAMERON.

Deceivers Ever. | Juliet's Guardian.

Two-Shilling Novels-continued.	Two-Shilling Novels-continued.
By AUSTIN CLARE.	By PERCY FITZGERALD.
For the Love of a Lass.	
By Mrs. ARCHER CLIVE.	Bella Donna. Polly. Never Forgotten. Fatal Zere.
Paul Ferroll.	Never Forgotten. Fatal Zere. The Second Mrs. Tillotson.
Why Paul Ferroll Killed his Wife.	Savanty five Procks Street
By MACLAREN COBBAN.	Seventy-five Brooke Street. The Lady of Brantome.
The Cure of Souls.	The Lady of Brantome.
By C. ALLSTON COLLINS.	By P. FITZGERALD and others
The Des Cinisten	Strange Secrets.
The Bar Sinister.	ALBANY DE FONBLANQUE
MORT. & FRANCES COLLINS.	Filthy Lucre.
Sweet Anne Page. Transmigration. From Midnight to Midnight.	By R. E. FRANCILLON.
From Midnight to Midnight.	Olympia. Queen Cophetua.
Fight with Fortune. Yillage Comedy. Sweet and Twenty. You Play mc False.	One by One. King or Knave?
Sweet and Twenty. You Play mc False.	One by One. A Real Queen. King or Knave? Romances of Law
Blacksmith and Scholar. Frances.	By HAROLD FREDERICK.
Blacksmith and Scholar. Frances. By WILKIE COLLINS.	Dy HABUAR PISEDERUK
Armadale. My Miscellanies.	Seth's Brother's Wife. Lawton Girl
After Dark. Woman in White.	Pref. by Sir BARTLE FRERE
No Name. The Moonstone.	Pandurang Hari.
No Maine. Desil Man and Wife	HAIN FRISWELL,-One of Two
Antonina. Basil. Man and Wife. Hide and Seek. Poor Miss Flnch.	By EDWARD GARRETT.
Hide and Seek. Poor Miss Flnch.	The Capel Girls.
The Dead Secret. The Fallen Leaves.	The Caper Ciris.
Oueen of Hearts. Jezebel's Daughter	By GILBERT GAUL.
Missor Mrs? The Black Robe.	A Strange Manuscript.
New Magdalen. Heart and Science.	By CHARLES GIBBON.
The Frozen Deep. "I Say No."	Robin Gray. In Honour Bound
The Frozen Deep. "I Say No." Law and the Lady. The Evil Genius.	Fancy Free. Flower of Forest.
The Two Destinies. Little Novels.	For Lack of Gold. Braes of Yarrow.
Haunted Hotel. Legacy of Cain.	What will the The Golden Shaft
	World Say? Of High Degree.
A Rogue's Life. Biind Love. By M. J. COLQUIIOUN.	In Love and War. Mead and Stream
	For the King. Loving a Dream.
Every Inch a Soldier.	For the King. In Pastures Green. A Hard Knot.
By DUTTON COOK.	Queen of Meadow. Heart's Delight.
Leo. Paul Foster's Daughter.	
By C. EGBERT CRADDOCK.	A Heart's Problem. Blood-Money.
Prophet of the Great Smoky Mountains.	The Dead Heart.
By MATT CRIM.	By WILLIAM GILBERT.
Adventures of a Fair Rebel.	Dr. Austin's Guests. James Duke.
By B. M. CROKER.	The Wizard of the Mountain.
Protty Mice Neville Rind of Decode	By ERNEST GLANVILLE.
Diana Bamindton Duonan Drida	The Lost Heiress. The Fossicker.
Pretty Miss Neville. Bird of Passage. Dlana Barrington. Proper Pridc. "To Let." A Family Likeness.	B. KENNERY CHERNELLE
"To Let." A Family Likeness. By W. CYPLES.—Hearts of Gold. By ALPHONSE DAUDET.	By HENRY GREVILLE.
By W. CLEMESHearts of Gold.	A Noble Woman. Nikanor.
By ALPHONSE DAUDET.	By CECIL GRIFFITH.
The Evangelist; or, Port Salvation. By ERASMUS DAWSON.	Corinthia Marazion.
By EKASMUS DAWSON.	By JOHN HABBERTON.
The Fountain of Youth.	Brueton's Bayou. Country Luck. By ANDREW HALLIDAY.
The Fountain of Youth. By JAMES DE MILLE.	By ANDREW HALLIDAY.
A Castle in Spain.	Every-Day Papers.
By J. LEITH DERWENT.	By Lady DUFFUS HARDY. Paul Wynter's Sacrifice.
Our Lady of Tears. Circe's Lovers.	Paul Wynter's Sacrifice.
By CHARLES DICKENS.	By THOMAS HARDY.
Sketches by Boz. Oliver Twist.	Under the Greenwood Tree.
Pickwick Papers, Nicholas Nickleby,	By J. BERWICK HARWOOD
Sketches by Boz. Pickwick Papers. By DICK DONOVAN.	The Tenth Earl.
The Man-Hunter. Caught at Last!	By JULIAN HAWTHORNE.
Tracked and Taken. Wanted !	
Whe Deigened Hotty Duncen?	Garth. Sebastian Strome
Who Poisoned Hetty Duncan?	Ellice Quentin. Dust.
The Man from Manchester.	Fortune's Fool. Beatrix Randolph
A Detective's Triumphs. In the Grip of the Law.	Miss Cadogna. Love-or a Name.
In the Grip of the Law.	David Poindexter's Disappearance.
From Information Received.	The Spectre of the Camera.
Tracked to Doom. Link by Link.	By Sir ARTHUR MELPS.
Sugnicion Aroused	Iyan de Biron.
By Mrs. ANNIE EDWARDES.	Ivan de Biron. By HENRY HERMAN.
A Point of Honour. Archie Lovell.	A Leading Lady.
By M. BETHAM-EDWARDS.	By HEADON HILL.
Felicia. Kitty.	Zambra the Detective.
By EDW. EGGLESTONRoxy.	Zambra the Detective. By JOHN HILLTreason-Felony
By G. MANVILLE FENN.	Ry Mrs. CASHEF, HOFY
The New Mistress.	By Mrs. CASHEL HOEY. The Lover's Creed.

Two-SHILLING NOVELS-continued. Two-Shilling Novels-continued. By Mrs. GEORGE HOOPER. By D. CHRISTIE MURRAY. The House of Raby. By TIGHE HOPKINS. A Model Father. Old Blazer's Hero. Joseph's Coat. Hearts. Coals of Fire. Way of the World. Twixt Love and Duty. By Mrs. HUNGERFORD. Val Strange. Cynic Fortune. A Maiden all Forlorn. A Life's Atonement. By the Gate of the Sea. A Mental Struggle. In Durance Vile. A Bit of Human Nature. A Modern Circe. Maryel. By Mrs. ALFRED HUNT. First Person Singular. Thornicroft's Model. | Self-Condemned. That Other Person. | Leaden Casket. Bob Martin's Little Girl. BY HENRY MURRAY." By JEAN INGELOW. A Game of Bluff. | A Song of Sixpence. Fated to be Free. W.M. JAMESON.-My Dead Self. By HUME NISBET. "Ball Up!" | Dr. Bernard St. Vincent. By HARRIETT JAY. Dark Colleen. | Queen of Connaught. By MARK KERSHAW. By ALICE O'HANLON | Chance? or Fate? The Unforeseen. By GEORGES OHNET. Colonial Facts and Fictions. By R. ASHE KING. Dr. Rameau. | Last Love. | Weird Gift. A Drawn Game. | Passion's Slave. By Mrs. OLIPHANT. "The Wearing of the Green." | The Primrose Path. Whiteladies. Bell Barry. The Greatest Heiress in England. By JOHN LEVS.-The Lindsays. By Mrs. ROBERT O'REILLY. By E. LYNN LINTON. Patricia Kembali. | Paston Carew. World Well Lost. | "My Lova!" Phœbe's Fortunes. By OUIDA. World Well Lost. Held in Bondage. Two Little Wooden Under which Lord? | lone. Strathmore. Shoes. The Atonement of Leam Dundas. With a Silken Thread. Friendship. Chandos. | Idalia. Under Two Flags. Moths. Bimbi. The Rebel of the Family. CecilCastlemaine's Pipistrello. [mune. Sowing the Wind. Village Com-Gage. By HENRY W. LUCY. Wanda. | Othmar. Tricotrin. Gideon Fleyce. By JUSTIN McCARTHY. A Fair Saxon. | Donna Quixote | Puck. Folle Farine. A Dog of Flanders. Frescoes. In Maremma. Guilderoy. | Donna Ouixote. Pascarel. Linley Rochford. Maid of Athens. Tine. Ruffino. | Syrlin. Signa. Santa Barbara. Miss Misanthrope. | Camiola. Princess Naprax-Dear Lady Disdain. The Waterdale Neighbours. In a Winter City. Oulda's Wisdom. Ariadne. Wit, and Pathos. My Enemy's Daughter. The Comet of a Season. By HUGH MACCOLL. MARGARET AGNES PAUL. Gentle and Simple. By JAMES PAYN. Mr. Stranger's Sealed Packet. Bentinck's Tutor. By Proxy. By AGNES MACDONELL. Murphy's Master. Under One Roof. Quaker Cousins. A County Family. High Spirits. S. MACQUOID. At Her Mercy. Cecil's Tryst. Carlyon's Year. The Evil Eye. | Lost Rose. By W. H. MALLOCK. The New Republic. From Exile. For Cash Only. Clyffards of Clyffe. Foster Brothers. Kit. A Romance of the Nineteenth Century. Found Dead. The Canon's Ward By FLORENCE MARRYAT. Best of Husbands. Talk of the Town. Open! Sesame! | Fighting the Air. A Harvest of Wild Oats. Holiday Tasks. A Perfect Treasure. Walter's Word. Halves. Fallen Fortunes. Written in Fire. What He Cost Her. By J. MASTERMAN. Halfa-dozen Daughters. By BRANDER MATTHEWS. A Secret of the Sea. Humorous Storles. Confidential Agent. Glow-worm Tales. £200 Reward. The Burnt Million. Marine Residence. Mirk Abbey. Sunny Stories. By LEONARD MERRICK. Lost Sir Massingberd. The Man who was Good. By JEAN MIDDLEMASS. A Woman's Vengeance. The Family Scapegrace. Gwendoline's Harvest. Touch and Go. | Mr. Dorillion. By Mrs. MOLESWORTH. Hathercourt Rectory. By J. E. MUDDOCK. Stories Weird and Wonderful. Like Father, Like Son. Married Beneath Him. Not Wooed, but Won. Less Black than We're Painted. Some Private Views. The Dead Man's Secret. A Grape from a Thorn. The Mystery of Mirbridge. The Word and the Will. From the Bosom of the Deep. By MURRAY and HERMAN. One Traveller Returns. Paul Jones's Allas. | The Bishops' Bible. A Prince of the Blood.

** ...*

Two-Shilling Novels-continued. By C. L. PIRKIS. Lady Lovelace. By EDGAR A. POE. The Mystery of Marle Roget. By Mrs. CAMPBELL, PRAED. The Romance of a Station. The Soul of Countess Adrian. " By E. C. PRICE. The Foreigners. Valentina. Mrs. Lancaster's Rival. | Gerald. By RICHARD PRYCE. Miss Maxwell's Affections. By CHARLES READE. It is Never Too Late to Mend. Christie Johnstone. | Double Marriage. Put Yourself in His Place. Love Me Little, Love Me Long. The Cloister and the Hearth. The Course of True Love. | The Jilt. Autobiography of a Thief. A Terrible Temptation. | Foul Pl Foul Play. The Wandering Heir. | Hard Cash. Singleheart and Doubleface. Good Stories of Men and other Animals. Peg Woffington. Griffith Gaunt. A Simplcton. A shina. Readiana. A Perilous Secret. | A Woman-Hater. By Mrs. J. H. RIDDELL, | Fairy Water. Weird Stories. Her Mother's Darling. Prince of Wales's Garden Party. The Uninhabited House. The Mystery in Palace Gardens. The Nun's Curse. | Idle Tales. By AMELIE RIVES. Barbara Dering. By F. W. ROBINSON. Women are Strange. The Hands of Justice. By JAMES RUNCIMAN. Skippers and Shellbacks. Grace Balmaign's Sweetheart. Schools and Scholars. By W. CLARK RUSSELL. Round the Galley Fire. On the Fo'k'sle Head. In the Middle Watch. A Yoyage to the Cape. A Book for the Hammock. The Mystery of the "Ocean Star." The Romance of Jenny Harlowe. An Ocean Tragedy. My Shipmate Louise. Aione on a Wide Wide Sea. GEORGE AUGUSTUS SALA. Gaslight and Daylight. By JOHN SAUNDERS. Guy Waterman. | Two Dreamers. The Lion in the Path. By KATHARINE SAUNDERS, Joan Merryweather. | Heart Salvage. The High Mills. | Sebastian. Margaret and Elizabeth. By GEORGE R. SIMS. Rogues and Vagabonds. The Ring o' Belis. Mary Jane's Memoirs. Mary Jane's Memoirs. Tales of To-day. | Dramas of Life. Tinkletop's Crime. Zeph. | My Two Wives.

Two-Shilling Novels-continued. By ARTHUR SKETCHILEY. A Match in the Dark. By HAWLEY SMART. Without Love or Licence. By T. W. SPEIGHT. The Mysterles of Heron Dyke. The Golden Hoop. | By Devious Ways. Hoodwinked, &c. | Back to Life. The Loudwater Tragedy. Burgo's Romance. By R. A. STERNDALE. The Afghan Knife. By R. LOUIS STEVENSON. New Arabian Nights. | Prince Otto. BY BERTHA THOMAS. Gressida. Proud Maisle. Violin-player. By WALTER THORNBURY. Tales for Marines. Old Stories Re-told. T. ADOLPHUS TROLLOPE. Diamond Cut Diamond. By F. ELEANOR TROLLOPE. Like Ships upon the Sea. nne Furness. | Mabel's Progress. By ANTHONY TROLLOPE. Anne Furness. Kept in the Dark. John Caldigate. Frau Frohmann. Marion Fay. Way We Live Now, Land-Leaguers. The American Senator. Mr. Scarborough's Family. The Golden Lion of Granpere. By J. T. TROWBRIDGE. Farnell's Folly. By IVAN 'FURGENIEFF, &c. Stories from Foreign Novelists. By MARK TWAIN. A Pleasure Trip on the Continent. The Gilded Age. | Huckleberry Finn. Mark Twain's Sketches. Tom Sawyer. A Tramp Abroad. The Stolen White Elephant. Life on the Mississippi. The Prince and the Pauper. A Yankee at the Court of King Arthur. By C. C. FRASER-TYTLER. **Mistress** Judith. By SARAH TYTLER. The Bride's Pass. | Noblesse Oblige. Burled Diamonds. Saint Mungo's City. Lady Bell. Blackhail Ghosts. Lady Bell. Blackf What She Came Through. Beauty and the Beast. Citoyenne Jaqueline. WATSON and By AARON WATSON and LILLIAS WASSERMANN. The Marquis of Carabas. By WILLIAM WESTALL. Trust-Money. By Mrs. F. H. WILLIAMSON. A Child Widow. By J. S. WINTER. Cavalry Life. | Regimental Legends. By II. F. WOOD. The Passenger from Scotland Yard. The Englishman of the Rue Cain. By Lady WOOD.-Sabina. CELIA PARKER WOOLLEY. Rachel Armstrong; or, Love & Theology By EDMUND YATES. The Forlorn Hope. | Land at Last.

OGDEN, SMALE AND CO, LIMITED, PRINTERS, GREAT SAFFRON HILL, E.C.

Castaway.







